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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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TO ALL SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors”) (the “Board”) of
Nan Nan Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”), | present
to you the audited consolidated final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2018 (the “Year”).

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$182,445,000 (2017: approximately HK$73,024,000) and
profit of approximately HK$36,678,000 (2017: approximately
HK$48,267,000) respectively. The Board does not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the Year (2017: Nil).

Profit of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$36,678,000
(2017: approximately HK$48,267,000), representing a decrease in
profit of approximately HK$11,589,000 as compared with last year.
Although there was a significant increase in the gross profit from
operation, the decrease in profit was mainly due to a decrease in
positive change in fair value of convertible bond by approximately
HK$41,660,000 as compared with a net gain on change in fair
value and loss arising from modification of convertible bond of
approximately HK$56,034,000 in last year, and the recognition of
an impairment losses on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$12,618,000 and approximately
HK$3,511,000 (2017: Nil and Nil) respectively and the turnaround
from exchange loss to gain of approximately HK$20,356,000 as
compared with last year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group continued to focus on coal resources
mining business.

During the Year, the growth of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) economy continued to slow down. The demand for coals
from the market has been decreasing gradually in recent years as a
result of fewer large scale industrial and infrastructure projects and
the promotion of the use of clean energy by the PRC government,
which also had negative impacts on the coal price, exerting high
pressure to the Group’s operation. However, the management of
the Group has adjusted short-term operation strategy and modified
the production plan through understanding the local government’s
policies. The Group will keep strict control over the costs and
expenses to maintain a strong financial position as a whole.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT EEi#f &

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan* and
the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#*

Pursuant to the instructions from the National Development
and Reform Commission of the PRC, the Department
of Land and Resources of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous
Region (the “Xinjiang Land Department”) had to plan for a
management restructuring of seven different coal mines
(including the Zexu Open Pit Coal Mine (the “Zexu Mine”)) in
the Xiheishan Mining Area (the “Optimization and Upgrading
Plan”), consolidating some smaller mines together so as to
increase the size efficiency (for details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 11 November 2011). After
being informed of this Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the
Board has requested our management in the Xinjiang Uyger
Autonomous Region of China (“Xinjiang”) to conduct frequent
meetings and negotiations with the Xinjiang Land Department
and other relevant government authorities in order to protect
the Company’s interest in relation to the exploration permit of
the Zexu Mine (the “Exploration Permit”).

According to the letter dated 13 June 2012 issued by the
Administrative Bureau of Coal Industry of Changji Prefecture
informing the updated status of the Optimization and
Upgrading Plan, the following proposals (the “Updated
Optimization and Upgrading Plan”) in relation to the
Company’s Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine (the “Kaiyuan Mine”)
and Zexu Mine have been submitted to the working group
head office for coal industry structural upgrade work of
Xinjiang for consideration and approval:

1. The Company’s Kaiyuan Mine would be restructured
and upgraded, and the Exploration Permit granted to
the Company would be terminated; and

2. The mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine, where the
Company is now conducting mining activities, was
proposed to be increased from 1.1596 square
kilometers to 4.12 square kilometers (“Kaiyuan
Extended Area”), with the estimated coal resources of
approximately 131.18 million tonnes.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT EEi#R&

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 15
August 2017, as requested by the Department of Land and
Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (8§ &
EEARME+EIRBE) (the “Changji Land Department”), with
the aim of expediting the resources restructuring work and
accelerating and completing the process to fix the mining
area for each mining right owner inside Zhundong Meitian
Xiheishan Coal Mining Area* (& M7 E LK RIERE),
where the Zexu Mine and Kaiyuan Mine of the Company are
located, Qitai County Zexu Trading Company Limited* (&
AEZEMEARETAR) (“Zexu Company”) and Mulei
County Kai Yuan Coal Company Limited* (/K& &g R
RBMREFAT) (“Kaiyuan Company”), the subsidiaries of
the Company, respectively entered into the following four
undisputed agreements (the “Four Undisputed Agreements”)
with the relevant parties to dispose of Zexu Mine and acquire
Kaiyuan Extended Area:

1. First Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Zexu Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “First Undisputed
Agreement”) with Xinjiang Jinneng Mining Company
Limited (“Jinneng Company”), pursuant to which
Jinneng Company should occupy an area of 0.297
km2 within the Zexu Mine and could apply to the
Xinjiang Land Department to fix such mining area.
Jinneng Company should, within 10 working days
upon signing the agreement, compensate Zexu
Company with an amount of RMB505,197, which was
calculated by multiplying the area of 0.297 km2 with
the agreed compensation amount of RMB486,000
per km?2 and the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5.
The above compensation standard was determined
by the Changji Land Department.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT EEi#f &

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A) Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

2.

Second Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Zexu Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Second Undisputed
Agreement”) with Xinjiang Beishan Mining Company
Limited (“Beishan Company”), pursuant to which
Beishan Company should occupy an area of 2.582
km2 within the Zexu Mine and could apply to the
Xinjiang Land Department to fix such mining area.
Beishan Company should, within 10 working days
upon signing the agreement, compensate Zexu
Company with an amount of RMB4,391,982, which
was calculated by multiplying the area of 2.582
km2 with the agreed compensation amount of
RMB486,000 per km2 and the agreed compensation
multiples of 3.5. The above compensation standard
was determined by the Changji Land Department.

Third Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Kaiyuan Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Third Undisputed
Agreement”) with Jinneng Company, pursuant to
which Kaiyuan Company should occupy an area of
1.292 km? within the exploration area of the mine
of Jinneng Company (the “First Extended Area”)
and could apply to the Xinjiang Land Department
to fix such mining area. Kaiyuan Company should,
within 10 working days upon signing the agreement,
compensate Jinneng Company with an amount
of RMB2,197,692, which was calculated by
multiplying the area of 1.292 kmz2 with the agreed
compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km2 and
the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the
Changji Land Department.

The First Extended Area to be occupied by Kaiyuan
Company from Jinneng Company is located next
to the Kaiyuan Mine currently operated by Kaiyuan
Company.

RO (R)
BILARS R RELARERS
R ZER ()

ENEFHWE
RZZE—tFNA+HAB
EEATEFEILILEESR
RARI(TdEIL AR EETT
—hEFEBE(TE-M
mEZEWE]) - Bt At
ARG B TR A A
2582F F REMEHE - K&A]
MFERNLTERERZSTE
ZEEEE - bR RBR
WEEFETEIERR
MEZBARZNHEERAR
#4,391,9827T ° @ ERZ
LATEI#82.582F 75 2 BB TR LA
HBEEETEIRAEARE
486,000 7T N 13 7% 8 B 15 &K
35FTEBE - Fui@EEeE
THETRLERRATE -

B REFHBE

R-_ZE—+FNA+HB
RAFIEERERAIRE] T
—hEFEHE(TE=HE
FEpE]) B IURA
R A& e D Al IR IRE
HEANEE1202F T AR
MEE([E—EREE]) -
EaRsERtERERD
BEZERHBE - JRERQR]
BRI EEET R T EIER
A AL R RS M ER
ANE#2197,6927C ° ZfH(E
FORUATEE1.292F 5 A B
i EEETSTERRAEA
R #486,0007T K i E R
HBL5FTEBH - FilfER
ETHRETHLTERBRT -

LR BRI & BE R BE A
5 — 1B A %6 B J5 A R LR
NAERILEE RIS
T

Annual Report 2018 £



8

<

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT EEi#R&

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(A) Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

4.

Fourth Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Kaiyuan Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Fourth Undisputed
Agreement”) with Beishan Company, pursuant to
which Kaiyuan Company should occupy an area
of 0.016 km? within the mining area of the mine of
Beishan Company (the “Second Extended Area”)
and could apply to the Xinjiang Land Department
to fix such mining area. Kaiyuan Company should,
within 10 working days upon signing the agreement,
compensate Beishan Company with an amount of
RMB27,216, which was calculated by multiplying
the area of 0.016 km? with the agreed compensation
amount of RMB486,000 per km2 and the agreed
compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the
Changji Land Department.

The Second Extended Area to be occupied by
Kaiyuan Company from Beishan Company is located
next to the Kaiyuan Mine currently operated by
Kaiyuan Company.

The total area of 2.879 kmz2 of Zexu Mine being occupied
by Jinneng Company and Beishan Company under the
First Undisputed Agreement and the Second Undisputed
Agreement respectively represent the whole area of the Zexu
Mine. Since the said two agreements had been completed,
the Exploration Permit became invalid. Since the Zexu
Mine has not commenced mining, it has not generated any
revenue for the Group in the past years.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT EEi#f &

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

So far as the Company is aware, the First Extended Area
and the Second Extended Area being occupied by Kaiyuan
Company under the Third Undisputed Agreement and Fourth
Undisputed Agreement respectively have not yet commenced
mining. After having completed such agreements, the
Company was required to go through official procedures with
the relevant land and resources departments to obtain the
exploration right and then the mining right in respect of these
extended areas. When the related exploration right or mining
right is obtained, the Company will appoint professional
parties to evaluate possible coal reserves and perform
valuation on the First Extended Area and Second Extended
Area. For accounting purposes, these extended area were
booked as “Non-refundable deposits” under non-current
assets with value of approximately RMB2,099,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,604,000) in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position, which, if appropriate, would
be transferred to the intangible assets after conclusion is
reached with the government departments. Upon obtaining
the exploration right or mining right, the Company will
discuss again with professional parties (including its valuer
and auditor) regarding the possible coal reserves, valuation
and accounting treatment of the First Extended Area and
Second Extended Area. The Company has not received any
update from the relevant government departments since the
completion of the Four Undisputed Agreements.

According to the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan, the mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine was proposed
to be increased from 1.1596 kmz2 to 4.12 km2. For the First
Extended Area and the Second Extended Area, since they
were originally owned by Jinneng Company and Beishan
Company respectively, the Third Undisputed Agreement
and the Fourth Undisputed Agreement were required to
be signed respectively for transfer of such area and as one
of the important procedures for obtaining the exploration
right and then the mining right. Upon completion of the
Third Undisputed Agreement and Fourth Undisputed
Agreement, the area of the Kaiyuan Mine will only increase
to approximately 2.4676 kmz2. Concerning the outstanding
proposed increased area of approximately 1.6524 km? (the
“Outstanding Mining Area”), so far as the Company is aware,
such area is located next to the Kaiyuan Mine and is currently
owned by the government. To obtain the exploration right
and then the mining right of such area, the Company is still
required to go through official procedures with the relevant
land and resources departments.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT EEi#R&

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

By a letter dated 6 February 2018 from the Zhundong
Economic and Technological Development Zone Division
of the Ministry of Land and Resources of Changji Hui
Autonomous Prefecture* (EF EEBEAMNE L ERBER
BERATFIE R 9 /®) (the “Zhundong Division of the Ministry
of Land and Resources”), as part of the application, the
Zhundong Division of the Ministry of Land and Resources
required Kaiyuan Company to sign a deed of undertaking (the
“Deed of Undertaking”).

Since the Outstanding Mining Area is a national resource
of the PRC government, the Deed of Undertaking requires
Kaiyuan Company to undertake to (1) apply for a bid
invitation, auction and listing (the “Bid, Auction and Listing”)
for exploration right of the Outstanding Mining Area and to
grant state-owned enterprises within the Zhundong Economic
and Technological Development Zone* (/5 48 78 1 fi7 5 2%
[&®) (the “State-Owned Enterprises”) a priority to participate
in the Bid, Auction and Listing (the “Priority”); and (2) grant
the State-Owned Enterprises who obtain exploration right in
the Outstanding Mining Area a right to invest in the mining of
the Outstanding Mining Area (the “Right to Invest”). As at the
date of the announcement on 28 March 2018, no concrete
terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest have been
provided by the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of Land
and Resources. Detailed terms and conditions of the possible
business cooperation with the State-Owned Enterprises
in the Outstanding Mining Area will be subject to further
development on the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan and government policy.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT EEi#f &

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

Upon receiving the Deed of Undertaking, the Company
proactively contacted the Zhundong Division of the Ministry
of Land and Resources in order to understand or obtain
the concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest
as stated in the Deed of Undertaking. However, after a few
weeks of contact and communication, with the intervening
Chinese New Year holiday from 13 February 2018 to 8 March
2018 in Xinjiang, the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of
Land and Resources confirmed that it was not able to provide
any concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest.
In light of these circumstances, the Company sought legal
opinion from a PRC lawyer in Xinjiang. According to the PRC
legal opinion obtained by the Company:

1. three out of the four companies with mines in the
Xiheishan Mining Area had executed the Deed of
Undertaking;

2. if Kaiyuan Company did not execute the Deed of

Undertaking, the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of
Land and Resources will cease to process Kaiyuan
Company’s application for exploration right and
mining right in the Kaiyuan Extended Area; and

3. no concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to
Invest had been provided by the Zhundong Division of
the Ministry of Land and Resources.

To further facilitate the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan and to enable Kaiyuan Company to continue to
apply for exploration right and mining right in the Kaiyuan
Extended Area, Kaiyuan Company had executed the Deed of
Undertaking within 7 days of the date of the announcement
on 28 March 2018. The Priority and the Right to Invest may or
may not be exercised by the State-Owned Enterprises. The
Board considers that any possible business cooperation with
the State-Owned Enterprises in the Outstanding Mining Area
is to comply with the execution of the Updated Optimization
and Upgrading Plan. In the event that the Right to Invest is
exercised by the State-Owned Enterprises, the Company will
negotiate for fair and reasonable terms taking into account
the interests of the Company and shareholders as a whole.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

A)

##

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

The management of Kaiyuan Company has been
communicating and negotiating with the Zhundong Division
of the Ministry of Land and Resources in order to protect the
Company’s best interest in the Outstanding Mining Area.

The application for exploration right and mining right of the
Outstanding Mining Area is irrelevant to the renewal of the
mining right in the Kaiyuan Mine (the “Mining Right”) as stated
in the announcement of the Company dated 27 December
2017.

“Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Management Restructuring Plan” in the announcement of the Company
dated 11 November 2011 and in the announcements, notices, circulars,

interim reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.

“Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Updated Restructuring Proposals” in the announcement of the Company
dated 15 June 2012 and in the announcements, notices, circulars, interim

reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(B) Suspension of Production and Production Resumption at
Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station
As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 25
September 2017, Kaiyuan Company received notices
from the relevant government departments requesting
for suspension of the production at Kaiyuan Mine and
demolishment of gas station therein.

1. Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine

At the night of 19 September 2017, Kaiyuan Company
received a notice dated 16 September 2017 from the
Environmental Protection Bureau of Xinjiang Zhundong
Economy and Technology Development Area* (#7558
HAHER TR R IR IEIRE /D) and a notice dated 19
September 2017 from the Environmental Protection
Committee of Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and
Technology Development Area* (3758 /f 5 A& B R 1T 5
BRIBIBIREZ B E), requesting Kaiyuan Company
to suspend production at its Kaiyuan Mine since
Kaiyuan Company had yet to implement the coal mine
environmental comprehensive remediation proposal
in accordance with the requirements of, among other
things, the “Implementation Opinion on Environmental
Protection Specific Remediation in Zhundong
Development Area* (R HAZRIRIZERESERAE
mER).

2. Production Resumption at Kaiyuan Mine
As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 26
October 2017, Kaiyuan Company received notices
from the relevant government departments to resume
the production at Kaiyuan Mine.

At the night of 23 October 2017, Kaiyuan Company
received a notice (the “Notice”) dated 23 October
2017 from the Party and Government Office of
Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and Technology
Development Area* (78 f 58 A4S 1 it 5 3% (2 E I
#ANE) requesting the relevant enterprises in the
development area, including Kaiyuan Company,
to thoroughly implement the requirements of the
“Emergency notice to better implement the work to
safeguard supply of coal* (BERMSITIRIE L IR (L fE
TEE @A)’ (the “Emergency Notice”) issued
by the Office of the People’s Government of Changji
Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (5 BIEEAMAR
BRI A =E). According to the Emergency Notice,
several coal mines, including the Kaiyuan Mine, were
requested to conduct coal production and at the
same time implement the environmental protection
remedial works.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) XEOE(E)

(B)  Suspension of Production and Production Resumption (B)  SLIREE Z 15 E R 8 E L RIFRR INiM
at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station 5 (%)
(continued)

14

2, Production Resumption at Kaiyuan Mine SRR 2 8 (%)
(continued)
Upon discussion with the relevant government SRy SR B R S
departments, Kaiyuan Company was confirmed that SRR B EMER - URKE
the Kaiyuan Mine could resume normal production AR R BT IR REE
while fulfilling the requirements of conducting the HTHEERFE - RELE
environmental protection remedial works. BHE °
The Kaiyuan Mine had resumed production according SR AR T B AR IR 5% 48 AN [ Rk
to the Notice and the Emergency Notice. Although RSBANMEEE - RS
the production at the Kaiyuan Mine was suspended REBEEL—EA - BH
for around one month, it did not create material WisEPEIRARNES
financial impact on the Group since Kaiyuan Company HEHARTSE  HALFE
continued to sell its inventory of slack coal during the W8 A H AR E S RE K
production suspension period. So far as the Company BRE - BARBIMRA -
is aware, Kaiyuan Company has not received any SR A BR B U B EE
claims arising from non-supply of coal during the [ K BE Hk & B 5% T P 1 3R A9
production suspension period. Meanwhile, Kaiyuan EMRE - EHHE - Sl
Company will cooperate with the relevant government RN A AR R T AP &
departments to complete the requested environmental 15 AT PT 2 REVERFR
protection remedial works. EERTE-

3. Demolishment of Gas Station 15 BR i 25

On 21 September 2017, Kaiyuan Company received
an “Administrative Enforcement Document of
Production Safety* (&4 E/THR#AXE)” dated
21 September 2017 from the Production Safety
Supervision and Administration Bureau* (&2 4
EEEEIER) of the Administration Committee
of Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and Technology
Development Area* (¥ RAERMMAEREZ
@) (the “Document”), alleging that there were illegal
storage and use of diesel at the Kaiyuan Mine and the
gas station constructed therein was not in compliance
with the “Regulations on Design and Construction
of Gas Station* (Jjh kRt E2HE TR E)". Kaiyuan
Company was requested to cease usage of the gas
station immediately and demolish the gas station
before 6 October 2017.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(B)

(C)

Suspension of Production and Production Resumption

at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station

(continued)

3. Demolishment of Gas Station (continued)
The gas station at the Kaiyuan Mine was constructed
long time ago to supply diesel to the facilities
and transportation vehicles at the Kaiyuan Mine.
Demolishment of the gas station would not affect
the operation of the Kaiyuan Mine seriously. Upon
receipt of the Document, the management of
Kaiyuan Company had negotiated with the relevant
government departments, which on 22 September
2017, verbally allowed Kaiyuan Company to use up
all the diesel remained in the gas station first and then
demolish such station thereafter. The management of
Kaiyuan Company looked for other effective means
to supply diesel to the facilities and transportation
vehicles at the Kaiyuan Mine. Kaiyuan Company
selected a contractor for the renovation of the gas
station after the design was approved by the relevant
government departments.

Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine

On 11 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company received an on-site
punishment decision* (3735 IEREZE) dated 11 April 2018
(the “Decision”) from the Production Safety Supervision and
Administration Bureau* (Z 24 EEBEER) of the Xinjiang
Zhundong Economic and Technological Development Zone*
(s R B RUMFI 24 &) (the “Bureau”), ordering Kaiyuan
Company to suspend all production, construction and
operation at the Kaiyuan Mine. However, the construction
work of basic facilities and sale of its inventory of slack coal
during the production suspension period were permitted.
The Decision was issued as the Mining Right and the work
safety permit* (&2 4 EFF A 75) (the “Work Safety Permit”) of
Kaiyuan Company had expired on 26 December 2017 and
18 January 2018 respectively.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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Group. After preliminary assessment, it was expected
that the production suspension at the Kaiyuan Mine
will lead to a decrease in the production volume of
coal. Nevertheless, since the Group can still sell its
existing inventory of slack coal during the production
suspension period, the production suspension shall
not have material financial impact on the Group in
short-term. The Company expects that the slack coal
inventory may support the coming sales until around
end of August 2018. If, after the slack coal inventory is
sold out, the production still cannot be resumed, the
production suspension may create adverse impact on
the financial position and operation of the Group.

Immediately upon receipt of the Decision, Kaiyuan
Company proactively liaised with officers of the
Bureau in order to understand the implementation of
the punishment and the affected area of the Kaiyuan
Mine as stated in the Decision. Upon preliminary
communication with the officers, Kaiyuan Company
was informed that the construction of basic facilities
(including, among others, road hardening within the
mine, domestic sewage treatment and backup gas
station) and sale of its inventory of slack coal during
the production suspension period are permitted.
Kaiyuan Company will continue to closely follow up
with the Bureau for the renewal of the Work Safety
Permit in order to resume the production of the
Kaiyuan Mine.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥KEIEE (&)
(C)  Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued) (C) SFEEBmZEEGE)
The renewal of the Work Safety Permit is conditional on the RREENABERANTEREER
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

(©)

2.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right

In light of the Decision, the Company has sought legal
opinion from a PRC lawyer in Xinjiang. According to
the PRC legal opinion obtained by the Company,
Kaiyuan Company had commenced renewal
application in September 2017 to renew the Mining
Right which was expired on 26 December 2017. The
Mining Right was subsequently granted on 28 May
2018.

According to the PRC legal opinion obtained by
the Company, based on PRC laws and regulations,
the renewal application of Mining Right was to be
submitted to and reviewed by different governmental
departments in a hierarchical order. Kaiyuan Company
commenced the renewal application for the Mining
Right in September 2017 at the Zhundong Economic
and Technological Development Zone Division of
the Department of Land and Resources* (38 /&5
& T %= 9 /8) and in turn the Changji Land
Department.

On 9 November 2017, Kaiyuan Company already
applied to the Xinjiang Land Department for the
renewal of the Mining Right. After initial review by
the Xinjiang Land Department, Kaiyuan Company
submitted supplemental information on 14 December
2017.

The renewal application of the Mining Right was
accepted at the office of the head of the Xinjiang Land
Department meeting* (&1 A &%) on 9 March
2018 and the Xinjiang Land Department requested
the Administration Committee of Xinjiang Zhundong
Economy and Technology Development Area* (37
SBERKERMAZEEEZS) (the “Administration
Committee”) to issue renewal approval documents so
that the Mining Right can be renewed.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

(©)

2.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)

On 9 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company submitted the
application report on consent to the renewal of the
mining permit of 90,000 tonnes/year of Kaiyuan
Company (RAEARZHZIRHEXKEREETLAIE
B/ AF SRR BB B 553k ) to the Administration
Committee which processed the renewal application.

The PRC lawyer opined that, based on past
experience, the renewal application of Mining Right
shall be approved in approximately three months
after the expiry. However, due to the local situation
and the priority to deal with the social stability of the
local area, the Xinjiang government has been highly
occupied with stability maintenance work, which has
been causing delay to the renewal application process
of Mining Right.

The PRC lawyer further opined that the Decision
would not affect the renewal application of the Mining
Right, documentations for the Work Safety Permit
renewal application are completed but the renewal of
Mining Right must be obtained in order to proceed
with the application. Kaiyuan Company will continue
to communicate with the relevant government
departments in order to facilitate the renewal of
Mining Right and in turn the renewal of the Work
Safety Permit. It is unable to estimate the time for the
renewal application process hence the Company is
unable to estimate the exact time for the resumption
of production at the Kaiyuan Mine at this stage.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

(©)

2.

Updates on the renewal of Mining Right (continued)

On 28 May 2018, the Kaiyuan Company successfully
renewed and was granted a Mining Right by the
Xinjiang Land Department. The Mining Right is valid
for 1 year from 26 December 2017 to 31 December
2018 to conduct mining activities at the Kaiyuan Mine.

The Company had immediately on 29 May 2018
applied to the Xinjiang Coal Mine Safety Supervision
and Administration Bureau* (i@ EBLZ 2 EER)
(the “Coal Mine Safety Bureau”) for the renewal of the
Work Safety Permit.

According to the PRC legal opinion obtained by the
Company, based on past experience, the renewal
application of the Work Safety Permit shall be
approved in approximately thirty business days upon
receipt of the renewal application by the Coal Mine
Safety Bureau. However, due to the local situation
and the priority to deal with the social stability of the
local area, the Xinjiang government has been highly
occupied with stability maintenance work, which
made it difficult to estimate the processing time of the
renewal application of the Work Safety Permit.

Once the renewal application is approved and the
Company is granted the Work Safety Permit, the
Company shall promptly apply to the Bureau for
resumption of production at the Kaiyuan Mine. The
PRC lawyer further opined that, the Company can
only resume production at the Kaiyuan Mine once the
Bureau has approved the application.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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PROSPECTS

The Board considers that the coal business is full of challenges
and endeavors to achieve our goal of bringing maximum values
for shareholders by strengthening management of the Company,
controlling the cost of coal mining, cooperating with the national
policies of developing economy in the western region, seizing
new chances, exploring new markets, and seeking for investment
opportunities in renewable energy and environmental engineering
sectors.

Being cognizant of the impact of coal mining operations on
the environment, we are committed to the implementation of
environment management in compliance with laws and regulations.
As coal mining inevitably generates emissions, the Group will
increase investment in upgrading eco-friendly equipment, striving to
mitigate dust dispersion in the production and storage process.

Regarding the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan, as
explained above, Kaiyuan Company and Zexu Company have
already followed the request from the Changji Land Department
to enter into the Four Undisputed Agreements respectively to
dispose of Zexu Mine and acquire the Kaiyuan Extended Area. The
Company is now going through official procedures to apply for the
exploration right and mining right in respect of the extended areas.
The Company will make further announcement(s) as and when
appropriate to keep shareholders posted of any further development
of the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan.

APPRECIATION

| wish to thank my fellow directors, management and staff for their
unrelentless efforts for the business development of the Company.
On behalf of the Board, | express our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees and business
partners for their continuing support of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Kwan Man Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 June 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBFNWE D

FINANCE REVIEW

Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$182,445,000
for the Year (2017: approximately HK$73,024,000). It represents an
increase of approximately HK$109,421,000 or approximately 150%
as compared with last year.

Geographically, Xinjiang is remote from major industrial cities in the
PRC. Coal produced in Xinjiang is mainly consumed locally due to
the reason of logistic and transportation costs.

Increase in sales was mainly due to increase in demand for 36 coals,
38 coals, slack coals and weathered coals since more sales effort
has been put by the senior management of the Xinjiang office of
the Group. The Group sold approximately 3,183,450 tonnes (2017:
approximately 1,065,662 tonnes) of coal, increased by approximately
199% in volume from a year ago.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales for the Year was approximately HK$130,398,000
(2017: approximately HK$48,426,000). The cost mainly comprises
direct labor cost, cost for explosive works, machine rental cost,
depreciation and amortisation etc. The increase in cost of sales was
largely in line with the increase in sales volume during the Year as
compared with the previous year.

Gross profit

Due to the factors explained above, the gross profit of the Group
for the Year increased to approximately HK$52,047,000 (2017:
approximately HK$24,598,000). It represents an increase of
approximately of HK$27,449,000 or approximately 112% as
compared with last year but gross profit margin decreased by
approximately 5.18% for the Year to approximately 28.5%. It was
mainly due to the high sale volume of slack coal and weathered coal
which generated lower gross profit margin compared with the piece
coal.

Other revenue

The Group’s other revenue for the Year was approximately
HK$6,332,000 (2017: approximately HK$9,943,000), representing
a decrease of approximately HK$3,611,000 or approximately 36%
as compared with the last year. This was mainly due to decrease
in net income from selling coal gangue (#£hf£1) by approximately
HK$4,956,000 but compensated by the increase of interest income
and other revenue by approximately HK$1,345,000.

ot 7% B B

Y 2

RAFE  AEBE RS 49182,445,000
BIL(ZZT—+4F : 4973,024,00087T) » &
EFENN49109,421,00078 708 £]150% ©

WIEE - FEERBETEEETRET - ER
MR BRRAZAR  HBAERKEER
EEMER -

HEENETZARAEBNENZSE 2R
EEBINBEETIIE S=8E - =N
BE - AERRCEZEREFATE -
REEHE 43,183,450 (— T —+ 4 -
#91,065,66218 ) B ik - BIEREFIE ML
199% ©

SHE R A

REE HER AL 5130,398,0008 T(=Z
— 5 #948,426,000587T) - KATER
EEESESHNA - B ITRENAS - #RHEA
WA - FrEREIEE - HENTE AR L
BARFEHEREAF LA -

E7

BREXAEM s BE - RAFE - ~5F
Z EFIEINE 452,047,000 L ( — 22—+
F 1 4924,508,0008 7 )  BEF L INLY
27,449,000/8 T8k 49112% + EARFE 2 E
IR A 45.18% £ 4928.5% ° I JhF E
RARERE S HEEABRERABEZ
FEFRETB o

Hfth iy 2%
AEBRAFE 2 iUz 49 46,332,000
B (T —+4F : #9,943,00087T) * &

& FE R 4 #73,611,00078 7T 3L 4936% -+ Ut
ThEBHREEBAEFRARDL
4,956,000/8 7T itk 2 B F S WA R E A
UL 2R3 AN491,345,00058 TCAT#E{E -

Annual Report 2018 £

21



22

4

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE B R o4

FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Administrative and operating expenses

The Group’s administrative and operating expenses for the
Year was approximately HK$22,456,000 (2017: approximately
HK$20,755,000), representing an increase of approximately
HK$1,701,000 or approximately 8.20% as compared with the
previous year.

Profit for the Year

Profit of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$36,678,000
(2017: approximately HK$48,267,000), representing a decrease in
profit of approximately HK$11,589,000 as compared with last year.
Although there was a significant increase in the gross profit from
operation, the decrease in profit was mainly due to a decrease in
positive change in fair value of convertible bond by approximately
HK$41,660,000 as compared with a net gain on change in fair
value and loss arising from modification of convertible bond of
approximately HK$56,034,000 in last year, and the recognition of
an impairment losses on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$12,618,000 and approximately
HK$3,511,000 (2017: Nil and Nil) respectively and the turnaround
from exchange loss to gain of approximately HK$20,356,000 as
compared with last year.

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment

The Company completed the acquisition of 51% and 49% equity
interest in Star Fortune International Investment Company Limited,
which is the beneficial owner of the mining rights and the related
fixed assets of the Kaiyuan Mine (the “Coal Mining Assets”), on 3
July 2009 and 16 August 2010 respectively (details of which were
respectively set out in the circulars of the Company dated 12 June
2009 and 27 July 2010 and announcements of the Company dated
3 July 2009 and 17 August 2010) (the “Acquisitions”).

The amount of impairment loss on intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$12,618,000 and
approximately HK$3,511,000 respectively refers to the amount of
impairment loss recognised in respect of the Coal Mining Assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEE iR 94T

FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment (continued)

The Company conducted valuation of the Coal Mining Assets every
financial year after the Acquisitions in compliance with the relevant
accounting policies. The Company has engaged Roma Appraisals
Limited as its independent professional valuer for the purpose of
assessing the value of the Coal Mining Assets as at 31 March 2018.
The valuation was based on value-in-use basis, which is defined
as the present value of the future cash flow expected to be derived
from the Coal Mining Assets. When conducting the valuation, the
valuer has taken into account factors including but not limited to
selling prices and sales volume of coal, production cost and other
expenses, capital expenditure, production plan and discount rate,
the current conditions of the market and the Company and estimated
trend in the future, etc.

The table below sets out the sales volume, selling prices and gross
revenue of different types of coal of the Company for the Year as

Bt 5 ol A (48)

AEEimH(E

BEEEURYRE  BERREREERE
(4&)

RRF B YWEEEARE EMBFERE
MRS BRRARBEELTHRE AR
R REEFERFEERRRETEBL
BEHEMAFERBEEEN T \F=
A=+—RAZEE - HESIERNEREBEE
% EREETERANELARBEEEL
AERREREBZHIE - #EITHER - (HERD
Eftk#EZRE - BRETRNEREER
HE  AERAREMAS BAMX &
ERTEIRREIRE - i RARRIRMEARR
fatESE -

TREIERBE_T—F=A=1—H
IEEEMEARARAEENRBRRRZ

compared with the year ended 31 March 2017: HE  EBRAEkE
Approximate
1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 Percentage change
“E-t¥MA-AE - ENA-BZE
—Z-\§=A=1-H ZE—tF=f=1+-H BHEIHED
Selling Selling Selling
Sales price Gross Sales price Gross Sales price Gross
volume  perton revenue VNG perton  revenue  volume perton  revenue
#E BMEE Ak HE BHEE AKR HE BHEE Ak
(Tonnes) (I MGIEOM  (Tonnes) (HK$)  (HK$'000)
(8)  (Bxm) (F#n) ()  (&m) (F#n)
Saw Cut Coal ERASE = - - 1,892 106 200 -100% - -100%
Large Coal AKEE 26,122 114 2,981 42,034 105 4,395 -38% 9% -32%
Middle Coal R 81,670 125 10,246 143213 110 15815 -43% 14% -35%
Small Medium Coal /] 118,829 118 14,004 132,106 101 13,335 -10% 17% 5%
36 Coal =g 230,397 88 20,202 74,299 71 5,301 210% 24% 281%
38 Coal =NE 133,989 9% 12824 69,600 74 5,185 93% 30% 147%
Sub-total for Coal ~ #f5/M st 591,007 - 60,257 463,144 - 44231 28% - 36%
Slack Coal R 1,207,194 61 73,188 351,896 57 20,019 243% 7% 266%
Weathered Coal RLE 1,385,249 35 49,000 250,622 35 8,774 453% - 458%
Total @t 3,183,450 - 182,445 1,065,662 - 73,024 199% - 150%
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FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment (continued)

The market demand for coal had been presistently decreased
in recent years due to a decrease in large scale industrial and
infrastructure projects and promotion of the use of clean energy by
the PRC government, however due to the high demand of slack coal
and weathered coal, we focused on selling slack coal and weathered
coal during the Year and the gross sales revenue increased more
than double of previous year.

The production cost and other expenses of coal per ton remain
constant as applied by the valuer. The valuation methodology in
arriving at the discount rates as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March
2017 was consistent. The post-tax discount rates adopted were
14.20% and 15.20% respectively as at 31 March 2017 and 31
March 2018 and the pre-tax discount rates adopted were 21.73%
and 26.78% respectively as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018.
The slight change in post-tax discount rates was due to the change
in market data and parameters adopted in the calculation of discount
rate as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018 were as follows:

Bt 5 ol A (48)

AEEimH(E
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Risk free rate 48 [ g ) =R

Market risk premium miZRE&E

Beta coefficient BHERE

Size premium RIEEE

Cost of equity BRAS R AR

Cost of debt BB A

Weight of equity value to BRAEEGRE
enterprise value E{ELL B

Weight of debt value to BBEEGRE
enterprise value E{ELL A

Corporate tax rate PER=

Weighted average cost of capital INFESE 158 AR R 25

Inflation rate AR=E

Discount rate BRI =

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

As at

31 March

2018

R=Z2—N\F

SEFEa=E
3.75% 3.29%
10.71% 9.33%
1.06 1.11
5.59% 5.60%
20.65% 19.20%
4.90% 4.90%
81.02% 83.54%
18.98% 16.46%
25.00% 25.00%
17.43% 16.64%
1.92% 2.13%
15.20% 14.20%
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FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment (continued)

Major assumptions adopted by the valuer in the valuation of the Coal
Mining Assets include:

a. the resource estimates for Kaiyuan Mine sourced from a
technical report as at 27 June 2010 prepared by John T.
Boyd Company and certain engineering survey reports can
reasonably reflect the reserve status of Kaiyuan Mine;

b.  the coal prices for the projection period were estimated by
the Directors of the Company with reference to the historical
stability of the coal price;

c. economic conditions will not deviate significantly from the
projections regarding the production schedule, selling volume,
operating expenses and capital expenditure provided by the
Directors of the Company;

d.  the mining license of Kaiyuan Mine was renewed from 26
December 2017 to 31 December 2018;

e. as at the date of the valuation, the Company has still not yet
received any written notification from any Xinjiang government
department on the update status of the approval process of
the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan. In view of the
uncertainties in the final outcome regarding the approval of
the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the additional
resources in the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan is
not considered in the valuation of the Coal Mining Assets; and

f. the risk free rate adopted was the yield rate of the long term
China Government Bond as at 31 March 2018 as extracted
from Bloomberg.

Bt 5 ol A (48)
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FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment (continued)

The valuation report showed that the value-in-use of the Coal Mining
Assets as at 31 March 2018 approximates its carrying amount.

The valuation report and the value-in-use were assessed and
reviewed by the Directors of the Company. The auditor has
subsequently audited and confirmed the amount of impairment
losses on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$12,618,000 and approximately HK$3,511,000 are
required for the Year.

Decrease in gain on change in fair value of convertible bond
The zero coupon convertible bond (the “Convertible Bond”) of the
Company in the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 was issued on
14 March 2008 with a conversion price of HK$0.2 per share (subject
to adjustments) and maturity date of 17 March 2011 (details of
which were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 28
January 2008 and 14 March 2008).

The maturity date of the Convertible Bond was then extended to
13 March 2014, 13 March 2017 and further extended to 13 March
2020 (details of which were respectively set out in the circulars of
the Company dated 21 February 2011, 13 February 2014 and 16
February 2017 and announcements of the Company dated 11 March
2011, 10 March 2014 and 7 March 2017).

As at the date of this annual report, the outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Bond is HK$200,000,000.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE
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FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Profit for the Year (continued)

Decrease in gain on change in fair value of convertible bond
(continued)

The Company conducted valuation for the fair value of the
Convertible Bond every financial year after its issuance in compliance
with the relevant accounting policies. The Company has engaged
Roma Appraisals Limited as its independent professional valuer
for the purpose of assessing the fair value of the Convertible Bond
as at 31 March 2018. In assessing the fair value of the Convertible
Bond, the binomial option pricing model was adopted and factors
including stock price of the Company, specific terms and structure
of the Convertible Bond, trading conditions and liquidity of the
Convertible Bond, and ancillary effects associated with the exercise
or conversion and partial conversion of the Convertible Bond were
taken into account. The calculation for the discount rate of the
Convertible Bond is “discount rate = spot interest rate + other
spread”, whereas it was concluded that the credit rating of the
Convertible Bond should be “Below B” with the assumption that
the other spread would not be changed in a period of time, and the
discount rate was 7.62%.

The fair values of the Convertible Bond were approximately
HK$261,616,000 and approximately HK$247,242,000 as at 31
March 2017 and 31 March 2018 respectively. The amounts were
assessed and reviewed by the Directors of the Company and
reviewed and audited by the auditor of the Company. According
to the relevant accounting policies, the decrease in fair value of the
Convertible Bond represents a decrease in liabilities of the Company.
The amount of the change in fair value of the Convertible Bond of
approximately HK$14,374,000 was derived by taking the difference
between the fair value of the Convertible Bond as at 31 March
2017 and 31 March 2018. The significant change in fair value of
the Convertible Bond was mainly due to the significant change in
the stock price of the Company during the Year and the expected
volatility of the stock price of the Company. The closing stock prices
of the Company were HK$0.48 and HK$0.42 as at 31 March 2017
and 31 March 2018 respectively and the expected volatility of the
stock price of the Company was 76.25% and 65.46% based on the
historical price volatility of the Company for the financial years ended
31 March 2017 and 2018 respectively.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Business segment

The Group’s operating segment, based on information reported
to the chief operating decision maker who is also the executive
Director, for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment, is more specifically focused on the types of goods
delivered and services provided by the Group’s operating divisions.

Coal mine business is the only reportable operating segment, from
which the Group derived its revenue from sale of coal. Accordingly,
no further segment information is provided.

Coal Mining Business

Coal mining is the sole business of the Group at present. It contributed
a revenue of approximately HK$182,445,000 for the Year (2017:
approximately HK$73,024,000), representing an approximately
150% increase as compared with last year.

Sales and Production of Coals

During the Year, the Group sold approximately 3.18 million tonnes
of coals (2017: approximately 1.07 million tonnes) with total sales
income of approximately HK$182,445,000 (2017: approximately
HK$73,024,000). Details of coal sales in tonnes are listed in the
below table:

AEEZEDBREBEDEERMFERER
AEELERRE (RTRRTES) RS
ZERETON  LEIEAREEZEEM
3 S & dn e P RR (AR 7% 2 $R L -
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25z W B BN /5182,445,0008 (==
—+t4F : #973,024,000/8 7T ) © EEFEMN
#47150% °
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Year ended 31 March
BE=RA=1+—HLEFE

Coal sales HIRHE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Coal Sales (tonnes) and Percentage of Coal Sales

2RENE)
RSN (W) RIE RS E T AL

Coal Sales Coal Sales

(tonnes) in %

B HE R E

(W8) Btk

Large Coal NI 26,122 0.82
Middle Coal AR IR 81,670 2.57
Small Medium Coal IR 118,829 3.73
36 Coal N 230,397 7.24
38 Coal =\ 133,989 4.21
Slack Coal TR 1,207,194 37.92
Weathered Coal [R L 1,385,249 43.51
Total Sales BIHE 3,183,450 100.00

Reserves and Resources

The Group owns a Mining Right, which is located in Xinjiang. The
estimated remaining coal reserve in Kaiyuan Mine was approximately
7.90 million tonnes as at 31 March 2018 (2017: approximately 9.71
million tonnes). During the Year, there were approximately 1.81
million tonnes of coal being extracted (2017: approximately 0.68
million tonnes). The Group also owns an Exploration Permit, which is
also located in Xinjiang. The original Exploration Permit had expired
on 5 April 2017 and a renewal of the permit from 16 May 2017 to
16 May 2019 was granted by the Xinjiang Land Department. The
following tables are the estimated coal reserves for the Kaiyuan Mine
and estimated coal resources for the Zexu Mine as of 31 March
2010 conducted by John T. Boyd Company in June 2010.

REBRMBERE —BEEE R —N
FZA=Z+—8 UREEMGHFGERE
RENABTEBEMW(ZZ—+H4F : £99.71
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reserves and Resources (continued)
Estimated coal reserves for the Kaiyuan Mine:

D

2RENE)
HERAR(H
SRR (AR R

Average Mineable Marketable Reserves (million tonnes)
Seam Thickness (m) As of 31 March 2010
AR JERE(EEW)
FHERE(CK) BE-Z-ZF=H=+—H

% of
Seam Total (Coal/Parting) Proved Probable Total Total
(EEC
i BT URE®RE) =B FE AT R e ADL

North of Current Pit

(Potentially Oxidized)

REBER (BAESL)
B, 13.1 - 4.58 4.58 100.00
Mine Plan Area
LR BEE
Bs; 10.8 3.57 - 3.57 25.00
B, 19.6 10.86 - 10.86 75.00
14.43 - 14.43 100.00
Total
e

Bs; 10.8 3.57 - 3.57 19.00
B, 17.7 10.86 4.58 15.44 81.00
14.43 4.58 19.01 100.00

Approximately 75% of the total reserves are classified as “Proved”.
Coal Reserve as at 31 March 2018 = Coal Reserve as at 31 March

2017 — Amount of coal extracted by the Group during 1 April 2017
to 31 March 2018.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Reserves and Resources (continued)

Estimated coal resources for the Zexu Mine totalling 119.38 Mt, are

summarized below:

DEER(E)

HRERBR(E

EIRERE (T EIEERE £119.388 8
ME - BEMLADR -

Marketable Resources
(million tonnes)

AEER(EEHT)

Average Mineable % of

Seam Seam Thickness (m) Measured Indicated Total Resources
AR HEIR

g FHERE(CK) R 2 #Et Btk
B, 8.5 10.23 10.46 20.69 17
Bs 3.9 2.77 3.98 6.75 6
Bs 6.3 5.80 10.42 16.22 14
B, 1.8 0.29 0.01 0.30 1
B. 6.1 6.85 10.21 17.06 14
B, 6.3 8.06 8.03 16.09 13
B, 21.1 22.58 19.69 42.27 35
Total 485+ 56.58 62.80 119.38 100
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segment

The geographical location of customers is determined based on the
location where the goods are delivered. The Group’s revenue and
results from operations are mainly derived from activities in the PRC.
Activities outside the PRC are insignificant. The principal assets of
the Group are also located in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical
segment information is provided.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as otherwise disclosed, there were neither significant
investments held as at 31 March 2018 nor material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries during the Year.

The Group does not have any future plans for material investments.
There will, however, be a reasonable expected amount of
expenditure in capital assets, in particular for the new plants and
machines for the environmental protection remedial works and
renewable energy and environmental engineering. Sources of funding
are expected to come primarily from the coal sales revenue of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 Bt & D 4F

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
As at 31 March 2018, the Group had:

o net current assets of approximately HK$374,179,000 (2017:
approximately HK$334,244,000).

° cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$440,437,000
(2017: approximately HK$331,606,000) which were the major
components of the Group’s current assets of approximately
HK$451,867,000 (2017: approximately HK$395,046,000).

° current liabilities of approximately HK$77,688,000 (2017:
approximately HK$60,802,000) which comprised mainly trade
and other payables of approximately HK$69,798,000 (2017:
approximately HK$56,524,000).

° non-current liabilities of approximately HK$250,316,000 (2017:
approximately HK$272,335,000) which comprised mainly
convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$247,242,000 (2017:
approximately HK$261,616,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 1.49 (2017:
approximately 2.27). The computation is based on total debt
(convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) divided by total equity.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2018, there were 765,373,584 ordinary shares of the
Company in issue.

Zero coupon convertible bonds of the Company with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$200,000,000 were issued on 14 March 2008
the maturity date of which was approved to be further extended for
36 months to 13 March 2020 by the shareholders of the Company
on 7 March 2017.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2018, none of the Group’s assets was under
charges (2017: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE B R o4

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue in Renminbi (“RMB”) and incurs
costs in RMB and Hong Kong dollars. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk based on fluctuations between Hong Kong
dollars and RMB arising from its core operation in the PRC. The
currency exchange risk for the Year is mainly derived from the
net exchange gain on convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, which is a result from the
sustained depreciation of RMB against Hong Kong dollars. In order
to minimise the foreign currency risk exposure between these two
currencies, the Group maintained cash balances in both currencies
that are sufficient to meet three to four months’ operating cash flows
requirements of the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES

Apart from the issuance of Convertible Bond at their face value of
HK$200,000,000, the Group finances its operation mainly by internal
generated resources.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2018, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had 73 employees (2017:
74) spreading between Hong Kong and the PRC. Total staff
costs (excluding Directors’ emoluments) for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$10,266,000 (2017: approximately
HK$10,041,000). Employment relationship has been well maintained
by the Group with its employees. The Group has adopted an
extensive training policy for its employees. It has also sponsored
senior executives for higher education programmes.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwan Man Fai (“Mr. Kwan”), aged 49, is an executive Director
appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Kwan has been the chairman
and managing director of the Company since March 2017 and
is @ member of the remuneration committee and the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Kwan graduated from
the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws and
a postgraduate certificate in laws. Mr. Kwan also holds a master
degree in laws from The London School of Economics and Social
Sciences, the University of London and a master degree in the
PRC law from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Kwan is now a
consultant of Messrs. Anthony Siu & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong.
Mr. Kwan has over 10 years of experience in corporate finance and
banking work, including assisting various companies in their listing on
the Main Board and the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Ms. Lo Fong Hung (“Ms. Lo"), aged 63, is an executive Director
appointed on 25 March 2008. Ms. Lo was the chairman and
managing director of the Company and chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company until her resignation in March 2017. Ms.
Lo is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Lo also
serves for several non-listed companies, namely as the chairman
of China International Fund Limited, China Sonangol International
Holding Limited and China Sonangol International Limited and as the
director of Sonangol Sinopec International Limited and New Bright
International Development Limited. Since 2004, Ms. Lo started
exploring and developing energy resources and industrial investment
in world-wide. Ms. Lo is the wife of Mr. Wang Xiangfei, an executive
Director, and the mother of Mr. Wong Sze Wai, alternate director to
Mr. Wang Xiangfei.

<

o
M
=
X
m
O
-
O
X
/)
>
<
O
(2]
m
=
o
)
S
>
<
>
()
m
=
m
<
-

BITES

BASOEEE(TRERED) - 4958 - R=FTN
FZA-ZTHREZER/MITES - KL
BT tF=ARERLEARRERRES
RIEE - RARAIFHEREREMRERR
BEXFE - WIAARRETHEARZE
= -HAEERNBBRE  BREELE
AR ERES - BARENBERIAAS
BB EL G EFARR T 2L F B
MASZERLTEM(PEE) - EALERS
BRERMEBR BT 2 BRI -
BAEERCEREMRITEE T HEAR T+
FRE ETEEBDEZEATNELHA
RHAARAR (BT ) ER MGEM LT
LR -

Brazgt([#xt]) 63m R-TFT
NEZAZTHHERERWITES - BX
TEARRREFEREFALIENARFIR
ZEEBRFF  HEE-T—tEF=A#E-
BELINMBARRETHBRABZES - #
LR ZEIE LT ARER - b BRI
HE2FRAAF]  ZHEBRABERER AT
RZPBEAHERARZERE  ARHR
AMBERARARLAIERRERER AT
ZEF - A_TTMFE - BELLEIFBYE
KRABEURAS M ZERMNERRE - BLL
RPTESIARELEZEZFREMGELE
(EAREEZBRESR) 28 -

Annual Report 2018 £

35



36

4

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EE Rk SR EEABSEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Wang Xiangfei, aged 66, is an executive Director appointed
on 25 March 2008. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wang Xiangfei graduated from
Renmin University of China with a bachelor degree in economics
in 1982. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is now a senior accountant. Mr.
Wang Xiangfei serves as the financial advisor of China Sonangol
International Holding Limited. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is also an
independent non-executive director of China Development Bank
International Investment Limited (stock code: 1062), a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and Tianjin Capital
Environmental Protection Group Company Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1065) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is the
husband of Ms. Lo Fong Hung, an executive Director and the father
of Mr. Wong Sze Wai, the alternate director to Mr. Wang Xiangfei.

In addition, Mr. Wang Xiangfei was the independent non-executive
director of Chongging Iron & Steel Company Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1053)
and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from July 2002 to June 2009
and China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 998) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, from December 2006 to November
2012. Mr. Wang Xiangfei was the independent non-executive
director of Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings Limited from April
2010 to May 2013, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1812), the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang Xiangfei was the independent
non-executive director of SEEC Media Group Limited (stock code:
205) from June 20083 to May 2015, a company whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang Xiangfei was also the
external supervisor of Shenzhen Rural Commercial Bank from April
2009 to May 2015. Previously, Mr. Wang Xiangfei had also served
as an executive director and CEO of China Everbright International
Limited, an executive director of China Everbright Limited and
China Everbright Technology Limited (now known as China Haidian
Holdings Limited), a director & assistant general manager of China
Everbright Holdings Company Limited.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EE Kk SR EEABSEE

ALTERNATE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong Sze Wai, aged 35, is an alternate director to Mr. Wang
Xiangfei, the executive Director, with effect from 18 July 2017.
Mr. Wong Sze Wai obtained a master degree in Social Science
from the University of Hong Kong in 2010 and a bachelor degree
in Science from McMaster University of Canada in 2007. Mr. Wong
Sze Wai is currently a director of several private companies in Hong
Kong, focusing on business development and legal aspects. His
industrial experience includes research and development, business
development, and legal and compliance, etc. Mr. Wong Sze Wai is
the son of Mr. Wang Xiangfei and Ms. Lo Fong Hung, the executive
Directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Man Hin Raymond, aged 52, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Wong
Man Hin Raymond is the chairman of the remuneration committee
of the Company and a member of both the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong Man Hin
Raymond is a member of American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA), a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) and
holds a certificate in financial management (CFM). Mr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond holds a bachelor degree in chemical engineering and
a master degree in economics. Mr. Wong Man Hin Raymond is
an executive director and deputy chairman of Raymond Industrial
Limited (stock code: 229), a company whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong Man Hin Raymond
is also an independent non-executive director of Modern Beauty
Salon Holdings Limited (stock code: 919), a company whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and Tak Lee
Machinery Holdings Limited (stock code: 8142) and Zhejiang United
Investment Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 8366), companies
whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey (“Mr. Chan”), aged 49, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 25 March 2008. Mr. Chan is
a member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chan graduated
from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in laws
and a postgraduate certificate in laws. Mr. Chan also holds master
degrees in laws from the City University of Hong Kong and from
the People’s University of China. Mr. Chan is currently a partner of
Messrs. David Y.Y. Fung & Co., a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan
has extensive experience in civil and commercial crime litigation and
also handles various transactions for corporate clients and banks in
Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is also the independent non-executive director
of Qingin Foodstuffs (Cayman) Company Limited (stock code: 1583),
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin (“Mr. Pak”), aged 54, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 19 September 2017. He is the
chairman of audit committee, a member of each of remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. He is a
fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries. He has over 25 years of experience in
finance, accounting and corporate governance affairs. Mr. Pak
had held positions as the chief financial officer and the company
secretary at various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Pak is
currently (i) the chief financial officer of The Hong Kong Building
and Loan Agency Limited (Stock Code: 145); (ii) the independent
non-executive director of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1991); (i) the independent non-executive director of Trony
Solar Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2468) and (iv) the
independent non-executive director of Convoy Global Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1019), the shares of all of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Chun Fung (“Mr. Li”), aged 36, is the company secretary of
the Company appointed on 21 April 2015. Mr. Li graduated from
the Imperial College, University of London with master degree in
chemical engineering. Mr. Li is a member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and has extensive experience in
corporate governance and compliance matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SRERES

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasizing on transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness.

The Directors had reviewed the Company’s performance of its
corporate governance practices that the Company has applied the
principles of the code provisions under the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
throughout the Year, save for the deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the Code set out in the section headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive” of this annual report.

THE BOARD

Roles and responsibilities

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
It should act in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders
at all times. The Board sets strategies for the Company and monitors
the performance and activities of the senior management.

The executive Directors and the senior management of the
Company are responsible for the day to day operations of the
Company whereas the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company are responsible for ensuring a high standard of financial
and management reporting to the Board and shareholders of the
Company as well as to provide a balanced composition in the Board
so that there is a strong independent element on the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board composition

The members of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors:
Kwan Man Fai
Lo Fong Hung
Wang Xiangfei

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Wong Man Hin Raymond

Chan Yiu Fai Youdey

Pak Wai Keung Martin (appointed on 19 September 2017)
Lam Ka Wai Graham (retired on 7 September 2017)

Alternate Director:
Wong Sze Wai (alternate to Wang Xiangfei)
(appointed on 18 July 2017)

After annual assessment by the nomination committee of the
Company at a meeting on 20 June 2018, the Board considers
that all the Directors have distinguished themselves in their field
of expertise so as to give a balance of skills, knowledge and
experience, and diversity of perspectives required for the running of
an effective Board. The Board currently comprises three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The brief
biographical details of the Directors and the senior management and
relationship among them are set out in the section headed “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Board diversity

In September 2013, the Company adopted a policy on diversity of
the Board members. The policy is to review, assess and recommend
any appointment, re-election or any succession plan of any Directors
to the Board from time to time after considering a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
tenure of appointment to allow for the Company’s business model
and specific needs.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

EES(E)

EEEAM

RAFEENERFRBEL  EFEKEN
T

HITESE
B
"AIAL
TR

BIAFHITESE

ERG

PRIE 1=
ARR(MN-_ZE—tFNATINBEZE)
MRE(R—FE—EFNALREE)

BRESE:
T (BEREHR)
(R=—Z—+F+A+N\BHEEZT)

ARAREZEEN T \FA=-1+H
RITSRETFETRER  EFERA A
BESREZAEXAHBEARLZE - B
HEESEREFRIOE ZMFRE - &
HMERANKEZ T 285 - EFEH
AIH=RTEER =B IFNTESHE
Ko BREEREREEABZBERN R
REZB BRIRNAFRIEZLSRE
EASREE o

EEgMES L

R-ZZB—=FNA ARFCHEZTEXE
ZTCRMBR - ZBREFR  £ERZE
AE(BRENERMER - Fik - XEEK
BEES Tk BELR - KL MERME

)% TRBMEFRESZE  BRIEM

BEGTENETTEN IR RAEF RN
BEE  WAAARRRAZEBEA LK ER
Eo



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {®¥& /K&

THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings and general meetings

During the Year, the Board held four regular meetings and three
ad-hoc meetings, and the Company held one general meeting. The
attendance records of individual Directors at the Board meetings and
at the general meeting are set out below:
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Number of Number of g/ HE/
Board meetings general meetings B8 B8
attended/ attended/ HE HE
eligible eligible EEg RRAE®
Name of Directors to attend to attend BENS 2B gBRE
Executive Directors: TEE:
Kwan Man Fai 7/ il e /7 11
Lo Fong Hung 0/6 01 Zyral 0/6 0/1
Wang Xiangfei 6/6 11 TR 6/6 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors: BAEHTES .
Wong Man Hin Raymond /7 11 BXE 7/7¢ 11
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 7/ il ERRE /7 11
Pak Wai Keung Martin 4/4¢ N/A AER(NZE—+F 4/4¢ TNEA
(appointed on 19 September 2017) NATHBEZFE)
Lam Ka Wai Graham 2/2 il MEE(NZE—+F 2/2 11
(retired on 7 September 2017) NAEREM)

# Independent non-executive Directors had attended meeting(s) independently
held with the chairman of the Board without the executive Directors present on
the direction of the Group’s strategy and policies during the Year.

All Directors have access to the company secretary of the Company
who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed
and all applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

The Board ensures that its members are supplied, in a timely
manner, with all necessary information in a form and of a quality
appropriate to enable the Board to discharge its duties.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings and general meetings (continued)

The minutes of Board meetings recorded all the details of the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed.
Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and are available for inspection by any Director.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by
the nomination committee of the Company. In accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors who represent half of the Board and with two of whom
hold appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Code provision A.4.1 of the Code specifies that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. Two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey, were
appointed on 25 March 2008. Their service agreements have
been extended for one year commencing on 25 March 2018. Mr.
Pak Wai Keung Martin, the independent non-executive Director,
was appointed on 19 September 2017 and entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of one year. However, they
are still subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions
of the Company’s Bye-laws.

The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and after annual
assessment by the nomination committee of the Company at a
meeting on 20 June 2018, the Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Directors’ and Officers’ liability

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors and officers’ liabilities has
been provided to cover potential legal actions against Directors and
officers.

Training and support for Directors

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
The Group provides briefings and other training to develop and
refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills. Details of the continuous
professional development participated by the Directors for the Year,
that the Company received, are set out below:

Exg(R)

EEREAMBZEE
ARREGRA Y ESR RSRMEIED 2%
#1718 REERSABERFEEEER

G o
ZoN

il

i

EEEAI R
PREFAFAEMRELEREE - AL
EREEN LEMIR  UREMEHEE
Z BB N RRE o ARFIMERFRESR
AEREANZEBFEZERI ZF BRI
T

Attended seminars or ZEWFNEHR
Name of Directors briefing/read materials EZ=HH Bhe HMEER
Executive Directors: HITES .
Kwan Man Fai v hes v
Lo Fong Hung - EHA -
Wang Xiangfei v T A v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFEHITES :
Wong Man Hin Raymond v =X HE v
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey v PR R nEE v
Pak Wai Keung Martin v HER(R-Z—LF v
(appointed on 19 September 2017) NATHAEEE)
Lam Ka Wai Graham - MRB(ARZE—LF -
(retired on 7 September 2017) NAEHIRT)
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BEERHRS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All the Directors,
except for Ms. Lo Fong Hung who could not be contacted as at the
date of this annual report, have confirmed, following specific enquiry
by the Company, that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive (the “CE”) should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

During the Year, the Company did not have any officer with CE
title. Mr. Kwan Man Fai, the chairman and managing director of the
Company, also carried out the responsibility of CE during the Year. In
view of the size of operation of the Group, the Board considered that
this structure is more suitable for the Company as it can promote the
efficient formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees to oversee particular
aspects of the Group’s affairs and to assist in the execution
of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have their own
terms of reference. The views of different committees and their
recommendation not only ensure proper control of the Group but
also the continual achievement of the high corporate governance
standards expected of a listed company. The Board conducts
regular review of the structure and composition of the committees
with particular attention to the skills, knowledge and experience of
individual members.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
set up in March 1999 with specific terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee which are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company have included the
duties which are set out in code provision C.3.3 of the Code, with
appropriate modifications when necessary. The terms of reference of
the Audit Committee were amended on 15 March 2016 in order to
comply with the amendments to the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin, the chairman
of the Audit Committee, Mr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Chan
Yiu Fai Youdey.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) BEEZER(HA)
Audit Committee (continued) ERZEE(E)
A total of five meetings were held during the Year and the individual ~ RAEER - £BITRREE - FERIKE
attendance of members are as follows: HEREEAT
Number of HES
meetings attended/ EEREE
Name of members eligible to attend REHE 2EAH
Pak Wai Keung Martin (Chairman) 2/2 BHE®R(ER) 2/2
(appointed on 19 September 2017) (BN—T—+fF
NATHAEZE)
Wong Man Hin Raymond 5/5 | 5/5
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 5/5 Per 2 4 5/5
Lam Ka Wai Graham 3/3 MRE(R=_ZE—tF 3/3
(retired on 7 September 2017) NAEBHEM)

The Audit Committee together with the management of the Company
have reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed risk management, internal controls and
financial reporting matters including the review of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

The Audit Committee reviewed the interim and annual results, risk
management and internal control systems, and financial reporting
matters in conjunction with the external auditors during the Year.
The Audit Committee endorsed the accounting treatment adopted
by the Company and had the best of its ability assured itself that the
disclosure of the financial information in this annual report complies
with the applicable accounting standards and Disclosure of Financial
Information set out in Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was set up in July 2005 with specific terms of reference.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee which are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
have included the duties which are set out in code provision B.1.2 of
the Code, with appropriate modifications when necessary. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee were amended on 27
March 2012 in order to comply with the amendments to the Listing
Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four members,
including the chairman and managing director of the Company,
Mr. Kwan Man Fai and three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Wong Man Hin Raymond as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey and Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin.

The remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management of the Company are recommended by
the Remuneration Committee to the Board for determination, as
authorised by the shareholders at the annual general meeting,
having regard to the operating results of the Company, individual
performance and prevailing market conditions. The Board conducts
regular review of the structure and composition of the Remuneration
Committee with particular attention to the skills, knowledge and
experience of individual members.

During the Year, three meetings were held and the Remuneration
Committee had reviewed the existing remuneration packages of the
Board and the senior management of the Company and to make
recommendation on the remuneration package of Mr. Kwan Man
Fai, the chairman and managing director of the Company and Ms.
Lo Fong Hung and Mr. Wang Xiangfei, the executive Directors and
Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin, the independent non-executive Director.
The individual attendance of members are as follows:

EEZEE(H)

HFMZSE(H)

FEEZE SRR ANAKEAEK - BEAR
BXEREFHCEREBEER =BT
FATEFEXNRELE(FMHEREEER)
BRIBIESE A N BB REL -

AARMERMITES RSREEAR 2 H M
FEhFMNZEERNEFSEE  YHES
SREBERRRNBREAFAGRER N 212
N RESERRAREEE - AARRR
RITTMRRET - EFSEHRTFMER
SIRBRKEMRS  LEERMERKEZ
FRBE ~ RS -

RAFER  HFMEZEECBTZRGHRL
EERHNEEENARASRERASREH
B8 - WHARREFEREFHLEEX
BAEERRTEFENALEREAREE
ARBIIFMITEFARBEEZFHMATE
1R o @RI B 2 HEREEIT -

Number of HES
meetings attended/ EEREE
Name of members eligible to attend REHSZ 23XY
Wong Man Hin Raymond (Chairman) 3/3 BEXH(ER) 3/3
Kwan Man Fai 3/3 hes 3/3
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 3/3 Pek 2 4 3/3
Pak Wai Keung Martin 1/1 BER(R-_ZE—tF 1/1
(appointed on 19 September 2017) NAA+HLAEERT)
Lam Ka Wai Graham 1/1 MRE(R=ZF—tF 1/1
(retired on 7 September 2017) NAEHEMD)
REMUNERATION PAID TO SENIOR MANAGEMENT HRFEREEAS 2 HH

Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
Year falls within the following band:

ARERAEELN T HREEARZHH
ANFLATRE -

Number of
individuals

A

Nil to HK$1,000,000
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was set up in March 2012 with specific terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company have included the duties which are set out in code
provision A.5.2 of the Code, with appropriate modifications when
necessary.

The Nomination Committee will take into consideration a candidate’s
qualification, experience, expertise, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives, the requirements applicable to the Company and the
structure and composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee
identifies, reviews and nominates with diligence and care that
candidates suitably qualified as Board members before making
recommendation to the Board for their final appointment. Factors
such as gender, age, cultural and educational background, and
professional experience will also be taken into account to maintain a
balanced composition and diversity of the perspectives of the Board.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to diversify members of the Board.
Selection of candidates will be based on a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, culture and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
tenure of appointment.

The Board is currently composed of diversified members of different
gender and age, with education in economic, legal, accounting and
chemical engineering respectively from leading universities in China
(including Hong Kong) and England. Business and professional
experiences of the Board are even diversified which include but
not limited to, multinational entrepreneurship, listed companies
directorship in Hong Kong, Shanghai and Shenzhen, legal practices
in Hong Kong, corporation finance and investment banking,
accounting and auditing, and financial management.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the information (including sex,
age, educational background, business experience, professional
experience, term of appointment and designation) of the Board
Diversity Policy is as follows:

EEZEE(H)

REZEE(R

RAFHEH  EF2ZTEBRZEHR
(BEMR - ik HEBSSR  BELR -
BERLR BB

No. of Directors

BEEAH
Age group: 4110 50 A1 E505%, 2
FEAER 51 to 60 512605% 2
Over 60 B IBBORR, 2
Gender: Male Bt 5
MR Female pegis 1
Educational background: Hong Kong EH5E 4
HEB=: PRC + 4
Overseas SgHN 2
Business experience: Multinational entrepreneurship BREER 2
[FESE . Listed companies directorship in HE . EBER 6
Hong Kong, Shanghai and Shenzhen FIETRARES
Professional experience: Legal practices in Hong Kong BB EERD 2
E R TES Corporation finance and PERE M 3
investment banking HEIRTT

Accounting and auditing It REZ 3

Financial management B E R
Length of service (year): <1 HR—F 1
RIsER (REET) 1-5 1554 0
6-10 62104 0
Over 10 BiB105F 5
Designation: Executive Director HITESF 3
BT - Independent Non-executive Director BYIEMITES 3

48 NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED & EEE£AR AT



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {®¥& /K&

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

After annual assessment by the Nomination Committee at a meeting
on 20 June 2018, the Company considers that the Board has
achieved the following measurable objectives under the Board
Diversity Policy for the Year:

1. atleast one third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications; and

3. at least one of the members of the Board shall be female.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four members,
including the chairman and managing director of the Company, Mr.
Kwan Man Fai as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and
three independent non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Wong Man
Hin Raymond, Mr. Chan Yiu Fai Youdey and Mr. Pak Wai Keung
Martin.

During the Year, Mr. Lam Ka Wai Graham retired as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 7 September 2017 and
ceased to be the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin has been appointed as the independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of Audit Committee, a member
of each of Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee on
19 September 2017.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) BEEZER(HA)
Nomination Committee (continued) REZEE(E)
During the Year, three meetings were held and the Nomination RAFEER @ ERES@ LRI e
Committee had reviewed and adopted the existing policy for the st WIRAIRBERIZRZ 2R - ARIKE
nomination of Directors. The individual attendance of members are as 7 B fFa28%00 T -
follows:
Number of HE
meetings attended/ BERHE
Name of members eligible to attend REKE SENE
Kwan Man Fai (Chairman) 3/3 RSO (EFE) 3/3
Wong Man Hin Raymond 3/3 | 3/3
Chan Yiu Fai Youdey 3/3 Per 2 4 3/3
Pak Wai Keung Martin 1/1 BER(R_Z—tF 11
(appointed on 19 September 2017) NATHLBEZRET)
Lam Ka Wai Graham 1/1 MR (R —+tF 11
(retired on 7 September 2017) NAEHRE)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE TEER

The Company is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as stipulated in the Listing Rules.
During the Year, the Board committees had developed and reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements and reviewed the compliance with
the Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment relating to annual and interim
reports, inside information and price-sensitive announcements and
other financial disclosures under the Listing Rules, and reports to
regulators as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant
to statutory requirements. As at 31 March 2018, the Directors are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the ability of the Company to
continue as a going concern. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
from page 84 to page 92 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
During the Year, the Group has complied with code provision C.2 of
the Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Management is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the
Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis. Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

° Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

° Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and monitor the residual risks
persistently.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2017/18, no significant
risk was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components of
the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment. A set of standards, processes and
structures to provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

° Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming
a basis for determining how risks should be managed.

° Control Activities: Actions established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of disclosure
requirements in relation to the Group, which include:

° the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

° confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations; and

° the executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2017/18, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is consisted
of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily
operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are reported to
the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.

B B R AR EEEE ()

PRRER I & A ()
RREAREERIEALER 2 25 - ARRE
REARAREBEZERNE - EHEE - TEUER
ERFIE - ANEE AR R IT RS ERBR
KI2FF o AKEIFAERIE TR IEREE -
HBREEE 2 SBiE AR 22 R EANEE
BRZREER  APe:

s BHAEREMBZERL  ERHED
BEBEME HEANMENZEER
TN RBINEF 2 REFET

s AKBEETEANMERRI]REH

=

. EERAEEARRE  HIFERR
EESHRALBRSRESA T
T2 AL

R =Bt — T AR
i EERBHEANEARETRY
Jr

NEDE R

AEERBEAFES ([REBERT DAL - &
EEEREENBZEXE T (fImaEe
SHED) AR - A ERE AT B AL B N A K E A
FEMF - WRBEA - AR FETHN R
A HRBREERAREERGETHE -

ExeCitE—TAREEEE - RIBEEE
e SEFHREREREMABEERGSE
TEL > HeRBEERZRESHERAE
EEHRE -

Annual Report 2018 £

53



54

4

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {®¥& /&

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted semi-annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board’s reviews,
which include but not limited to:

(i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks since
the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external environment; and

(i)  the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks and of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function
and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate during the
Year. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the
training programmes and budget provided were sufficient.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION R

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited has retired as the auditor of the Bl &E &% (F8 ) @I ERAER AR E
Company with effect from the conclusion of the annual general {EARAT ZZEE - BAATR-_Z—+F
meeting of the Company held on 7 September 2017 (the “2017 A A+tHEBITZREAFRE ([ ZZ—+tF
AGM”). Mazars CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor of JREFEFEARE |)ERELEN - PERER(F
the Company by the approval of shareholders of the Company atthe &)@ =B ERTER AR AAR TR E

2017 AGM, with effect from 7 September 2017. R-ZE—+FREFFAE LHERT AR
NAEIZEEM B -_E—+FENA+E4E
o

The audit works of the Group for the Year were performed by Mazars ZANEERAFEE 7 EXTERAPERE(F
CPA Limited. ) EETRN BB R A AT o

For the Year, fees paid or payable to the auditor of the Company, RAEER - KNEED s ERM A T
Mazars CPA Limited, and its affiliates by the Group are as follows: B ERIB (BB SHMEBMERATR
HEWMB AR BRNT -

2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited Bl =G (BB grten =5
BRAA]
— Audit services — B ARTE = 740
— Non-audit and taxation services — IETZ RIS RS - 300
- 1,040
Mazars CPA Limited PERIR(ES) AN EBA
BRAA]
— Audit services — BZARTE 700 -
— Non-audit services — IEEZ RIS 180 -

880 -
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Li Chun Fung
(“Mr. Li”), who has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs.
Mr. Li has taken over 15 hours of relevant professional training in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the Year.

SHAREHOLDER’S COMMUNICATIONS

A shareholders communication policy was adopted on 27 March
2012 to ensure that shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company. The shareholders communication policy is available on the
Company’s website. The Company has established various channels
of communications with its shareholders such as publication of
interim and annual reports, press release and announcement of
the latest development of the Company in a timely manner. The
annual general meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. External auditor is also available
at the annual general meeting to address shareholders’ queries.
Moreover, resolutions are proposed at annual general meeting on
each substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
Directors.

The 2018 annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
21 August 2018. A notice of annual general meeting will be sent to
the shareholders of the Company at least 20 clear business days
before the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s
registered office and its principal office in Hong Kong for the attention
of the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
a special general meeting (the “SGM”) to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. The written requisition must state the purposes
of the general meeting, signed by the shareholder(s) concerned
and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those shareholders. If the requisition is in order, the
company secretary of the Company will ask the Board to convene
a SGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if
the requisition is invalid, the shareholders concerned will be advised
of this outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as
requested.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholder(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having the right to vote
at the general meeting; or (i) not less than 100 shareholders, can
submit a written request stating the resolution intended to be moved
at the annual general meeting (the “AGM”) or a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular
general meeting. The written request/statements must be signed
by the shareholder(s) concerned and deposited at the Company’s
registered office and its principal office in Hong Kong for the attention
of the company secretary of the Company, not less than six weeks
before the AGM in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution and not less than one week before the general meeting in
the case of any other requisition. If the written request is in order, the
company secretary of the Company will ask the Board (i) to include
the resolution in the agenda for the AGM; or (ii) to circulate the
statement for the general meeting, provided that the shareholder(s)
concerned have deposited a sum of money reasonably determined
by the Board sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
serving the notice of the resolution and/or circulating the statement
submitted by the shareholder(s) concerned in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered shareholders. On the
contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the shareholder(s) concerned
have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s
expenses for the said purposes, the shareholder(s) concerned will be
advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution
will not be included in the agenda for the AGM or the statement will
not be circulated for the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the
company secretary of the Company by post, fax or email. The
contact details are set out as below:

Clarendon House,
2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Registered office:

Principal place of 8/F., Tower 2,
business in Admiralty Centre,
Hong Kong: 18 Harcourt Road,

Admiralty, Hong Kong
Postal address: 8/F., Tower 2,
Admiralty Centre,
18 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong

Tel: 2248 0188
Fax: 2918 9931
Email: info@nannanlisted.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the Year, there were no change in the Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The subsidiaries of
the Company are principally engaged in mining and sales of coal.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 93 to 206. The Board does not recommend
the payment of any dividend for the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for the Year, a discussion on
the Group’s future business development and principal risks and
uncertainties that the Group is facing are provided in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 20 and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 21 to 34 of this annual report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in Note 5(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

No important event affecting the Group had occurred since the end
of the Year.

The Company promotes the culture of adhering to the high ethical
standards of business conduct and commits to complying with all
prevailing laws and regulations in all its operating regions. During the
Year, the Company did not aware of any material non-compliance or
breach of legislation.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities, and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements is
set out on pages 207 to 208 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in
Note 24(b) to the consolidated financial statements. The Company
does not adopt share option scheme.

CONVERTIBLE BOND
Details of the Convertible Bond issued by the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Convertible Bond” of this
annual report and Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements,
no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during
the Year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that our management, employees,
customers and business partners (including suppliers, financial
institutions and academic bodies) are key stakeholders to the
Company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging our management and employees, providing quality
products to our customers, collaborating with business partners to
deliver quality sustainable products and services and supporting our
community.

ENVIRONMENTAL, POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules, the Company will
publish an Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
within three months after the publication of this annual report in
compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide
in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Bye-laws provided that all Directors and officers
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty. Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance is arranged to cover the directors and
officers of the Group against any potential costs and liabilities arising
from claims brought against them.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and its employees
make monthly contributions to the MPF Scheme generally at 5% of
the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident
Fund legislation. The monthly contributions of each of the employer
and the employee are subject to a maximum contribution of
HK$1,500 per month (for period after 1 June 2014) and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries contributed certain
percentage of basic salaries to the retirement benefits plan to fund
the benefits. The Group has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration policy of the Company is reviewed regularly, making
reference to market condition and performance of the Company and
individual staff (including the Directors). The remuneration policy and
remuneration packages of the Directors and management team are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and the Board which are
detailed in the paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 45 to 46.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Directors consider that those related party transactions
disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements did not
fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirmed that the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Company did not have any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which were
subject to the reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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MAJOR EVENTS

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan* and
the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan#*

Pursuant to the instructions from the National Development
and Reform Commission of the PRC, the Department
of Land and Resources of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous
Region (the “Xinjiang Land Department”) had to plan for a
management restructuring of seven different coal mines
(including the Zexu Open Pit Coal Mine (the “Zexu Mine”)) in
the Xiheishan Mining Area (the “Optimization and Upgrading
Plan”), consolidating some smaller mines together so as to
increase the size efficiency (for details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 11 November 2011). After
being informed of this Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the
Board has requested our management in the Xinjiang Uyger
Autonomous Region of China (“Xinjiang”) to conduct frequent
meetings and negotiations with the Xinjiang Land Department
and other relevant government authorities in order to protect
the Company’s interest in relation to the exploration permit of
the Zexu Mine (the “Exploration Permit”).

According to the letter dated 13 June 2012 issued by the
Administrative Bureau of Coal Industry of Changji Prefecture
informing the updated status of the Optimization and
Upgrading Plan, the following proposals (the “Updated
Optimization and Upgrading Plan”) in relation to the
Company’s Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine (the “Kaiyuan Mine”)
and Zexu Mine have been submitted to the working group
head office for coal industry structural upgrade work of
Xinjiang for consideration and approval:

1. The Company’s Kaiyuan Mine would be restructured
and upgraded, and the Exploration Permit granted to
the Company would be terminated; and

2. The mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine, where the
Company is now conducting mining activities, was
proposed to be increased from 1.1596 square
kilometers to 4.12 square kilometers (“Kaiyuan
Extended Area”), with the estimated coal resources of
approximately 131.18 million tonnes.
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MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 15
August 2017, as requested by the Department of Land and
Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (8§ &
EEARME+EIRBE) (the “Changji Land Department”), with
the aim of expediting the resources restructuring work and
accelerating and completing the process to fix the mining
area for each mining right owner inside Zhundong Meitian
Xiheishan Coal Mining Area* (& M7 E LK RIERE),
where the Zexu Mine and Kaiyuan Mine of the Company are
located, Qitai County Zexu Trading Company Limited* (&
AEZEMEARETAR) (“Zexu Company”) and Mulei
County Kai Yuan Coal Company Limited* (/K& &g R
RBMREFAT) (“Kaiyuan Company”), the subsidiaries of
the Company, respectively entered into the following four
undisputed agreements (the “Four Undisputed Agreements”)
with the relevant parties to dispose of Zexu Mine and acquire
Kaiyuan Extended Area:

1. First Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Zexu Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “First Undisputed
Agreement”) with Xinjiang Jinneng Mining Company
Limited (“Jinneng Company”), pursuant to which
Jinneng Company should occupy an area of 0.297
km2 within the Zexu Mine and could apply to the
Xinjiang Land Department to fix such mining area.
Jinneng Company should, within 10 working days
upon signing the agreement, compensate Zexu
Company with an amount of RMB505,197, which was
calculated by multiplying the area of 0.297 km2 with
the agreed compensation amount of RMB486,000
per km?2 and the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5.
The above compensation standard was determined
by the Changji Land Department.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A) Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

2.

Second Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Zexu Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Second Undisputed
Agreement”) with Xinjiang Beishan Mining Company
Limited (“Beishan Company”), pursuant to which
Beishan Company should occupy an area of 2.582
km2 within the Zexu Mine and could apply to the
Xinjiang Land Department to fix such mining area.
Beishan Company should, within 10 working days
upon signing the agreement, compensate Zexu
Company with an amount of RMB4,391,982, which
was calculated by multiplying the area of 2.582
km2 with the agreed compensation amount of
RMB486,000 per km2 and the agreed compensation
multiples of 3.5. The above compensation standard
was determined by the Changji Land Department.

Third Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Kaiyuan Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Third Undisputed
Agreement”) with Jinneng Company, pursuant to
which Kaiyuan Company should occupy an area of
1.292 km? within the exploration area of the mine
of Jinneng Company (the “First Extended Area”)
and could apply to the Xinjiang Land Department
to fix such mining area. Kaiyuan Company should,
within 10 working days upon signing the agreement,
compensate Jinneng Company with an amount
of RMB2,197,692, which was calculated by
multiplying the area of 1.292 kmz2 with the agreed
compensation amount of RMB486,000 per km2 and
the agreed compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the
Changji Land Department.

The First Extended Area to be occupied by Kaiyuan
Company from Jinneng Company is located next
to the Kaiyuan Mine currently operated by Kaiyuan
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS x4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(A) Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

4.

Fourth Undisputed Agreement

On 15 August 2017, Kaiyuan Company entered into
an undisputed agreement (the “Fourth Undisputed
Agreement”) with Beishan Company, pursuant to
which Kaiyuan Company should occupy an area
of 0.016 km? within the mining area of the mine of
Beishan Company (the “Second Extended Area”)
and could apply to the Xinjiang Land Department
to fix such mining area. Kaiyuan Company should,
within 10 working days upon signing the agreement,
compensate Beishan Company with an amount of
RMB27,216, which was calculated by multiplying
the area of 0.016 km? with the agreed compensation
amount of RMB486,000 per km2 and the agreed
compensation multiples of 3.5. The above
compensation standard was determined by the
Changji Land Department.

The Second Extended Area to be occupied by
Kaiyuan Company from Beishan Company is located
next to the Kaiyuan Mine currently operated by
Kaiyuan Company.

The total area of 2.879 kmz2 of Zexu Mine being occupied
by Jinneng Company and Beishan Company under the
First Undisputed Agreement and the Second Undisputed
Agreement respectively represent the whole area of the Zexu
Mine. Since the said two agreements had been completed,
the Exploration Permit became invalid. Since the Zexu
Mine has not commenced mining, it has not generated any
revenue for the Group in the past years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

So far as the Company is aware, the First Extended Area
and the Second Extended Area being occupied by Kaiyuan
Company under the Third Undisputed Agreement and Fourth
Undisputed Agreement respectively have not yet commenced
mining. After having completed such agreements, the
Company was required to go through official procedures with
the relevant land and resources departments to obtain the
exploration right and then the mining right in respect of these
extended areas. When the related exploration right or mining
right is obtained, the Company will appoint professional
parties to evaluate possible coal reserves and perform
valuation on the First Extended Area and Second Extended
Area. For accounting purposes, these extended area were
booked as “Non-refundable deposits” under non-current
assets with value of approximately RMB2,099,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,604,000) in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position, which, if appropriate, would
be transferred to the intangible assets after conclusion is
reached with the government departments. Upon obtaining
the exploration right or mining right, the Company will
discuss again with professional parties (including its valuer
and auditor) regarding the possible coal reserves, valuation
and accounting treatment of the First Extended Area and
Second Extended Area. The Company has not received any
update from the relevant government departments since the
completion of the Four Undisputed Agreements.

According to the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan, the mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine was proposed
to be increased from 1.1596 kmz2 to 4.12 km2. For the First
Extended Area and the Second Extended Area, since they
were originally owned by Jinneng Company and Beishan
Company respectively, the Third Undisputed Agreement
and the Fourth Undisputed Agreement were required to
be signed respectively for transfer of such area and as one
of the important procedures for obtaining the exploration
right and then the mining right. Upon completion of the
Third Undisputed Agreement and Fourth Undisputed
Agreement, the area of the Kaiyuan Mine will only increase
to approximately 2.4676 kmz2. Concerning the outstanding
proposed increased area of approximately 1.6524 km? (the
“Outstanding Mining Area”), so far as the Company is aware,
such area is located next to the Kaiyuan Mine and is currently
owned by the government. To obtain the exploration right
and then the mining right of such area, the Company is still
required to go through official procedures with the relevant
land and resources departments.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS x4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

By a letter dated 6 February 2018 from the Zhundong
Economic and Technological Development Zone Division
of the Ministry of Land and Resources of Changji Hui
Autonomous Prefecture* (EF EEBEAMNE L ERBER
BERATFIE R 9 /®) (the “Zhundong Division of the Ministry
of Land and Resources”), as part of the application, the
Zhundong Division of the Ministry of Land and Resources
required Kaiyuan Company to sign a deed of undertaking (the
“Deed of Undertaking”).

Since the Outstanding Mining Area is a national resource
of the PRC government, the Deed of Undertaking requires
Kaiyuan Company to undertake to (1) apply for a bid
invitation, auction and listing (the “Bid, Auction and Listing”)
for exploration right of the Outstanding Mining Area and to
grant state-owned enterprises within the Zhundong Economic
and Technological Development Zone* (/5 48 78 1 fi7 5 2%
[&®) (the “State-Owned Enterprises”) a priority to participate
in the Bid, Auction and Listing (the “Priority”); and (2) grant
the State-Owned Enterprises who obtain exploration right in
the Outstanding Mining Area a right to invest in the mining of
the Outstanding Mining Area (the “Right to Invest”). As at the
date of the announcement on 28 March 2018, no concrete
terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest have been
provided by the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of Land
and Resources. Detailed terms and conditions of the possible
business cooperation with the State-Owned Enterprises
in the Outstanding Mining Area will be subject to further
development on the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan and government policy.

* English translation for identification purposes only

EXREHE)

A)

BUAART R BBILFAREHR AR
ZER(E)

BB HHETOREANELER
REREERMFEERD B ([ ERE
BEMAEEES B DR -_ZE—N\F
ARNBBELOER  (ERHFHN—E
o EREERMAERS BEX
SRR R FRE — 10 8Gh K ([ AR
) e

A T REREARRER  2&#
B ESRHUR A BIAGE() LT8R N ERIEE
R ERERBETAREE - 1R
Rathg([Ras]) EREEET -
HERAZEENEEREAR([BEE
TEDEL2E(TELE]D - X
BRTEREGHMEENREREURRE
N2 HEF B T HREREBENFAR( 251
) mZZE—)\F=ZA=-+N\HZ
NEBH  EREERMRAZERD B
FEREENENEBLEERSREZ
UG - BRIERA D ENER TR
BT 2 mEAET LR IR
MGHEBZENECARET AR
R RBTECR -

Annual Report 2018 £

67



68

<

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

A)

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

Upon receiving the Deed of Undertaking, the Company
proactively contacted the Zhundong Division of the Ministry
of Land and Resources in order to understand or obtain
the concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest
as stated in the Deed of Undertaking. However, after a few
weeks of contact and communication, with the intervening
Chinese New Year holiday from 13 February 2018 to 8 March
2018 in Xinjiang, the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of
Land and Resources confirmed that it was not able to provide
any concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to Invest.
In light of these circumstances, the Company sought legal
opinion from a PRC lawyer in Xinjiang. According to the PRC
legal opinion obtained by the Company:

1. three out of the four companies with mines in the
Xiheishan Mining Area had executed the Deed of
Undertaking;

2. if Kaiyuan Company did not execute the Deed of

Undertaking, the Zhundong Division of the Ministry of
Land and Resources will cease to process Kaiyuan
Company’s application for exploration right and
mining right in the Kaiyuan Extended Area; and

3. no concrete terms of the Priority and the Right to
Invest had been provided by the Zhundong Division of
the Ministry of Land and Resources.

To further facilitate the Updated Optimization and Upgrading
Plan and to enable Kaiyuan Company to continue to
apply for exploration right and mining right in the Kaiyuan
Extended Area, Kaiyuan Company had executed the Deed of
Undertaking within 7 days of the date of the announcement
on 28 March 2018. The Priority and the Right to Invest may or
may not be exercised by the State-Owned Enterprises. The
Board considers that any possible business cooperation with
the State-Owned Enterprises in the Outstanding Mining Area
is to comply with the execution of the Updated Optimization
and Upgrading Plan. In the event that the Right to Invest is
exercised by the State-Owned Enterprises, the Company will
negotiate for fair and reasonable terms taking into account
the interests of the Company and shareholders as a whole.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS x4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

A)

##

Progress of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan*
and the Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan*#
(continued)

The management of Kaiyuan Company has been
communicating and negotiating with the Zhundong Division
of the Ministry of Land and Resources in order to protect the
Company’s best interest in the Outstanding Mining Area.

The application for exploration right and mining right of the
Outstanding Mining Area is irrelevant to the renewal of the
mining right in the Kaiyuan Mine (the “Mining Right”) as stated
in the announcement of the Company dated 27 December
2017.

“Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Management Restructuring Plan” in the announcement of the Company
dated 11 November 2011 and in the announcements, notices, circulars,

interim reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.

“Updated Optimization and Upgrading Plan” was previously referred to as
“Updated Restructuring Proposals” in the announcement of the Company
dated 15 June 2012 and in the announcements, notices, circulars, interim

reports and annual reports of the Company thereafter.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(B) Suspension of Production and Production Resumption at
Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station
As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 25
September 2017, Kaiyuan Company received notices
from the relevant government departments requesting
for suspension of the production at Kaiyuan Mine and
demolishment of gas station therein.

1. Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine

At the night of 19 September 2017, Kaiyuan Company
received a notice dated 16 September 2017 from the
Environmental Protection Bureau of Xinjiang Zhundong
Economy and Technology Development Area* (#7558
HAHER TR R IR IEIRE /D) and a notice dated 19
September 2017 from the Environmental Protection
Committee of Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and
Technology Development Area* (3758 /f 5 A& B R 1T 5
BRIBIBIREZ B E), requesting Kaiyuan Company
to suspend production at its Kaiyuan Mine since
Kaiyuan Company had yet to implement the coal mine
environmental comprehensive remediation proposal
in accordance with the requirements of, among other
things, the “Implementation Opinion on Environmental
Protection Specific Remediation in Zhundong
Development Area* (R HAZRIRIZERESERAE
mER).

2. Production Resumption at Kaiyuan Mine
As stated in the Company’s announcement dated 26
October 2017, Kaiyuan Company received notices
from the relevant government departments to resume
the production at Kaiyuan Mine.

At the night of 23 October 2017, Kaiyuan Company
received a notice (the “Notice”) dated 23 October
2017 from the Party and Government Office of
Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and Technology
Development Area* (78 f 58 A4S 1 it 5 3% (2 E I
#ANE) requesting the relevant enterprises in the
development area, including Kaiyuan Company,
to thoroughly implement the requirements of the
“Emergency notice to better implement the work to
safeguard supply of coal* (BERMSITIRIE L IR (L fE
TEE @A)’ (the “Emergency Notice”) issued
by the Office of the People’s Government of Changji
Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (5 BIEEAMAR
BRI A =E). According to the Emergency Notice,
several coal mines, including the Kaiyuan Mine, were
requested to conduct coal production and at the
same time implement the environmental protection
remedial works.

* English translation for identification purposes only

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

ERSEEH(E)

B)

SRR 2 15 E R 18 2 WL R 3R BR N
i
BOARFBERR_ZE—tFNA
“t+RAZAEM - SURRFHE
MRBBUR BT 2 B - 2SRRI
15 B M IRBRAZ B 2 Dt

1. YURRRZIZE
R-ZE—tFNLATNLE®R
£ SURRRIMRE— 1 B
BERKEBERMAERIRE
RERBELOBEHA T
—tEFAATRBERBERAR
— 10 £ # B R AR H M 5
ZRRBEREZBE SR LN
HRR-Z—tFNAATA
HrBA - ZRIRAFH
SUREREEE - RERIR
REA AR (EhE3E)OE
RAZRREREFTAER
BB R)INER  BRERE

o 42 g -
RIBIREBRTER -

2. YURRRZBE

HMARBHAR —T—+
FTtA-_+tRXBZRAEM
At - YR A B UL R A8 B R
Pz EA - IESRE R
ZHE -

R—E—+tF+A=-+=H
B E - SURARIWE —H A
B ERQERITARRE
BRAEFBEHNBHAC
Z—+HE+A-+=HHA
M([Z@A])  BkFAEE
HECE(BEFIRRAE)E
BorTESFREEAMAR
BT 9% = AT EE A9 R A i
RS R R E TEM B &
BN ZEBEZBHMINE
Ko IRIBZEZBHN - B3R
ZAKEBE(BEIRERE)E
THREERREEITRE
REBNTE -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS x4 <

MAJOR EVENTS (continued) EAEE(E)

(B)  Suspension of Production and Production Resumption (B)  SLIREE Z 15 E R 8 E L RIFRR INiM
at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station i (%)
(continued)

2, Production Resumption at Kaiyuan Mine SRR 2 8 (%)
(continued)
Upon discussion with the relevant government SRS YR B R S
departments, Kaiyuan Company was confirmed that SURD B EER - SRR
the Kaiyuan Mine could resume normal production AR R BT IR REE
while fulfilling the requirements of conducting the HITHEERFE - RELE
environmental protection remedial works. BHE °
The Kaiyuan Mine had resumed production according SRR T B AR IR 5% 48 A0 [ Rk
to the Notice and the Emergency Notice. Although RSBANIMEEE - RS
the production at the Kaiyuan Mine was suspended REBEEL—EA - BH
for around one month, it did not create material WisEPEIR A RNES
financial impact on the Group since Kaiyuan Company HEAARETSE  HALFE
continued to sell its inventory of slack coal during the W8 A H AR E S RE K
production suspension period. So far as the Company BRE - BARBIMRA -
is aware, Kaiyuan Company has not received any SR A BR B U B E
claims arising from non-supply of coal during the [ K BE 4 & B 5 T P 1 3R A9
production suspension period. Meanwhile, Kaiyuan EMRE - EHHE - 5l
Company will cooperate with the relevant government RN A AR B U B P &
departments to complete the requested environmental 1 AT PT 2RIV ERFAR
protection remedial works. EEWRTE-

3. Demolishment of Gas Station 15 BR i 25

On 21 September 2017, Kaiyuan Company received
an “Administrative Enforcement Document of
Production Safety* (&4 E/THR#AXE)” dated
21 September 2017 from the Production Safety
Supervision and Administration Bureau* (&2 4
EEEEIER) of the Administration Committee
of Xinjiang Zhundong Economy and Technology
Development Area* (¥ RAERMMAEREZ
@) (the “Document”), alleging that there were illegal
storage and use of diesel at the Kaiyuan Mine and the
gas station constructed therein was not in compliance
with the “Regulations on Design and Construction
of Gas Station* (Jjh kRt E2HE TR E)". Kaiyuan
Company was requested to cease usage of the gas
station immediately and demolish the gas station
before 6 October 2017.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

(B)

(C)

Suspension of Production and Production Resumption

at Kaiyuan Mine and Demolishment of Gas Station

(continued)

3. Demolishment of Gas Station (continued)
The gas station at the Kaiyuan Mine was constructed
long time ago to supply diesel to the facilities
and transportation vehicles at the Kaiyuan Mine.
Demolishment of the gas station would not affect
the operation of the Kaiyuan Mine seriously. Upon
receipt of the Document, the management of
Kaiyuan Company had negotiated with the relevant
government departments, which on 22 September
2017, verbally allowed Kaiyuan Company to use up
all the diesel remained in the gas station first and then
demolish such station thereafter. The management of
Kaiyuan Company looked for other effective means
to supply diesel to the facilities and transportation
vehicles at the Kaiyuan Mine. Kaiyuan Company
selected a contractor for the renovation of the gas
station after the design was approved by the relevant
government departments.

Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine

On 11 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company received an on-site
punishment decision* (3735 IEREZE) dated 11 April 2018
(the “Decision”) from the Production Safety Supervision and
Administration Bureau* (Z 24 EEBEER) of the Xinjiang
Zhundong Economic and Technological Development Zone*
(s R B RUMFI 24 &) (the “Bureau”), ordering Kaiyuan
Company to suspend all production, construction and
operation at the Kaiyuan Mine. However, the construction
work of basic facilities and sale of its inventory of slack coal
during the production suspension period were permitted.
The Decision was issued as the Mining Right and the work
safety permit* (&2 4 EFF A 75) (the “Work Safety Permit”) of
Kaiyuan Company had expired on 26 December 2017 and
18 January 2018 respectively.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS #E&#% <
MAJOR EVENTS (continued) BEAREIH(E)
(C)  Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued) (C) SFEEBmZEEGE)

EAENIEEREAGRERER
& JTAIHE -

The renewal of the Work Safety Permit is conditional on the
renewal of the Mining Right.

Impacts on the group and measures to be taken

Kaiyuan Mine is the only operating business of the
Group. After preliminary assessment, it was expected
that the production suspension at the Kaiyuan Mine
will lead to a decrease in the production volume of
coal. Nevertheless, since the Group can still sell its
existing inventory of slack coal during the production
suspension period, the production suspension shall
not have material financial impact on the Group in
short-term. The Company expects that the slack coal
inventory may support the coming sales until around
end of August 2018. If, after the slack coal inventory is
sold out, the production still cannot be resumed, the
production suspension may create adverse impact on
the financial position and operation of the Group.

Immediately upon receipt of the Decision, Kaiyuan
Company proactively liaised with officers of the
Bureau in order to understand the implementation of
the punishment and the affected area of the Kaiyuan
Mine as stated in the Decision. Upon preliminary
communication with the officers, Kaiyuan Company
was informed that the construction of basic facilities
(including, among others, road hardening within the
mine, domestic sewage treatment and backup gas
station) and sale of its inventory of slack coal during
the production suspension period are permitted.
Kaiyuan Company will continue to closely follow up
with the Bureau for the renewal of the Work Safety
Permit in order to resume the production of the
Kaiyuan Mine.
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MAJOR EVENTS (continued)

Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

(©)

2.

Updates on the renewal of mining rights

In light of the Decision, the Company has sought legal
opinion from a PRC lawyer in Xinjiang. According to
the PRC legal opinion obtained by the Company,
Kaiyuan Company had commenced renewal
application in September 2017 to renew the Mining
Right which was expired on 26 December 2017. The
Mining Right was subsequently granted on 28 May
2018.

According to the PRC legal opinion obtained by
the Company, based on PRC laws and regulations,
the renewal application of Mining Right was to be
submitted to and reviewed by different governmental
departments in a hierarchical order. Kaiyuan Company
commenced the renewal application for the Mining
Right in September 2017 at the Zhundong Economic
and Technological Development Zone Division of
the Department of Land and Resources* (#ig &%
EER TR 5 /2) and in turn the Changji Land
Department.

On 9 November 2017, Kaiyuan Company already
applied to the Xinjiang Land Department for the
renewal of the Mining Right. After initial review by
the Xinjiang Land Department, Kaiyuan Company
submitted supplemental information on 14 December
2017.

The renewal application of the Mining Right was
accepted at the office of the head of the Xinjiang Land
Department meeting* (BB A&3%) on 9 March
2018 and the Xinjiang Land Department requested
the Administration Committee of Xinjiang Zhundong
Economy and Technology Development Area* (¥
EERGERINAZEEZE) (the “Administration
Committee”) to issue renewal approval documents so
that the Mining Right can be renewed.

On 9 April 2018, Kaiyuan Company submitted the
application report on consent to the renewal of the
mining permit of 90,000 tonnes/year of Kaiyuan
Company (AEAREZIFRERERETRARIE
W8/ FIRE B BRI R B TRS) to the Administration
Committee which processed the renewal application.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS x4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)
Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)

(©)

2.

Updates on the renewal of mining rights (continued)
The PRC lawyer opined that, based on past
experience, the renewal application of Mining Right
shall be approved in approximately three months
after the expiry. However, due to the local situation
and the priority to deal with the social stability of the
local area, the Xinjiang government has been highly
occupied with stability maintenance work, which has
been causing delay to the renewal application process
of Mining Right.

The PRC lawyer further opined that the Decision
would not affect the renewal application of the Mining
Right, documentations for the Work Safety Permit
renewal application are completed but the renewal of
Mining Right must be obtained in order to proceed
with the application. Kaiyuan Company will continue
to communicate with the relevant government
departments in order to facilitate the renewal of
Mining Right and in turn the renewal of the Work
Safety Permit. It is unable to estimate the time for the
renewal application process hence the Company is
unable to estimate the exact time for the resumption
of production at the Kaiyuan Mine at this stage.

On 28 May 2018, the Kaiyuan Company successfully
renewed and was granted a Mining Right by the
Xinjiang Land Department. The Mining Right is valid
for 1 year from 26 December 2017 to 31 December
2018 to conduct mining activities at the Kaiyuan Mine.

The Company had immediately on 29 May 2018
applied to the Xinjiang Coal Mine Safety Supervision
and Administration Bureau* (i@ EREZ 2 EER)
(the “Coal Mine Safety Bureau”) for the renewal of the
Work Safety Permit.

* English translation for identification purposes only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE &4

MAJOR EVENTS (continued)
(©) Suspension of Production at Kaiyuan Mine (continued)
2. Updates on the renewal of mining rights (continued)

According to the PRC legal opinion obtained by the
Company, based on past experience, the renewal
application of the Work Safety Permit shall be
approved in approximately thirty business days upon
receipt of the renewal application by the Coal Mine
Safety Bureau. However, due to the local situation
and the priority to deal with the social stability of the
local area, the Xinjiang government has been highly
occupied with stability maintenance work, which
made it difficult to estimate the processing time of the
renewal application of the Work Safety Permit.

Once the renewal application is approved and the
Company is granted the Work Safety Permit, the
Company shall promptly apply to the Bureau for
resumption of production at the Kaiyuan Mine. The
PRC lawyer further opined that, the Company can
only resume production at the Kaiyuan Mine once the
Bureau has approved the application.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 24(a) to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had no retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie. Under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company’s contributed
surplus of approximately HK$128,013,000 may be distributed under
certain circumstances. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account with a balance of approximately HK$191,534,000 may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

BEAREIH(E)
(C) HEEBEZIEEE
2. GREEEEZRHER(E)

REARRARSG 2HHERE
ER O RRBUELEH &
EEFNEEERENTE
HERWEIEERFRANM
= AT ER R E &R -
R EREHHIBEIRE
WA EREMNEBLERE
BHNHGERNRBEMitE
HNEEBEENIETE TS
SE - WENEERBNE
B R EE A TERT -

—EBEERFESIENK
NEAESLE2EENAE
RRBHEERLERHH
SURK TR 2 BE - R
E—TRE - ARBIREERE
RERERBRINELE -

BErBEER

AR ZARERINEFEED Y B BE
SEBEMZIE - BERARABAORER
RIZLLPIBATRRR -

BA - HEIBEEARQNT LHES

N/NCTE RSSO = PNCIVAVNG IR T
A HEHBERARFER LHES

s
ARBRAERERAEE 2 FEESFHED
PIENER A TS A M 5124 (a) Ko fir & M 2
B e

IR 33
R-ZE—NF=ZA=+—H  ARBILEF
EREDREREWH IR ZFRBEF - 1B
BARE—NN\—FRQEE  AARZHA
BtA4/5128,013,000/8 7T * NETERT
AJEDIR o thAN - AR E Z R0 E ERR AR
#95191,534,0004 7T + 7] ABR AL IR =0
DR °



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS x4

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 85.95% of the total sales for the Year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to 38.68%. Purchases of goods
and services from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
97.56% of the total purchases for the Year and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 72.31%.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors:

Kwan Man Fai (Chairman and Managing Director)
Lo Fong Hung

Wang Xiangfei

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Wong Man Hin Raymond

Chan Yiu Fai Youdey

Pak Wai Keung Martin (appointed on 19 September 2017)
Lam Ka Wai Graham (retired on 7 September 2017)

Alternate Director:
Wong Sze Wai (alternate to Wang Xiangfei)
(appointed on 18 July 2017)

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Wang Xiangfei and Mr. Wong Man Hin Raymond will retire by
rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with bye-law 86 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Pak
Wai Keung Martin shall hold office only until the first general meeting
of the Company after his appointment and being eligible, offer
himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with bye-law 92 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Wong Sze Wai shall hold office only until the next annual election
of Directors, or if earlier, the date on which Mr. Wang Xiangfei
ceases to be a Director, or until Mr. Wang Xiangfei removes him as
an alternate Director. Mr. Wang Xiangfei, if he is re-elected at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, will re-appoint Mr. Wong Sze
Wai as his alternate Director.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 35 to 38 of this annual report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Changes in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules subsequent to the
publication of the 2017 interim report of the Company are set out
below:

(1)  Subsequent to a review of Directors’ duties and responsibilities
in the Company as well as the market conditions at the Board
meeting on 14 March 2018, the Directors’ emoluments
were approved and revised by the Board with effect from
1 April 2018. The monthly emolument of Mr. Wang Xiangfei,
the executive Director, was changed from HK$44,000 to
HK$64,000. The monthly emolument of Mr. Kwan Man Fai,
the chairman and managing director of the Company, was
changed from HK$66,000 to HK$86,000. Ms. Lo Fong Hung,
the executive Director, was granted leave without pay;

(2) The service agreements of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Man Hin Raymond and Mr. Chan
Yiu Fai Youdey, entered with the Company expired on 24
March 2018 and their service agreements had been extended
for one year commencing on 25 March 2018;

(8)  The service agreements of the executive Directors, namely
Mr. Kwan Man Fai, Ms. Lo Fong Hung and Mr. Wang Xiangfei,
entered with the Company expired on 24 March 2018 and
their service agreements had been extended for one year
commencing on 25 March 2018; and

(4) Mr. Pak Wai Keung Martin, the independent non-executive
Director, had been appointed as the independent non-
executive director of Convoy Global Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1019) on 8 December 2017, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company, which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

BEERSREBEAEHE
BEERAEHESREEABHEHISHAE
REI5E38H o

ESEREH

BART =T —ER MRS TR - R
ETHRBIE18.61B) AT HE L B AR
SHHIIT

(1) RZE-N\F=-A+tHBEHCES
R ERESREARRIZEBER
REUARTHIERE  EFIUES
AJEEMES  B-ZE - N\FWA—H
BER - HTEETAREEZEA
Mimmmm@_“ﬁimmma
c ARBIEFHRESHBREFUE
%iZ#HM&E%p%%ﬁQ z
86,00087C - ITEERE AL L T
HEEZ B

@ BUFRTEFEEALELREE
TEERRBRLZRFHER =T
—N\E=ZA-+mBER BREZ

REHmHEEE —T—/\F=R =11

BT —F

(B HITEEEUELRE  BAHALTR
TR L ERBRRN R 2 RIS ek
RZE— N\FE=A-+HWBEEH &
KEZRBHEEE _E—N\F=A
“t+HAREH—F &

@) BUFPTEEQERLECR=E
—+E+ - AN\BEZTERERRI
TR AR AR (BRMASE : 1019 - HR
DB R AT ER ) 2B IENITE
=,

BEERBEN
ARARYEABREERRAFAG LEE
EIE 2 BRI AT A AR AR —F R
BERIECEERERIN ZRBEAK ©



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS x4

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly in any transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any its subsidiaries was party at the end of the Year or
at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions
Interests in shares of an associated corporation of the Company
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percentage
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Number the associated

of shares corporation
Name of interested 1R EE
Name of Directors Notes associated corporation Capacity BEERZ CERITRA
B Mz AAEEEER 54 RIEE BAED T
Ms. Lo Fong Hung 1 New Bright International Beneficial owner 3,000 (L) 30%
BFHIL Development Limited EREBA
(“New Bright”)
BB ERAR AR
(TEIE])
Mr. Wang Xiangdfei 2 New Bright Interest of spouse 3,000 (L) 30%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes:

1. Ms. Lo Fong Hung, an executive Director, is interested in 3,000 shares in
New Bright, representing 30% of the issued share capital of New Bright,
which currently owns 70% shareholding interests in China Sonangol
International Limited (“China Sonangol”). China Sonangol is the holding
company of Ascent Goal Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”), the
controlling shareholder of the Company. The shareholding interests of
Ascent Goal in the Company is set out in the section headed “Substantial
Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares” of this annual report.

2. Mr. Wang Xiangfei is the husband of Ms. Lo Fong Hung and is deemed to
be interested in 3,000 shares of New Bright under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, neither the Directors
nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate at any time during the Year or at the end of the
Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Group has not adopted any share option scheme during the
Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHARESHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 March 2018, the following persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the

register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company

FERRARORAEBERD 2 E&
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Approximate
percentage
of the total

number
of issued
shares of the
Company
Total number (Note 6)
Number of of shares HEAT
underlying and underlying BT
Number of  shares held shares held BRip g
Name of Shareholders Notes  Nature of interest shares held FrisiaE iR R BHNEIE
REREBHE M EENE FrsiRH8E ROEHE HEROGEH (FzEe)
Ascent Goal 1,4 Beneficial owner 569,616,589  1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
=12 ERBAA
China Sonangol 2,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
LB corporation
RIEEE
New Bright 2,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000  1,569,616,589 205.08%
s corporation
RImEE R
Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica 3,4 Interests of controlled 569,616,589  1,000,000,000 1,569,616,589 205.08%
B+ corporation
AR R
Mr. Lev Leviev ) Beneficial owner 1,000,000 — 1,000,000 0.13%
Lev LevieviE A& E=EAA
5 Interests of controlled 66,542,000 - 66,542,000 8.69%

corporation
REEE 2 #5
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SUBSTANTIAL SHARESHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Long positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company
(continued)
Notes:

1. Ascent Goal was directly interested in 569,616,589 shares and further
1,000,000,000 underlying shares which may be fully allotted and issued
if the Convertible Bond are converted at the conversion price of HK$0.20
per share. These 1,569,616,589 shares were held by Ascent Goal directly
as beneficial owner. It includes (i) interests in 569,616,589 shares and (ii)
the Convertible Bond giving rise to an interest in 1,000,000,000 underlying
shares.

2. Since Ascent Goal is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Sonangol which
is beneficially owned as to 70% by New Bright, the interests of Ascent Goal
is deemed to be the interests of China Sonangol and in turn the interests of
New Bright under the SFO.

3. Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan Veronica is deemed to have interests in the shares
and underlying shares through her 70% interests in New Bright.

4, The 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares under the
Convertible Bond represent approximately 74.42% and approximately
130.66% of the total number of issued shares of the Company respectively,
thus the total of 569,616,589 shares and 1,000,000,000 underlying shares
represent approximately 205.08% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company. The conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond will
not be exercised and the Company will not issue the conversion shares if,
immediately following the conversion, the Company would be unable to
meet the public float requirement under the Listing Rules.

5. For the shares held by Mr. Lev Leviev, of these shares, 37,580,000 shares
were held by Africa Israel Investments Ltd., a company controlled by Mr.
Lev Leviev through his approximately 48.13% interests in Africa Israel
Investments Ltd.; 28,962,000 shares were held by Memorand Management
(1998) Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Lev Leviev through his 100%
interests in Memorand Ltd. which holds 100% interest in Memorand
Management (1998) Ltd.; and 1,000,000 shares were held by Mr. Lev
Leviev directly.

6. The approximate percentage of shareholdings is based on 765,373,584
shares as at 31 March 2018, not the enlarged number of issued shares of
the Company upon full conversion of the Convertible Bond.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” above), who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS x4

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
No Director had interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules, during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on the information that
is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, over 25% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company is held by the public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by Mazars CPA Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars
CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Kwan Man Fai
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 20 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nan Nan
Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 206, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2018,
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &3 & B iR &

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &3 & B iR &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on coal mines related non-current

assets

Refer to significant accounting policy in Note 2(j), critical accounting
estimate and judgement in Notes 4(a), (b), (c) and Notes 14 and 15

to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
HRELEHE

FRELSEGE)
SRR B3 T B R AT

FL2HETEeHBRMEL) - BRetE
=R HIETHEEE4() ~ ()~ (O) A RAF A BT TSR
RMIEE145%15 o

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Bz ERNMEEZEE

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had various property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets in the
People’s Republic of China with carrying amounts
of approximately HK$9,166,000 and approximately
HK$23,095,000 respectively.

In view of expected capital expenditure to be incurred
for environmental protection remedial works, the
management identified the existence of an impairment
indication on certain coal mines related non-current
assets. The management engaged an independent valuer
(the “Valuer”) to assess the value-in-use of coal mines
related non-current assets. The impairment assessment
involves the management’s estimates in certain areas
including the discount rate and the underlying cash flow
projection based on future market supply and demand
conditions. Any changes in the management’s estimates
may result in significant financial impact to the Group.

We have identified the impairment assessment on coal
mines related non-current assets as a key audit matter
due to significant estimates made by management
in determining the recoverable amounts of the
corresponding cash-generating unit using discounted
cash flow method.

As set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of approximately
HK$3,511,000 and HK$12,618,000, respectively, were
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
March 2018.

Our key procedures in relation to the Valuer’s valuation
on coal mines related non-current assets included:

a) evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer engaged by the
management to assess the value-in-use of coal
mines related non-current assets;

b)  assessed the valuation methodologies adopted in
the valuation with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

C) challenged the suitability of the source data as the
basis for the valuation by comparing key financial
information in the source data with the financial
statements and operational forecast approved by
the management;

d)  challenged the key assumptions underlying the
operational forecasts by comparison with historical
financial performance together with market and
other externally available information;

e) assessed the discount rates applied in the cash
flow forecasts, by benchmarking against those of
similar companies in the markets; and

f) re-performed the management’s calculations of
the sensitivity of the key assumptions adopted in
the cash flow forecasts and considered possible
management bias in the selection of assumptions.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment on coal mines related non-current

assets (continued)
Key Audit Matter
BREZEE

FRELSEGE)
SR AR B 3 0 LR A A ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRAZERNAEEZEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &3 & B iR &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of convertible bond designated as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (the “Convertible Bond”)

FRELSEGE)
fEEAEATHEIRE ARENREZ &M
B TR ES ((THRBES ) 2

Refer to significant accounting policy in Note 2(f), critical accounting 528 T E@ BRI F20) - B eHE

estimate and judgement in Note 4(d) and Note 25 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
HRELEHE

5 BRI A M R AR & B B B R B
25 ¢

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Bz ERNAREZEE

As at 31 March 2018, the fair value of the Convertible
Bond was approximately HK$247,242,000.

The management has engaged the Valuer to estimate
the fair value of the Convertible Bond as at 31 March
2018.

We have identified the valuation of the Convertible
Bond as a key audit matter due to the valuation of the
Convertible Bond and the related disclosures require
market data and modelling techniques which rely on a
range of inputs. Where observable market data are not
available, or where instruments are not liquid, estimates
must be developed based on the most appropriate
source data. These estimates are subject to significant
judgement. In addition, we have identified the disclosure
of the fair value of the Convertible Bond in the fair value
hierarchy as an area of focus. Besides, the recognition
and measurement of the Convertible Bond involved
significant judgement and estimates by the management.
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Our key procedures in relation to the Valuer’s valuation of
the Convertible Bond included:

(@ evaluated the Valuer’s competence, capabilities
and objectivity;

(b) assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology, and assessed the reasonableness
of the key inputs used by the Valuer and agreed by
the management including the discount rate and
share price; and

(c) evaluated the sensitivity analysis performed by the
Valuer in relation to the fluctuation on the discount
rate and share price of the Company’s shares.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in this annual report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &3 & B iR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &3 & B iR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &3 & B iR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 20 June 2018

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: PO5510
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GRRRREMRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z-—N\F=ZA=+—HLFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other revenue
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative and
other operating expenses
Exchange gain/(loss),net
Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Finance costs
Change in fair value and loss arising
from modification of convertible
bond designated as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
[tem that maybe reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange difference on translation
of functional currency to
presentation currency

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year, net of nil tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company

Total comprehensive income
for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company

Earnings/(Loss) per share
(expressed in Hong Kong cents)
— Basic

— Diluted

Yegs
SHE AR

E7

H A Yoz
HERDHER
TR REMEEER

b 5 e (8518 )58
eI G

B EEE
BIEERERE

BE A

YT RN THED R
WHEBHARIE
TRB A ATRRES
ZRFEZEE N
giﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiz

518

B 7 Bl Al
PSR

FR A

Hi2EBA(BE)
HIZTREEH D RS
#Ba AR ¢
BENEEE S
2INEEZEREEE

FAEMEEEA
(B18) - FREIA
FAZEMRALE

BAT A BEA 4 PO
—RATEE A

AT ALRIGEFER
EERALEE
—AREFEEA

FhaN, (&E)

(AEALZ31)
— &K

—8%

The notes on pages 100 to 206 form an integral part of these

financial statements.

2018 2017
—B-N\& Tt

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BisE FH&T BT
6 182,445 73,024
(130,398) (48,426)

52,047 24,598

7 6,332 9,943
@14) (733)
(22,456) (20,755)
8,866 (11,490)

14 3,511) -
15 (12,618) -
- (176)

25 14,374 56,034
9 42,620 57,421
10 (5,942) (9,154)
36,678 48,267
13,671 (5,787)
13,671 (5,787)

50,349 42,480

36,678 48,267

50,349 42,480

12 4.79 6.31
12 (0.07) 0.65

SIE N F 1002206 B 2 iR F ] 75

HRZ2 B -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e P IARR R

As at 31 March 2018
R-ZB-N\F=A=+—AH

2018 2017
—E-)N\EF S
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE FET T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - RS SRR 14 9,166 11,070
Intangible assets |V EE 15 23,095 37,787
Goodwill BHa 16 - -
Security deposit RFBIRS 17 5,048 4,601
Non-refundable deposits PARERS 20 2,604 -
Deferred tax assets RERHIRE = 27 1,940 -
41,853 53,458
Current assets RBEE
Inventories =g 19 7,221 50,923
Trade and other receivables JEUE R
HAb YRR 20 4,209 12,517
Cash and cash equivalents BehIBEeEEER 22 440,437 331,606
451,867 395,046
Current liabilities RBas
Trade and other payables ENRER &
HEAtbfERTFRIE 23 69,798 56,524
Tax payable FERTERIR 7,890 4,278
(77,688) (60,802)
Net current assets REBEESE 374,179 334,244
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER 416,032 387,702

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION %R & B #& iR R &

As at 31 March 2018
R-ZEB-N\E=A=+—H

2018 2017
—2-N\F —FtF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B R FERT T

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Non-current liabilities
Convertible bond designated as
financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Provision for close down, restoration
and environmental costs
Deferred tax liabilities

Approved and authorised for issue by board of directors on 20 June

2018 and signed on its behalf by

Kwan Man Fai

B

Director

EF

The notes on pages 100 to 206 form an integral part of these

financial statements.

MRAS K fk
[EEN
8

RARER ARG RS

FRBEE

BT RN HEDRR
WHEERNEEZ
TRBE AR
(EE2
BAR - BB K
RIS
EREHRRAE

24 76,537 76,537
89,179 38,830

165,716 115,367

25 247,242 261,616
26 3,074 2,802
27 - 7,917
250,316 272,335

416,032 387,702

R-F—\FRA-tHHEFSHERE
T WHNTALTRERER

Wang Xiangfei
EXEH

Director

EF

FIEMNE100£ 206 B 2 M it im sz F 7%
HR2 B -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEREREER
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z-—N\F=ZA=+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN 1PN 3
Exchange
Share Share Capital Statuory translation Special - Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserves reserve reserve losses Total
Bx  ROEE  ERRE  iERE 0 EXRE  NABE  RHER g
(Note 24 aff)  (Note 24 affl)  (Note 24 fii)) ~ (Note 24 afiv))  (Note 24 afy))
(Wixodaf) (Wskoaa() (Wiodafi) (Meda(y) (HEdan)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T Fitn Thn T Fir Tin Tt T
Asat 1 Aprl 2016 RZF-EMA-A 76,537 191,534 14,882 14,730 12,026 27,143 264,165) 72,881
Proft for the year ERE - - - - - - 48267 48267
Total other comprehensive  Eft2 EEEAE
loss:
Item that maybe reclassified  E#T# EHAEE
subsequently to profit or loss  £25.2 5
Exchange difrenceon  HBINEEHA
translation of functional ZIIRHIERER
currency to presentation
currency - - - - (5,787) - - (5,787)
Total comprehensive income  FR2ENALE
for the year - - - - (6,787) - 48,267 42,480
Transactions with owners:  EFEAETRS
Aopropriation of statutory  EEREZ AR
reserve - - - 1,868 - - (1,868) -
Appropriation for BEREEES AR
maintenance and
production funds - - - 25,935 - - (25,939) -
Utlisation of maintenence ~ #ERAELL 7 8F
and production funds - - - (25,935) - - 25,935 -
As at 31 March 2017 i g
Zh=t-H 76,537 191,534 14,882 16,598 6,439 27,143 (217,766) 115,367

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #GR&#ESE B X ‘,

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALRRAAEL
Exchange
Share Share Capital Statuory  translation Special - Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserves reserve reserve losses Total

Bx ROEE  ERRE  iRRE  EXRE  NABE  RHER ag
(Note 24af))  (Note 24afi)) (Note 24 afii)) ~ (Note 24 afiv))  (Note 24 afy))
(Wikda() (Wkoaa() (Hosafi) (Wekoda() (H24a())

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

T Fitn T T Tir Thn Tt T

Asat 1 April 2017 R=E—+ENA-A 76,537 191,634 14,882 16,598 6,439 27,143 (217,766) 115,367
Profit for the year FRET - - - - - - 36,678 36,678
Total other comprehensive i 2 F AL :

income:

Item that maybe reclassifed  EAT#E# A EZ
subsequently to profit or loss 2.2 B4

Exchange diferenceon A EThR & A
translation of functional ZJIRHIERES
currency to presentation

currency - - - - 13,671 - - 13,671
Total comprehensive income  FR2ENALE
for the year - - - - 13,671 - 36,678 50,349

Transactions with owners:  EEEAERZRS !
Aopropriation of statutory  EE R AR

reserve - - - 3,826 - - (3,826) -
Appropriation for BEREEES AR

maintenance and

production funds - - - 28017 - - (28,017) -
Utlisation of maintenence £ RAEES 2B

and production funds - - - (28,017) - - 28,017 -

Asat 31 March 2018 RoE-N\E
=A=1+-H 76,537 191534 14,882 20,424 20,110 7143 (184914) 165,716

The notes on pages 100 to 206 form an integral part of these  FIE R E100E 206 B ~ M s A 5% F 01 75
financial statements. k2 —HbD o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN =
HMEETRER
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z-—N\F=ZA=+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F S
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BfaE FEx FAET
Operating activities R
Profit before tax BT AT & 42,620 57,421
Adjustments for: BT3B B EFE
Depreciation of property, plant and L E =N
equipment BETE 3,022 3,501
Amortisation of intangible assets BB Y
which was included in “cost of sales” (T AItEERA]) 5,478 1,598
Impairment loss on property, LE =N
plant and equipment REREBE 3,511 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets B AERERRE 12,618 -
Accretion expense EIEFAT = 176
Change in fair value and loss arising EEAEATEYER
from modification of convertible WIEEENEIE Y
bond designated at fair value AR ESF 2 A
through profit or loss BE) REFTAR
REFEE 2 B (14,374) (56,034)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BER
plant and equipment Btz EE 132 -
Exchange difference i 5 =5 (22,090) 19,318
Interest income el A (4,322 (2,822)
Operating cash flow before EEESRBAIZ
movements in working capital KEEESHRE 26,595 23,158
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERAL,(3EmMm) 47,918 (5,573)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other JFE LS 0 K L A JE AR
receivables BRA (35 0) 9,868 (10,489)
Increase in trade and other payables B E RN E A
FERTFRIEIE AN 1,524 7,279
Cash generated from operations REEBHBRS 85,905 14,375
Income tax paid BAFTSH (13,025) (6,421)
Net cash generated from operating REXBABRELFE
activities 72,880 7,954

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS &4 S hak

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Payment of non-refundable deposits

Non-refundable deposits received

Increase in security deposit

Interest received

Net cash generated from investing
activities

Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect on foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year, represented by bank
balances and cash

REXK
BEYE  BELEE

HEME - BER
RIGFTSHIR
SN ARERS
ERNARER S
RIS T IR

EHFLE

REXBRERESFR

RERBEEEBAZ

12 R

FANZHRER
RE&%EER

fERFa s &
FRZESRE®

EEERE  T2R
ROTEEFRRE

The notes on pages 100 to 206 form an integral part of these

financial statements.

2018 2017

—z- N5 L

Notes HK$000 HK$'000
BisE FHET BT
(4,167) (405)

93 -

(2,604) -

6,075 -

- (351)

4,322 2,802

3,719 2,066

76,599 10,020

331,606 343,587
32,232 (22,001)

440,437 331,606

FIE N E100E 206 B 2 TR Z E I

HEz 55 -
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GENERAL

Nan Nan Resources Enterprise Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, its parent
company is Ascent Goal Investments Limited (“Ascent Goal”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) with
limited liability and its ultimate holding company is New Bright
International Development Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability. Its ultimate controlling party is
Ms. Fung Yuen Kwan, Veronica. These entities do not produce
financial statements available for public use.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2018 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”).

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (‘RMB”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") for the convenience of the shareholders as
the Company is listed in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
subsidiaries of the Company are principally engaged in mining
and sales of coal. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z-—N\F=ZA=+—HLFE

—REHR
HEEREXARARTARA DR
BREZMAR LA HEREERA
A e ARBIRNERTEHARHME
RARI(TBRM]) LT - KARBES
R HERARRRBRAEE
((RBRAZEE D EAMKI2ERA
AEEREBRAR(TERE]) - MHE
RERZERABRAREBEMALLZ
BERARIENEERERBR AR - &
REEHTRBMBELL - 2EEE
WARREAIHARER 2 ERE

ARREMPEEREZLEX MBI
WIS WBER F R AR ER—E0

BHE_Z-/\F=A=+—HILFE
ZRAMBEHRREEARR] R ENE
AR (e AKE]) -

ARAZYEEER/RARE(TAR
%)  ARARBREE LT - KA
BRER  HZAPBHERRABT(E
TTE5 -

KRB RBREERRF « ARTEZH
BRARZEEXZB /KRR KH
S HMBRARZEEXBHNEGS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B8 3R & Mi s ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in the 2017 consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year as detailed in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out
below.

TEETEER

BREN
ZERAMBHRREBREFTEM R
EEAN(TEEHBHHELEN ] - BHEH
ARG AG([EEGHMAE])
Bz FrEERZ BN BB BRE
Q- EEEEA([FBGE
Al R2kg) BErR e RAINE
BRI Z WBERERE - ZFLR
EUMBRRTETEERERSMA
RARES EMARA( EWRAN] Z
ERBEMRE

BRBEREN  MBEBBEHNER
R TRIE -

BRERANAR S B IS SRR MY SES AT R i B R
EERBYNAEZERZFTE
BRI BB EMELAIN - ZFLEE
PEBRRERBEER - —+FLEH
BHREMFENZ T BR — Bz EE
RE - NEBRMNZERNS R
ZHFAT o

Annual Report 2018 £

101



102

4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Basis of measurement
The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair value
as explained in the accounting policies set out below. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange of goods and services.

a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from

its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are

changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

TEETEHRE)

e
BE TS RI AN T XU B iR
BATEHEN  REGAMBER
TYDARE SRR SRR o B SR A —
RIS & BRI TS TR E 2 A
FEEE -

a) HFARBEEE
RAPBRRBEARAARK
RAEAINEMEA TT%ZE
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EERZE 0 R Rkl
R R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

2.

EFEEHHER(R)
a) RalRE£E(E)

BB BUS EH B QB A
- BIRZIMB A RERA AR
EARKBERELHIB R B 212
- AR IEBZIE ARG

B ARRME - FRKBHLE
MBARZWARFEENA
SEMSEHIEE QBT ARE
BEakEtE2EKER  BEEA
SETERHZMBEARERR
1F e

Bam Rk EMEERASTD R
BRAREEE ANIEEBE
& - MBARZ 2HRARER
BRARAGEE ANIEZE R
o BB RS S HORE RS
HIR B AL A AR o

RIAERS - KB A B 2%
WRIEL AR - EEEFBERA
AEBFMERERE - -

MEEEARREAZEERE
& #E - WA X EAEE
RERARIRARZ 2R REHR
fra AR B8 o

AEERREMBLR ZHEFHE
BEEE
REENREMBERR AR
RSP EBEEHAKTERE
HBERBMEAT 2T’ - AR
B H A - NEBEDKIF
R s 2 BREEF LR - A
RERE RN B ARz iE RS
B o RIS ED R WK
EBAFEZHAZENZEEER
BEER - YRBRARRHES
Ao
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of fair value
of the onsideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which
is presented within these notes, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see
Note 2())), unless the investment is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale).

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

b)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Incomes Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date; and

2.

TEETEHRE)

b)

XBEEH

WEXBAMBEARR - B4
PHRTEEREUATEE -
ZATHERANEEMEREE -
REBERKIB T A HE AFE
R BN RAREE R R U
JT BRI T IR A R s A U
BHz A HEAMGE - WEA
R AR — AR EE A RS TR 1R 28 A T

e

BB A AR BRIEE
KRATEREABHEAE AT ERE
B AT SIERRSID -

- EEMBEEEXAENE
EERNZHEMZEE
SBENDORIRERES
FHEREA2RAEH RE
BEFERE19REERE
MR KETE

—  ERWET ARG SER
SN R/ RE WS
T AR D mER N 2 5k
MR 32 7N 55 B DA B AR /%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} 7 sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE=-T—

NEZF=+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

b)

Business combinations (continued)

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to its fair value at the acquisition date
(i.e. the date when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

b)

c)

Business combinations (continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored
for internal management purpose and not larger than an
operating segment or group of cash-generating units.

A cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising from an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of the reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill, and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units). Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in the profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} 7 sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE=-T—

NEZF=+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

d)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on
a prospective basis.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses and is amortised
based on the units of production method utilising only
recoverable coal reserves as the depletion base.

Exploration right

Exploration right is stated at cost less impairment losses.
Cost of the exploration right is transferred to mining right
upon the government’s approval of the mining license
and the commencement of the mining activities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #3R &R Mzt
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

d) Intangible assets (continued)
Exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets comprise costs
which are directly attributable to the search for mineral
resources, the determination of technical feasibility and
the assessment of commercial viability of an identified
resource:

- researching and analysing historical exploration
data;

- gathering exploration data through topographical,
geochemical and geophysical studies;
- exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;

- determining and examining the volume and grade
of the resource;

- surveying transportation and infrastructure
requirements; and

- conducting market and finance studies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

d)

Intangible assets (continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets (continued)
Expenditure during the initial exploration preparation
stage of a project is charged to profit or loss as incurred.
Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of
acquiring licenses, are capitalised as exploration and
evaluation assets on a project-by-project basis pending
determination of the technical feasibility and commercial
viability of the project.

Once the final feasibility study has been completed and
a development decision has been taken, accumulated
capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditures in
respect of an area of interest are transferred to property,
plant and equipment. In circumstances when an area of
interest is abandoned or management decides it is not
commercially viable, any accumulated costs in respect
of that area are written off in the period the decision is
made.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
and building held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any
(see Note 2())).

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE=-T—

NEZF=+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

e)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are expensed in profit or
loss during the period in which they are incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments other than those financial
assets classified as at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
f) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° It has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

° the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
f) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including security deposit, trade
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group
entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities at FV'TPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

- it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

- on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

2.

FESBER(E)

) &SRIEHE
cREaERREIR(E
HETA

BT ASEAREREMGRE
B RER 2 EET MRS
ZEAIBH) o REEBEITZRHE
TARHBERRITRAERRE
WIS SRIRRERR ©

ARRIFBERERG ZBETA
RIEZAER R EZH - AR
AIREE - HE - BITHEEHEN
FzBRETAY AER 8 HER
Yzask/EiE o

K FAESRR I 1R s B FEZ
AR

ECRABAFHFEREIEER
BAFEINRL AR DN R E
B ZSeRAEIERRAT
BIRYAEBREANREZ CRE

f&

WA ATRE - XRASRAE

DERREES

- HBAEZETEBEEMNARST
AFEREBE - 3K

- RPERER/AEES
REEZEHEMNERTA
MeEZz—8n - miTHd
RN s BREX
B4

-  RIUFEEMFERER
HHTEZITETR -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

- the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

- it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (assets or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excluded any interest paid on the financial liability.
Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables is subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE=-T—

NEZF=+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest
basis other than financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL.

Convertible bond
Convertible bond designated as financial liabilities at
FVTPL

Convertible bond issued by the Group (including related
embedded derivatives) is designated as financial liabilities
at FVTPL on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the entire convertible bond is measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} 7 sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE=-T—

NEZF=+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

f)

9)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognsied in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its
entirety, the Group allocates the previous carrying
amount of the financial asset between the part it
continues to recognise under continuing involvement,
and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of
the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the
transfer. The difference between the carrying amount
allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part no longer
recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated
to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is allocated between the part that continues to
be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised
on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognsied and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE=-T—

NEZF=+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

9)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Provision for close down, restoration and
environmental costs

One consequence of coal mining is land subsidence
caused by the resettlement of the land at the mining
sites. Depending on the circumstances, the Group
may relocate inhabitants from the mining sites prior
to conducting mining activities or the Group may
compensate the inhabitants for losses or damage from
close down and land subsidence after the sites have
been mined. The Group may also be required to make
payments for restoration, rehabilitation or environmental
protection of the land after the sites have been mined.

Close down and restoration costs include the dismantling
and demolition of infrastructure and the removal of
residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas.
Close down and restoration costs are provided in the
accounting period when the obligation arising from the
related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs during
mine development or during the production phase,
based on the net present value of estimated future
costs. The cost is capitalised where it gives rise to future
benefits, whether the rehabilitation activity is expected to
occur over the life of the operation or at the time of close
down. The capitalised cost is amortised over the life of
the operation and the increase in the net present value of
the provision is included in borrowing costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

9)

h)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Provision for close down, restoration and
environmental costs (continued)

Where there is a change in the expected
decommissioning and restoration costs, an adjustment
is recorded against the carrying value of the provision
and related assets, and the effect is then recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on a prospective basis
over the remaining life of the operation. Provisions for
close down and restoration costs do not include any
additional obligations which are expected to arise from
future disturbance. The cost estimates are reviewed
and revised at the end of the reporting period to reflect
changes in conditions.

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs
of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

i)

)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

Impairment of assets

i) Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables
Investments in equity securities and other current
and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; and

= significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
i Impairment of assets (continued)

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

- For trade and other receivables, the
impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.,
the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets), where the effect
of discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where these financial
assets share similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and have
not been individually assessed as impaired.
Future cash flows for financial assets which
are assessed for impairment collectively are
based on historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an
impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
i Impairment of assets (continued)

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade and other receivables, whose recovery is
considered doubtful but not remote. In this case,
the impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off
against trade and other receivables directly and
any amounts held in the allowance account relating
to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account
and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- intangible assets; and
- investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s

statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

i Impairment of assets (continued)
ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e., a cash-generating
unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwiill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value-in-use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
i Impairment of assets (continued)
ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)
- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

iii)  Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
The carrying amount of the exploration and
evaluation assets is reviewed at least annually
and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired. Impairment test is performed in
accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”
whenever one of the following events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable (the list is not exhaustive):

- The period for which the entity has the right
to explore in the specific area has expired
during the period or will expire in the near
future, and is not expected to be renewed;

- Substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area is neither
budgeted nor planned;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

)

k)

Impairment of assets (continued)
i)  Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
(continued)

Exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area have not led
to the discovery of commercially viable
quantities of mineral resources and the entity
has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

Sufficient data exist to indicate that, although
a development in the specific area is likely
to proceed, the carrying amount of the
exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely
to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised when the

account can be reliably measured: when it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and

when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities as described below.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised on the

transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which

generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered to customers and the title has passed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

k)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
timely basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Share-based payment

Share options granted by the Company to directors
and employees of the Company

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the date of grant and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} 7 sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE=-T—

NEZF=+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

m)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

m)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in
the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

m)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BEZ

—N\F=ZA=t+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

n)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than
the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise except for exchange differences
on monetary items receivable from or payable to
a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of
the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case, the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of exchange translation reserve (attributing
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

n)

0)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of
whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases, with the following exceptions:

- property held under operating leases that
would otherwise meet the definition of
an investment property is classified as an
investment property on a property-by-
property basis and, if classified as investment
property, is accounted for as if held under a
finance lease; and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
0) Leased assets (continued)

i)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

(continued)

- land held for own use under an operating
lease, the fair value of which cannot be
measured separately from the fair value of
a building situated thereon at the inception
of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is
also clearly held under an operating lease.
For these purposes, the inception of the
lease is the time that the lease was first
entered into by the Group, or taken over from
the previous lessee.

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets
under finance leases, the amounts representing
the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the
present value of the minimum lease payments, of
such assets are included in property, plant and
equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net
of finance charges, are recorded as obligations
under finance leases. Depreciation is provided at
rates which write off the cost of the assets over the
term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the
Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of
the asset. Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as set out in
Note 2(j) to the consolidated financial statements.
Finance charges implicit in the lease payments
are charged to profit or loss over the period of the
leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance
of the obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
0) Leased assets (continued)

ii)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives
received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property
is classified as an investment property.

p) Employee benefits

i)

i)

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the period in which the associated
services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement scheme in Hong Kong are
recognised as expense in profit or loss as incurred.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group’s entities established in Hong
Kong in an independently administered fund.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

p)

qa)

Employee benefits (continued)

ii) Defined contribution plans (continued)
In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the
employees of the Group’s entities established
in the PRC are required to participate in defined
contribution retirement plans organised by local
governments. Contributions to those plans are
expensed as incurred and other than these
monthly contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement benefits to
its employees.

iii)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
r) Related parties
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the holding
company of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

NEZF=+—HLFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
r) Related parties (continued)

(continued)

(b)

v)

Vi)

il

vii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a holding company of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to holding
company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(@)

that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

dependants of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

s)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s executive directors for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new/
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which are effective for
the current financial reporting period.

Amendments to HKAS 7: Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require entities to provide disclosures that
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
The adoption of the amendments results in the additional
disclosures in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses

The amendments clarify, among others, how to account for
deferred tax assets related to debt instruments measured at
fair value. The adoption of the amendments did not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle: HKFRS 12 -
Clarification of the scope

The amendments clarify that except for the summarised
financial information for subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in which the interests are classified or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale in accordance
with HKFRS 5, the requirements of HKFRS 12 apply to
interests in entities within the scope of HKFRS 5. The adoption
of the amendments did not have any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

The possible impacts of new/revised HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA but not yet effective for the current financial reporting
period are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B8 3R & Mi s ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

a) Reserve estimates

Reserves are estimates of the amount of products that
can be economically and legally extracted from the
Group’s coal reserves. In order to calculate reserves,
estimates and assumptions are required about a range
of geological, technical and economic factors, including
quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates,
production costs, transport costs, commodity demand
and commodity prices. Estimating the quantity and/or
grade of reserves requires the size, shape and depth
of ore bodies or fields to be determined by analysing
geological data such as drilling samples. This process
may require complex and difficult geological judgements
and calculations to interpret the data.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Reserve estimates (continued)
Because the economic assumptions used to estimate
reserves change from period to period, and because
additional geological data is generated during the course
of operations, estimates of reserves may change from
period to period. Changes in reported reserves may
affect the Group’s financial results and financial position
in a number of ways, including the following:

a)

i)

Asset carrying values may be affected due to
changes in estimated future cash flows.

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged
to the profit or loss may change where such
charges are determined by the units of production
basis, or where the useful economic lives of assets
change.

Decommissioning, site restoration and
environmental provisions may change where
changes in estimated reserves affect expectations
about the timing or cost of these activities.

The carrying value of deferred tax may change as
a result of changes in the asset carrying values as
discussed above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} 7 sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

b) Carrying value of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets
The Group’s property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (exclude exploration and evaluation
assets classified as intangible assets) are carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation and amortisation and
impairment losses, where appropriate. These carrying
amounts are reviewed for impairment whenever internal
and external sources of information indicate that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use. In estimating the
recoverable amounts of assets, various assumptions,
including future cash flows to be associated with the
non-current assets and discount rates, are made. If
future events do not correspond to such assumptions,
the recoverable amounts will need to be revised, and this
may have an impact on the Group’s results of operations
or financial position. The impairment assessment of the
Group’s mining right and exploration and evaluation
assets included in intangible assets is further discussed
below.

BASE S ot H i R 5t R B BA
EZ2FERR(E)

EFFAAERZ EZRIER(H

b) WX BERIKEBEURELEE
REE
REEZYFE -~ BB MBI R
BYEE(TEREIERELE
B2 IR MR B B ) IR AR
Rt E fEH R ER R (1
M) o A B RINTER
KRBT REER fe AR
g% FHE CREESS
HBERE - FEEREERBE
AU El SRR - S REERER
REEE - AIKEERAEER
FEBREEXASERBEE IR
BE - AT EEZATNE S
FEHZIARR - BREERD)
BEABIARRSRE KRR
oo i RREBEHEZFBRD
oAl meREEHEEELE
7l BRI AR EARE 2K
BEERPINR - sEABTE
2 NG B BRAR R DA M B BRI 5
HEE - HREFHEN T OE—

Annual Report 2018 £

143



144

4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

c) Impairment of mining right and exploration and
evaluation assets
The Group assesses each cash generating unit annually
to determine whether any indication of impairment
exists, which included internal and external sources of
information for mining right, and facts and circumstances
for exploration and evaluation assets. Where an indicator
of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable
amount is made, which is considered to be the higher
of the fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-
use. These assessments require the use of estimates
and assumptions such as long-term commodity prices,
discount rates, future capital requirements, exploration
potential and operating performance. It is difficult to
precisely estimate fair value because quoted market
prices are not readily available. In determining the value-
in-use, expected cash flows generated by the asset
are discounted to their present value, which require
significant judgement and estimates such as sale volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs. The directors
of the Company have assessed its cash generating units
as being an individual mine site, which is the lowest level
for which cash flows are largely independent of other
assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

d)  Fair value measurements and valuation process
The Group’s convertible bond is measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The directors of the
Company have to determine the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuer to perform
the valuation. The directors of the Company work
closely with the qualified external valuer to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments.
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements provide
detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of
the fair value of various assets and liabilities.

Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

e)  Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The directors of the Company determine the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. The directors of the Company
will increase the depreciation charges where useful lives
are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write off
or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold.

f) Write down of inventories

The directors of the Company review the ageing analysis
of inventories at the end of each reporting period, and
makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items identified that are no longer suitable for use in
production or sales. The directors of the Company
estimate the net realisable value for consumables and
coals based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. The Group carries out an
inventory review on a item-by-item basis at the end of
each reporting period and makes allowance for obsolete
items.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

g) Provision for close down, restoration and environmental
costs
The provision for close down, restoration and
environmental costs is determined by the directors
of the Company based on their past experience and
best estimation of future expenditures, after taking
into account existing relevant in the PRC regulations.
However, in so far as the effect on the land and the
environment from current mining activities becomes
apparent in future years, the estimate of the associated
costs may be subject to revision from time to time.

h)  Recognition of deferred tax assets

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets which
arose from deductible temporary differences as set out
in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. The
realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether it is probable that future taxable profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available against which
the assets can be utilised. In cases where the actual
future taxable profits or taxable temporary differences
generated are less than expected, a reversal of deferred
tax assets may arise, which will be recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which such reversal takes place.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a)

b)

Categories of financial instruments

5.

E@THR
a) LBMIAEHES

Loans and receivables (including

cash and cash equivalents) WeHEER)

ERMEERIE(BERE R

Financial liabilities at amortised cost IZE#EK A EZ SR A G

Financial liabilities designated at
FVTPL

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include security
deposit, trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables and convertible
bond. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The directors of the Company manage and
monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

i) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency expenditures, which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk. The Group does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
directors of the Company monitor foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE_Z-)\F=A=+—-HLFE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

i) Currency risk (continued)
Certain receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
payables, security deposit and convertible bond
of the Group are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the group entity to
which they relate.

The following table shows the Group’s exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency
risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate.

5.

ERMTE(E)
b) EAMEREEEEREK (R

Assets
Liabilities

& (4R

AEBEETRKHR - 3R
ehBELEEER - BN
PR~ RERE AR
BHFOUEEER AW
B AN EHEFHE -

TRETAEERNRE B
) 4 R (R 2 BE R A MR
BERIEEEUIINZEE
AHEZEERAEBMES
ZEHRR -

2018 2017
—EB-)N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
155,044 164,158
(248,388) (262,819)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

i)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign
currency risk of HKS.

The following table details the group entities’
sensitivity to a 10% (2017: 5%) increase and
decrease in HK$ against each group entity’s
functional currency. 10% (2017: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 10% (2017: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. A negative
number below indicates a decrease in profit for
the year and increase in accumulated losses of
the Group where each group entity’s functional
currency weaken 10% (2017: 5%) against HK$.
Fora 10% (2017: 5%) strengthening of each group
entity’s functional currency against HK$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact.

5.

ERMTE(E)
b) EAMEREEEEREK (R
) AR
FRE AT

Profit or loss and accumulated
losses
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BB 2 MBS LK
I 45 B 12 B SN B R AT
BEAIBEE) 2 AT o SR
EoERENINETHE
ZARBEEEBIEE - WK
ANEEFESR 2 10% (=2 —+
F 1 5%) EFHFBRFK
2HhE  EREEER
Thee &M 5B LB E10%
TE—+F 1 5%)F T
REBBERLAEEFRNG
IR R BET R BIE 0 -
MEEBERZINGEER
HABTTAEI0%(ZZE—+
F:5%) AL ER
SEYIRERZFE -

F ol

2018 2017
SS8Sd = ¢
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(9,334) (4,933)




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to bank balances and security deposit
carried at prevailing market rate. The Group has
not used any derivative contracts to hedge its
exposure to interest rate risk. The Group has not
formulated a policy to manage the interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2017: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s profit for the
year ended 31 March 2018 would increase and
accumulated losses as at the reporting date would
decrease by approximately HK$786,000 (2017:
approximately HK$1,681,000). This was mainly
attributable to the exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate bank balances of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

ii)

Equity price risk

The Group was required to estimate the fair value
of the convertible bond (see Note 25) at the end of
the reporting period with changes in fair value to
be recognised in the profit or loss. The fair value
adjustment would be affected either positively or
negatively, amongst others, by the changes in the
Company’s share market price.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below had been determined
based on the exposure to the Company’s
share price risk at the reporting date only. If the
Company’s share price had been 5% (2017: 5%)
higher and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year (as a
result of changes in fair value of convertible bond)
would decrease and accumulated losses would
increase by approximately HK$5,411,000 (2017:
approximately HK$7,692,000) during the year
ended 31 March 2018. If the input of share price to
the valuation model of the derivatives embedded
in the convertible bond had been 5% (2017: 5%)
lower while all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year (as a
result of changes in fair value of convertible bond)
would increase and accumulated losses would
decrease by approximately HK$6,697,000 (2017:
approximately HK$7,401,000) during the year
ended 31 March 2018.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

iv)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the directors of
the Company to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

5. ERMTAGE
B BB IR B R RER (4

b)

iv)

RBEEER

RERRBDESRARM
o AKREERIERSE
EMREFEBRARAR
REFEA/RIIKF
RARBEBREES
MARERENE 2 FE -

TEREFAKESHEE
R BDBIMA 2515 -
BRASNKIDERAEEA
RRAERCREBEH - R
BEMABIEHRMEA
Benemme o JIRH
BRHEREERERE °

Within ~ More than
1 year 1 year PATCEIS Total
oron butlessthan 0 undiscounted Carrying
demand PATELS Syears  cash flows amount
—Fps BB-F AEE  KERERS
EEX (EORWE it hEAH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
As at 31 March 2018 RZB-NE=f=1-H
Trade and other payables &R REMERNTE 21,954 - - 21,954 21,954
Convertible bond designated as 1% AR A A
financial iabilties at FVTPL TERHENGEL
ERABZARES - 200,000 - 200,000 247,242
21,954 200,000 - 221,954 269,196
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

ERIAE)
BT BB IR B AR RER ()

b)

iv)  Liquidity risk (continued) mEE SRR (E
Within More than
1 year 1 year 2 years Total
oron  butless than to  undiscounted Carrying
demand 2 years Syears  cashflows amount
—ERy BRF WE KBRS
EEX  BIRWEF Enf B8R e
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TEL TEL
As at 31 March 2017 R=B-tFZA=1-A
Trade and other payables &R RAMENE 22,078 - - 22,078 22,078
Convertible bond designated as 1% AIRA A
financial liabilties at FVTPL TERHENEEL
PHERZNERES - - 200,000 200,000 261,616
22,078 - 200,000 222,078 283,694
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

v)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company have delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end
of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds and structured
deposit is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer and counterparties rather than the
industry or country in which the customers and
counterparties operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers and counterparties. The
Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a wide range of
counterparties and customers.

5.

ERMTE(E)
b) EAFEMREEEERBK(H)

v)

EEE K
RZE—N\EFEER_ZFT—+F
FZA=1+—H AYF

R L e GAEE €
$l§§%$%ﬁzmﬁ
BB AR A B

%#ﬂ%%ﬂ%ﬁaﬁm
CREEZREE -

RREE R E &K
ARAREFEHEK—XE
5 AEBEEER &
HEERNTHOERE
Fr o BERERERBRETTEI
ElEMER - BH » A&
BEHBEEZEHRE
= AR AR 2 ATl
TR AR TR EZ
TRIFLRARERS -
Bt - ARBEZEAARAR
KB ZEERRD AERE
1K -

HREFHAREBKREE
SRS TREERNR
Zﬁﬁ’&ﬁﬁm@éi

REBUEERZEER
ﬁ@°
AREEFASZ ZZERR

TEXREPRHUFIZ
R R FRE - MIER
FREFHEEMEZIT
EHEF - FitEERR
SEEFZBERETERAK
SEEREP REFIT
AEBBREREFELE - K
SEYEBAEEARE
TZEE - RERoMRZ
2HEFHRER -

Annual Report 2018 £

155



156

<

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE=-T—

5.

NEZF=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

c)

Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2018 and
2017.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference
to the observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date.

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

The Group uses an independent valuer to perform
valuations of financial instruments which are categorised
into Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
Valuation reports with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement are prepared by the independent valuer at
each interim and annual reporting date, and are reviewed
and approved by the financial controller. Discussion
of the valuation process and results with the financial
controller is held twice a year to coincide with the
reporting dates.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

5.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf i3k &R Mzt
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @I E(E)
c) Fair value (continued) c) 2XFEE
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NEEER(E)

Fair value measurements categorised into
APEHEAE

Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

AVE £ E =R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TRT TRET TRET

As at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E

=A=t+—H
Recurring fair value REMATETE
measurements
Convertible bond B BRATEE
designated as financial ~ WHEBZRREE 2
liabilities at FVTPL TRIaEZ
AIARES 247,242 - - 247,242

Fair value measurements categorised into

RNFEENE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
NFE E— E_R F=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT FAT FAT
As at 31 March 2017 R-B—+&
=A=t-H
Recurring fair value REMATEFE
measurements
Convertible bond BT AR A THEY IR
designated as financial ~ WAEIBHEANERIE 2
liabilities at FVTPL ERAREY
AR ES 261,616 - - 261,616
During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, BE_ZT—N\FER-_ZT—+tF=
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or A=+—BLEFE  F—HHEE
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to T Mgt e - ol A 3R
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy HE=R - XEEZBEEAER
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur. R ERARSERSAEE AT
BEH EREER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
The fair value of the convertible bond is equal to the
summation of the fair value of the liability component
and conversion option component, calculated using
discounted cash flows and binomial model, respectively.
The assumptions adopted for the valuation of the
convertible bond are as follows:

c)

i)

the estimation of risk free rate has made reference
to the yield of government bonds and treasury bills
with same duration as the convertible bond;

the estimation of volatility for the underlying
share price has considered the historical price
movements of those companies engaged in similar
industry;

the discount rate was arrived at based on the
Company’s credit rating and select comparable
corporate bonds with similar maturity and credit
risk to derive the range of comparable yield to
maturity as of date of valuation and the median
range has been adopted; and

the estimation of dividend yield is based on
historical dividend payment of the Company.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

c)

5. R TR(H)

Fair value (continued) c) NAFE(E
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements FHAEZHRAFEA=ZER
(continued) (&
Major parameters adopted in the calculation of the fair FTEATEMRN EE280
value are summarised below: FEAT ¢
As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 14 March
2018 2017 2017
R=ZB—-N\E R=Z—tHF RKR=Z—+tHF
=A=+—H =A=+—H =A+mAB
Stock price (B HK$0.42 HK$0.48 HK$0.49
0.427& 7T 0.48/87T 0.4978 T
Exercise price ITIE(E HK$0.20 HK$0.20 HK$0.20
0.20/& T 0.20787T 0.2078 T
Risk free rate 2 [ [ I R 1.35% 1.07% 1.38%
Discount rate BHIR =& 7.62% 9.35% 9.43%
Dividend yield PSR 0% 0% 0%
Time to expiration FI AR 1.95 years 2.95 year 3 years
1.95%F 2.95% RE:S
Stock price volatility BN 65.46% 76.25% 75.97%

The significant unobservable input used in the fair value
measurement is expected stock price volatility. The
fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
expected stock price volatility. If the expected stock price
volatility has been 5% (2017: 5%) higher with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the year
would decrease and accumulated losses would increase
by approximately HK$597,000 (2017: approximately
HK$773,000) during the year ended 31 March 2018.
If the expected stock price volatility has been 5%
(2017: 5%) lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year would increase and
accumulated losses would decrease by approximately
HK$1,863,000 (2017: approximately HK$591,000) during
the year ended 31 March 2018.

AEEFEFAAZEATAE
Rig ABIE BTEHRERE -
AP A S ETERERIER L
RS o fin TEHARK (B R 18 A =5 5%
(ZZ—+%F :5%) MABE
2T \F=ZA=F+—HIF
BEZERBFERD - mReTE
185 18 i #9597,0008 T ( ==
—- 4 #9773,0005% 7T) °
TEERERRFARS % (=T —t
F:5%) MAABEMEBER
g AAREEREBEZE=Z—)N\
F=ZA=+—BIFEEZERN%H
FIHEIE 0 - i REHEEER AL
1,863,000 (= F—+4F : 49
591,000/87T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

5.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. @I E(E)
c) Fair value (continued) c) 2XFEE
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements BFRAEZHR AT EHFEZHER
The movement during the year in the balance of financial FE-RRNVEFEZCRIBELS
liability of Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows: TFZ2FERESHNOT -

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—+F

Convertible bond (Note 25): R ES (HF25) : HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FET

Balance at beginning of the year FEES 261,616 317,650
Fair value change credited to the SFABRZ AT EE

profit or loss (14,374) (61,975)

Derecognition on maturity A EIEAR 4% | FRERR - (258,963)

Recognition on date of extension AIEE H BifER - 264,904
Loss arising from modification of BT IREEEL

convertible bond 2R = 5,941

(Gain)/Loss on translation of convertible ~ #E LASNEEHE Z
bond denominated in a foreign currency IR IE 5 AT AL S

into the functional currency, included 2 (Wezs) /i

in administrative and other operating AT E

expenses Hipse B A (23,569) 19,318
Exchange difference on translation of REMEEBARERZ

functional currency to presentation BRENREEE R

currency recognised in other 2HEREEEL

comprehensive income [ERERR 23,569 (19,318)
Balance at end of the year FRES 247,242 261,616
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k &= sk <

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

6. REVENUE 6. W
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for WHEAEEHEEE R TINEEF R
coal sold by the Group to external customers, less returns, FIRE - W R ERE B K
discounts allowed and value added tax. An analysis of the R ERGRIE o AREB 2 Wam AT T

Group’s revenue is as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—+tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHEIT

Sales of coal SHE MR 182,445 73,024
7. OTHER REVENUE 7. EHyz

2018 2017

—E-)N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Interest income on bank deposits RITFRZ M EMA 4,322 2,822

Others H 2,010 7,121

6,332 9,943
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B} sk R KI5
For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE-Z-

NEZF=+—HLFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments, based on information
reported to the chief operating decision makers who are also
the executive directors of the Company, for the purpose of
resources allocation and performance assessment, is more
specifically focused on the types of goods delivered and
services provided by the Group’s operating divisions.

Coal mine business is the only reportable operating segment,
from which the Group derived its revenue from sale of coal.
Accordingly, no further segment information is provided.

The geographical location of customers is determined based
on the location where the goods are delivered. The Group’s
turnover and results from operations are mainly derived from
revenue in the PRC. Activities outside the PRC are insignificant.
The principal assets of the Group are also located in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical information is provided.

Information about major customers
Revenue from external customers individually contributing over
10% of the total revenue is as follows:

2EEHR
AEBEEDBRAEDELERMF
EREFATBLERRE (SRR
FRIITESR) TS 2 ERETON
LEIBAEEREDHARNE R
KR AR5 < B -

RBEXRBAE—ARELENE M
AEBW YR B Z DB Z KR H
& o Eitt > WHEREHE-THRER -

EPRUEKEERITiEE
E o AREZWGREERELTER
BRBEZER - ERBEBINZ ZHA
TEKN - AEEZTBEETIURN
RE - EiE - WER I E AR

FRETEERZEH
ERIE EUEE10% A 2 Bovg s~
W T

Customer A Z2EA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C BFPC
Customer D ®FD
Customer E BFE

*

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group during the years ended 31 March 2018 or
2017.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
70,563 *
48,980 *
18,284 *

* 20,522

* 18,920

* RBE_Z-N\FH_ZT—tF=H
=T RLIEFE - BRI B AR E
E W EE10%A L -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt ¥ 8&R M i\

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-ZE-N\F=A=+—HLFE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9. MKRBADZF
This is stated at after charging/(crediting): M EDE RO (FE ) NI & EE
HIRE -
2018 2017
—z— 5 [ B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
(a) Staff costs (@) BIRA
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BIRA(EEMWe
remuneration — Note 13) Broh—F5E13)
Basic salaries, allowances and EXFHe  FMR
other short-term employee benefits EMEEESRF 9,278 9,076
Contributions to defined TE R RET B
contribution plan 988 965
10,266 10,041
(b) Other items (b) Hfh1ER
Amortisation of intangible assets A Y 5,478 2,710
Less: Amounts captialised in B FEENMEEE
inventories = (1,112)
Amounts included in cost of sales STAER A &5 5,478 1,598
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN B &
- audit services —ZE RS 700 740
— other services — EAthBRTS 180 300
880 1,040
Cost of inventories sold BEHEFERAR 130,398 48,426
Depreciation of property, Y BENMRETE
plant and equipment 3,022 3,501
Exchange (gain)/loss on convertible 18TE A A ET R
bond designated as financial WIEEENEE Y
liabilities at FVTPL, net TRIBEZAIMRES
b (Was ),/ 18 F R (23,569) 19,318
Other exchange loss/(gain), net HAabfE R, () F5 14,703 (7,828)
Loss on disposal of property, Hj%%% 5 &
plant and equipment HiE 2 1A 132 -
Operating leases payments AR EFRIA 2,560 2,495
Impairment loss on property, VI - RE KR
plant and equipment BB R 3,511 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets mREEREEIE 12,618 -
Interest income on financial MM A EHRI B
assets not at FVTPL NEIE s SREE L
F2WA (4,322 (2,822)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREBiRAX
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Income tax expense comprises: i8R EE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax AR 2 TS A
- current year —REE 15,871 7,127
— under-provision in prior years —BEFEBRE TR 201 206
16,072 7,333
Deferred tax (Note 27) EIERIE (P3E27)
— (Reversal)/Origination of temporary —EREREER) EL
difference (10,130) 1,821
5,942 9,154
Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for in the R M EFE AW BN EBEEMET
consolidated financial statements as there was no estimated JERTLR A - I MARERE BT K
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for both years. Where REBNERIELEE - MEREE
there is Hong Kong assessable profits, Hong Kong Profits Tax is B2 FERBLE T - QBB RSB IRE
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits. FHERTUR ) 2 16.5%KATE ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10.

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda and is exempted
from income tax in Bermuda. The Company’s subsidiaries
established in the BVI are exempted from income tax in the
BVI.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

FrigwiR > (&)

AR BIR B 5 E E  A AL 2 R
MEREMSHR - ARANEBREX
BRI B R RIER RN RE
BRREEPIEH

REBEFBEEERMAETRA(TREMEH
B REERMBRAE®RD - &
B8 A B M A E 2 B K /325% ©

AEERERY A REREME
EH R PR AT Z SRR T -

Profit before tax R A&

Notional tax on profit before tax, HREMBARRES 2T
calculated at the rates applicable to 2R R ERRTLA
profit in the countries concerned wAz BERIE

Tax effect of expenses not deductible TMEHR A 2 g2
for tax purposes

Tax effect of income not taxable BERTBRAZ TG 2
for tax purpose

Under-provision in prior years BEFERENT

Others HAth

Income tax expense for the year AKEFEHAY

2018 2017
—z- N5 L
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# Tis

42,620 57,421
9,452 10,280
1,720 8,267
(5,437) (9,606)
201 206

6 7

5,942 9,154
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

11. DIVIDEND
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
March 2018, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the current reporting period (2017: Nil).

12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
a) Basic earnings share
The calculation of the basic earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is
based on the following data:

11. BA
BE-T-\E=A=+—-HL4E
A R S EBEARE - A&
36 25 B ) A 5 A 3R 1 4 3 26 R < T
BRE(ZT—+4F « ) o

12. BREF,(F#E)

a) BRELXER
ARAREB ANEHFEFRAESRER
EMTIRE T BIEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FAT
Profit A
Profit for the purpose of basic UGt EGREXRERN 2
earnings per share (Profit for the & F| (AR A EHEE A
year attributable to owners of the  FE{RFAEF))
Company) 36,678 48,267
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
Number of Number of
shares shares
KRHEE &HmHER
Weighted average number of EERINETISE
ordinary shares
Weighted average number of AUt EGRERZEF
ordinary shares for the purpose 2 BN 8
of basic earnings per share 765,373,584 765,373,584

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continued) 12.
b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share b)
The calculation of the diluted (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year is
based on the following data:

i) (Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company (diluted)

BREF,(&8) (&)

BhEE (R B
AAREBANEHFEASREE
(E18),/ BATHRE T oI BURE

At
= .
>t

)  ARRAHEBABEFENGS
8),/ A ()

2018 2017
—E-N\F S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit for the year attributable B AEIEERET
to owners 36,678 48,267
Change in fair value of convertible  A[#R (&5 2 A FEE
bond (14,374) (61,975)
Loss arising from modification of ~ {&5T AR EHFE 4
convertible bond ol iti=| = 5,941
Exchange (gain)/loss on AR ESZIER
convertible bond (Wz),/ BB (23,569) 19,318
(Loss)/Profit attributable HAE AL (EER),S5F
to owners (diluted) (&858) (1,265) 11,551

i)  Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(diluted)

i) TEBRMELHB(ZE

Weighted average number of

ordinary shares for the purpose of

basic earnings per share
Effect of conversion of convertible
bond

Weighted average number of

ordinary shares for the purpose of

diluted (loss)/earings per share

)
2018 2017
—EBE-N\F —E—+F
Number of Number of
shares shares
gl 4= & EE
AUETE SREREF
2 BRI IR
765,373,584 765,373,584

BB BRRESR FE

1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000

AR SR
(B53),/BFZ
HBRAET 8

1,765,373,584 1,765,373,584
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #3R &R Mzt
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

13. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 13. EBEESEARANESEH A

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID T2 & ¥
INDIVIDUALS
a) Directors’ remuneration a) EEHM
The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and ARaEFRD U M e Z 48
receivable by the directors of the Company are as RN
follows:
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE-ZE—-/\&=ZH=+—HL
FE
Other emoluments
HitME
Salaries,
allowances
and other Contributions
short-term to defined
employee  Discretionary contribution
benefits bonus plan
e BER
H e ERMHR
ik EEEA BteTEA HE e b
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THL TAL THER TAL TARL
Executive directors: HTES:
Lo Fong Hung BRI - 528 - 18 546
Wang Xiangfel THR - 528 - - 528
Kwan Man Fai B30 792 - - - 792

Independent non-executive BY FHTES :

directors:
Wong Man Hin, Raymond &N 336 - - - 336
Lam Ka Wai, WFE (H3Ea)

Graham (Note &) 168 - - - 168
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey BiRE 336 - - - 336
Pak Wai Keung, A% (fb)

Martin (Note b) 179 - - - 179

Alternate director: BRER:

Wong Sze Wai (Note ¢) T () = = - - -

1,811 1,056 - 18 2,885
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k &= sk {
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z- \E=A=+—HLEE

13. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 13. ABESEFARAENSSHA

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID T2ER(E)
INDIVIDUALS (continued)
a) Directors’ remuneration (continued) a) EEHME)
For the year ended 31 March 2017 BE-_ZE—+tfF=HA=+—H1
£E
Other emoluments
Etiie
Selaries,
allowances
and other Contributions
short-term to defined
employee Discretionary contribution
Fees benefits bonus plan Total
oo 2R
Eft e ERRHR
we [EETEF By TeAL BES g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FHEr TEL TEL ThEr
Executive directors: HTES:
Lo Fong Hung Ehi - 700 - 18 718
Wang Xiangfei THAR - 480 - 12 492
Kwan Man Fai EXE 500 - - - 500

Independent non-executive B ¥H/TEE :

directors:
Wong Man Hin, Raymond X% 288 - - - 288
Lam Ka Wai, Graham MRE 288 - - - 288
Chan Yiu Fai, Youdey RiEE 288 - - - 288
1,364 1,180 - 30 2,574
Note: MiEE -
a. On 7 September 2017, Lam Ka Wai, Graham retired as an a. RZE—tEFAALR KK
independent non-executive director of the Company. BURIEAR RN BB IENITES -
b.  On 19 September 2017, Pak Wai Keung, Martin was b. RZZE—+tFNA+TIE A
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the REEZTAARRRBEIIEL
Company. TES -
@ On 18 July 2017, Wong Sze Wai was appointed as an @ RZT—+tFt+tA+N\B X
alternate director (alternate to Wang Xiangfei) of the M@EREEREARABERES
Company. (BREHR) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-ZE-N\F=A=+—HLFE

13. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

b)  Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, three (2017: three) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are set out above. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2017: two) highest
paid individuals were as follows:

13. BABESEARINESHA
izgﬁ(nﬁ

b)

Salaries, allowances and e o FAREMSH
other short-term employee EERF
benefits

Contributions to defined REHSRET IR

contribution plan

The emoluments of the two (2017: two) highest paid
employees fall in the following bands:

hEEeHAL
RAEEREZRFALH =
Z(ZB—+tF  ZR)AARQT]
EE HEMEHR EX - 88 TW
Z(ZE—tF  MB)RDFA
TZBemT

2018 2017
—EB-)N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET

Nil - HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 87L&
1,500,000/ 7T

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
the directors of the Company or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. There was no
arrangement under which a director or waived or agreed
to waive any remunerations for the years ended 31
March 2018 and 2017.

170 NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED BB ZREL£ AR AT

1,660 1,368

38 39

1,698 1,407
ME(ZF—tF : MA)RRH

EEZM NF T8 & EE

Number of individuals

RBE-T-\FLk_F—tF
ZA=ZT—HLEFE  AEEY
BRAARREEFSIALRSHA
IXNRERBE - MERKRSE
RSB INE A KB 2
HRE) ERWFZBEBERE -
RBE_T-\Ek_F—tF
ZA=1T—HLEFE  SEER
BEREENEXFBREIMNF
Bz 225
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

13.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

c)

d)

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors
There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of the directors of the Company that were entered
into or subsisted during the years ended 31 March 2018
and 2017.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

After consideration, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company, or connected entity
of the directors of the Company, had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the year or
at any time during the years ended 31 March 2018 and
2017.

13. ARESEANRAUKEHFA
T2 ER (&)

c)

d)

UWEERAZHAZEN £
REMIE 5
BE_T\Fh-_F—tF=
A=+—HIFE - HEsTIK
FBUARFEERIEAZE
R EERREMR S -

BEERXS R EHNPZE
A=
KAREELERERE  REL
EZF-NFERZZT—tF=
A=+—H L FE S F R
H o BEFEARRMARTE
TEFTEIAL - MARBIEEHAR
RESHEEBEELHEER
HABEEAEG I EARS
THREA °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% > BMERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold equipment
land and Plantand  and motor
buildings  machinery vehicles Total
HEL B B
kEF BERKSE RAE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET THT
Cost VN
As at 1 April 2016 RZE—RFHA—H 11,363 25,993 6,374 43,730
Exchange realignment 0E (721) (1,659) (405) (2,785)
Additions NE - 361 44 405
Disposals HE - - (16) (16)
As at 31 March 2017 WZZE—+F=A=1+—H 10,642 24,695 5,997 41,334
As at 1 April 2017 R-Z—+FMNA—H 10,642 24,695 5,997 41,334
Exchange realignment fE 5 AR 1,008 2,384 565 3,957
Additions NE - 1,564 2,603 4,167
Disposals HE (515) (350) (435) (1,300)
As at 31 March 2018 R-Z—-\E=A=+—H 11,135 28,293 8,730 48,158
Accumulated depreciation R MERRERE
and impairment losses
As at 1 April 2016 RZE—RFINA—H 5,456 18,389 4,837 28,682
Exchange realignment 0E (370) (1,213) (320) (1,903)
Charge for the year KEEZH 1,032 1,953 516 3,501
Eliminated on disposals SR 5 - - (16) (16)
As at 31 March 2017 RZE—+F=A=+—H 6,118 19,129 5,017 30,264
As at 1 April 2017 RZZE—+FINA—H 6,118 19,129 5,017 30,264
Exchange realignment 0E 666 2,062 543 3,271
Charge for the year KEESLH 303 2,334 385 3,022
Impairment loss HEEE 1,320 1,838 353 3,511
Eliminated on disposals HERHHE (355) (349) 372 (1,076)
As at 31 March 2018 R-Z—\E=A=1+—H 8,052 25,014 5,926 38,992
Net carrying amount BREEE
As at 31 March 2018 RZZ—\F=A=+—H 3,083 3,279 2,804 9,166
As at 31 March 2017 R-E—tF=A=+-H 4,524 5,566 980 11,070

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
The above property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the
shorter of the

term of the

leases or 3.33%

Plant and machinery 10% to 25%
Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles 10% to 25%

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were situated in the
PRC under original lease term of 48 years.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, in view of expected
capital expenditure to be incurred for environmental protection
remedial works, the directors of the Company consider that
the recoverable amount (considered to be the same as the
value-in-use (“VIU”) of the cash generating units (“CGUs”) of
the non-current mining assets, including property, plant and
equipment and mining right of the individual mine site, of the
coal mining business of the Group (the “Coal Mining Assets”),
mentioned in Note 15(j) below) of the CGUs is lower than the
carrying amount. Therefore, an impairment of approximately
HK$3,511,000 was made on property, plant and equipment.

No impairment loss was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2017.

14. M¥ - BERRZRE(E)

Eil¥x - BEMRBLEREEZT
DI REHRITE -

HELihRiETF ST
3.33%

P ENSESD

RS K e 23 10%E25%
R B RAE 10%E25%

AREBZHE LW REFHMRF
CRBRHEBBFHR48F -

B2 \F=ZA=+—HItHF
€ ZEIREERTIIEI®ZTE
HEARRY  ARAEERAERCE
HBEM([BeEEEN]) 2l lE S
BE (B0 T SCP a1 5() BTt 1745 & B2 AR
SEEREEG 2 IERBTREE (BIE
FREG 2ME  WE KR E A RFE
B)((RBEEDRSEASM 2 FR
BE(FEHAEE]) —B)EAERT
B Rt ERYE - BEREEE
493,511,000 T2 RfE °

BHE_ZTZ—t+tF=A=+—HItF
€ - BRI ERE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

15.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

15. BEFEE

Exploration and

evaluation assets Mining right Total
BERIEEE b2 1 o)
(Note i & i (Note i & i)
(B30 K ) (P Reiit)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TEL THL
Cost B
As at 1 April 2016 RZZ—~FMA—H 48,442 102,538 150,980
Exchange realignment R E (3,076) 6,511) (9,587)
As at 31 March 2017 R-EZ—+%H=A=1+—H 45,366 96,027 141,393
As at 1 April 2017 RZZE—+FNA—H 45,366 96,027 141,393
Exchange realignment [ 5 R 4,410 9,334 13,744
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=A=+—H 49,776 105,361 155,137
Accumulated amortisation and Bt EHRFHEESE
impairment losses
As at April 2016 RZZE—RFMNA 48,442 59,362 107,804
Exchange realignment [ AR (3,076) (3,832) (6,908)
Charge for the year AEESH - 2,710 2,710
As at March 2017 RZE—t%=R 45,366 58,240 103,606
As at 1 April 2017 RZZ—+FMA—H 45,366 58,240 103,606
Exchange realignment (& 5 R 4410 5,930 10,340
Charge for the year AEEZH - 5,478 5,478
Impairment loss wEEE - 12,618 12,618
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=A=+—H 49,776 82,266 132,042
Net carrying amount EEFE
As at 31 March 2018 R-E-N\F=R=1+—H - 23,095 23,095
As at 31 March 2017 R-ZE—tF=A=1+—H - 37,787 37,787

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED BRI & REX£HRAT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B % 3 3= Fff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

15.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

The mining right and the exploration and evaluation assets acquired as
part of a business combination during the year ended 31 March 2010
were initially recognised at their respective fair values on acquisition with
reference to a professional valuation using discounted cash flow method
based on the operating environment of each of the operating entities.

i) Mining right
The directors of the Company conducted impairment review of the
mining right at the end of each reporting period or when impairment
indicator exists. In such connection, the Company engaged Roma
Appraisals Limited (“Roma”), an independent professional valuer,
to assess the VIU of the Coal Mining Assets for the purpose of
impairment testing.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, given that the expected
capital expenditures for the environmental protection remedial works
may result in a decrease in the appraised value of Coal Mining Assets.
The directors of the Company have estimated the recoverable
amount of the Coal Mining Assets with reference to the valuation
report prepared by Roma using discounted cash flow method as
at 30 September 2017. Based on the assessment, the VIU of the
CGUs of the Coal Mining Assets was approximately HK$32,170,000
resulting in an impairment loss of approximately HK$16,129,000
being recognised as at 30 September 2017. The Group allocated the
impairment loss based on their relative carrying amounts amongst
the Coal Mining Assets. Accordingly, impairment loss for items of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$3,511,000 and
impairment loss for mining right of approximately HK$12,618,000
were recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income during the year ended 31 March 2018.

The directors of the Company had re-assessed the Coal Mining
Assets as at 31 March 2018 with reference to the valuation
conducted by Roma using the same method as aforementioned, the
directors of the Company expected that the VIU of the Coal Mining
Assets approximates its carrying amount as at 31 March 2018, and
no further impairment loss was recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, with reference to valuations
conducted by Roma using discounted cash flow method, the
directors of the Company expected that the recoverable amount
of the Coal Mining Assets exceeded its carrying amount and thus
concluded that no impairment loss was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2017.

15.

BLEE ()

GEX

HE=T—TF=A=+— BT
B RBR R EE R 015 -
o SRS ERETRA 2 CERA DR
ER(EH 2 FHRAE(E - SRR S 2
AT ERR -

i) g
REREBREERSHLRBEDRE -
ARAREEHRERETRERS °
It RAABEREBT EXGEMNES
B HE AR DR (S ) FHAREE
EZEREEMERBERE -

REE-_Z—-N\F=ZA=+—HIHF
B ERRRBRIEZERELH
TSR RS AT EE TS - AR
RESE2EHESN T —tFNA
—tHFERCMERESREN ARES
HERSTEEBEEEZ KBS -
RIEFE - WBEEEZRSEEEN
2 BEEX /32,170,008 T + &
BN —E—tFNA=-THEERDY
16,129,000/ 7L Z R (EE5 18 - AL E
RIBEREENEREREES RRES
BBt WE - BERSEEERE
[E518493,511,00078 7T A K 5158 #E Rk (B
E51E4912,618,000 8 TEREE -
—\EZA=+—RAILFERGRABZ
K Hth 2w ISR NRER o

AAREEER T \FE=Z/A=+—
H2MRESE R EaR A AR 2
BEFTHREEEE  AARERTEH
RIEEEZFRABENABENR=ZZ—N
FZA=t+—HZEEE  BimtERg
REMBERIE -

BHE_ZT—+F=-A=+—HIL=FE "
KLRESFEACURBSRES AE
HZEE ARREEBPRBEEY
AU el ERBHEEEE - BimEEH
E-T—+FZA=Z+—RALEEYE
AR EESTE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B % 3k 3= Fff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

i)

i)

Mining right (continued)

In assessing the VIU the CGUs, the future cash flows of the coal
mining business which covers the remaining periods of the mining
right of the mine are discounted to the related present values using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current assessment of the time
value of money and the risks specific to such business. Parameters
used in the projected cash flows included but were not limited to
selling prices and sales volumes of coal, production cost and other
expenses, capital expenditure, production plan and discount rate,
respectively, which reflected the current conditions of the market
and the Group and estimated trend in the future.

When evaluating the appropriate discount rate for each of the CGUSs,
the Capital Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM”) had been used. Under
CAPM, the appropriate expected rate of return was the sum of the
risk-free return and the equity risk premium required by investors to
compensate for the market risk assumed. In addition, the expected
rate of return of the CGUs was expected to be affected by other firm
specific risk factors that are independent of the general market. The
cost of equity was determined by the risk-free rate, market return,
and estimated beta of the CGUs and firm specific risk factors. The
pre-tax discount rate of 27%, 36% and 22% was used in assessing
the VIU of the CGUs of the Coal Mining Assets as at 31 March 2018,
30 September 2017 and 31 March 2017 respectively.

Exploration and evaluation assets

The exploration and evaluation assets represented the exploration
right possessed by the Group. For the year ended 31 March 2013,
the exploration and evaluation assets were fully impaired in profit
or loss based on a professional valuation, which concluded that no
defined or reliable future economic benefit could be drawn due to
the following facts and circumstances:

- the exploration right had been renewed twice and the expiry
date of it would be on 20 February 2014;

- according to a legal opinion obtained by the Group, that
under PRC law and regulation the exploration right could only
be renewed twice, and no further renewal for period beyond
20 February 2014 could be obtained;

- the directors of the Company re-assessed the status and
considered that the Group was not able to obtain a mining
right prior to the expiry of the exploration right; and

- that no defined or reliable future economic benefit could
be drawn based on the current progress relating to the
Optimization and Upgrading Plan (as defined in Note iii
below).

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

i)

i)

Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)
Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2013, the following facts
happened in relation to the exploration and evaluation assets:

- on 19 March 2014, the relevant government bureau exercised
an administrative discretionary right and granted a renewed
exploration right with valid period from 25 February 2014 to
25 February 2016;

- on 19 May 2016, the Company further obtained a renewal
permit from Department of Land and Resources of Xinjiang
Uygur Autonomous Region (the “Xinjiang Land Development”)
granting the renewal of the Exploration Permit with valid
period from 5 April 2016 to 5 April 2017; and

- on 16 May 2017, the Company further obtained a renewal
permit from Xinjiang Land Department granting the renewal of
the Exploration Permit with valid period from 16 May 2017 to
16 May 2019.

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, despite the successful renewal
of the exploration right, with reference to a professional valuation
conducted by Roma, the Group concluded that no defined or
reliable future economic benefit could be drawn from it and the
impairment loss should not be reversed with the following reasons:

- the Group intends to hold the exploration right until the
Optimization and Upgrading Plan is approved;

- due to the Optimization and Upgrading Plan, it is not feasible
and practicable for the Group to obtain a mining right; and

- that defined or reliable future economic benefit could not be
drawn based on the current progress of the Optimization and
Upgrading Plan.

Optimization and Upgrading Plan

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Xinjiang Land Department
informed the Group that pursuant to the instructions of the National
Development and Reform Commission of the PRC, the Xinjiang Land
Department is planning a management restructuring of different coal
mines in the Xiheishan Mining Area (the “Optimization and Upgrading
Plan”), where the Group’s Kaiyuan Open Pit Coal Mine (the “Kaiyuan
Mine”) and Zexu Open Pit Coal Mine (the “Zexu Mine”) are situated.

On 14 March 2012, a proposal (the “Proposal”) was issued by
the People’s Government of Mulei Kazak Autonomous County,
where the Group’s Kaiyuan Mine is located, to the Administrative
Bureau of Coal Industry of Changji Prefecture (the “Changji
Administrative Bureau”). According to the Proposal, which is part
of the Optimization and Upgrading Plan, the mining area of the
Kaiyuan Mine, where the Group is now conducting mining activities,
is proposed to be increased to 4.12 square kilometers, with the
estimated additional coal resources of approximately 131.18 million
tonnes. In the Proposal, it is also stated that the production capacity
of the Kaiyuan Mine will increase from 0.9 million tonnes per year to
3 million tonnes per year.

15.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 15. B EE (&)
Notes: (continued) MiEE - (88)
i)  Optimization and Upgrading Plan (Continued) i)y  EBIEARFRE)
The Group received a letter dated 13 June 2012 issued by the REEREESEERNBNERE
Changji Administrative Bureau (the “13 June Letter”) informing the BERE BB RAMEEZB8MAS
updated status of the Management Restructuring Plan. According to T——FARAt=AZ&H(XA+=
the 13 June Letter, the following proposals in relation to the Group’s A ]) - RESA+H =B &4 - 77
Kaiyuan Mine and Zexu Mine (the “Updated Proposals”) have BEAEBYRERINSBER Y 2
been submitted to the working group head office for coal industry (x| BREFBETHEAR
structural upgrade work of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region for HREFERE AR TIEEE/ B
consideration and approval: NEVERFIL
- The Group’s Kaiyuan Mine will be restructured and upgraded, — AEE 2 IRETRES T ASE
and the exploration rights in the Zexu Mine granted to the LA MR FAE®R 2B
Group will be terminated; and EER RS T AR IE - &
- The mining area of the Kaiyuan Mine, where the Group is now — REBEETHEZSH ZIR
conducting mining activities, is proposed to be increased HE 2 FRREEEZE B 1.1596
from 1.1596 square kilometers to 4.12 square kilometers, FHREEEANFHARE 4
with the estimated additional coal resources of approximately sHEINEREERY A131.188
131.18 million tonnes. B o
The directors of the Company are of the view that as the above AAREERERR LlERDEST
proposals are still subject to final approval by the People’s EBHETHEABEARBNRESEL - )
Government of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, it is uncertain LB ELEENEARMZE o W
whether the above changes will be materialised. The Group will BEEIbE  NEBBREBIAER
engage an independent qualified valuer to value the additional coal (HER S EINETE S RETTIHE -
resources when the final approval is obtained.
16. GOODWILL 16. BHE
HK$'000
FAT
Cost A
As at 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 RZZE—RFMA—H  —F—+%F
and 31 March 2018 —A=Zt— AR N\FZA=+—8 37,469
Impairment losses REEE
As at 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 RZZE—RFMA—H ZZ2—+F
and 31 March 2018 ZA=+—AR=T-\FE=ZA=+—8 (37,469)
Net carrying amount IREFE
As at 31 March 2018 RZB-—NF=A=+—H =
As at 31 March 2017 RZBE—+F=A=+—H =
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

16.

17.

18.

GOODWILL (continued)

The goodwill arising on acquisition of & &% 2/EHEERE
{2 7] (Qitai County Zexu Trading Company Limited*, “Zexu
Company”) and RE&SRE KB REF AR (Mulei County
Kaiyuan Coal Company Limited*, “Kaiyuan Company”) were
fully impaired during the year ended 31 March 2011.

*

English translation for identification purpose only.

SECURITY DEPOSIT

The balance represents a deposit denominated in RMB placed
with a bank to secure the Group’s obligation to restore the
environment when mining activities ceased. The deposit bears
interest at the prevailing bank saving interest rate and can be
withdrawn upon the expiry of the Group’s mining right and
fulfillment of environment restoration obligation.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

16. A& (&)
WESTEREBREERATRA
(DEBRA ) RARSHENRERAR
BEERR(TIURARDELZEHE
RBE-ZE——F=ZA=1T—HLF
[EEEBBURE

17. RBRE
EREAEENEEEH I ERE
TEEREEETRBAIEERAAR
WA TR o FRIRE B RITH
ERR S WARAEE Y RIEE
B R BT IR E IR o

18. RIBARZIRE

The Company
ARQH

2018 2017
—B-NF —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET

Unlisted shares, at cost JE LM - KA

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non
interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

FEUH B A R R R IR - B K

AN BREFEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18.
Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 March
2018 and 2017 are as follows:

R E R F 2 RE (&)
ARRARZE-NER=ZT—LF=
A=+—BRHBZMBRRFERT :

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities

ALRRERER I IERH

Place of

Class of incorporation/

shares held/ registration and Issued share and

paid up capital  operation paid up capital
Name of subsidiary fERAEN/  ERMRL/HRR BEGE
WEARAH Baks Teny il
Directly held:
ERKE:
Lasting Power Investments Limited Ordinary share~~ The BVI United States Dollars
NEREBRAR LBl ZBRAEE (U1

ESANESAD
Indirectly held:
BREE:
Star Fortune International Investment Ordinary share ~ The BVI US$100
Company Limited (*Star Fortung’) LaR FERNHE 100%TT
ENEEARRERRAA ([2)EE] )
Ming Kei Kai Yuan Investment Ordinary share Hong Kong HK$60,000,000
Company Limited gk Bk 60,000,000/ 7

RESRRERRAT
Kaiyuan Company* Paid up capital The PRC RMB30,000,000
VNG EfiRA EF ABR30,000,0007C
Zexu Company* Paidup capitel ~ The PRC RMB2,000,000
BB EARA hE AE%2,0000007C

*

Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly-foreign-owned
enterprise

# Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding

as at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the
reporting period.

180 NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED BRI ZiRELHRAT

2017
it 3
%
100 100 Investment holding
RERR
100 100 Investment holding
RERR
100 100 Investment holding
RER
100 100 Coal mining and sales
RRREERR
100 100 Holding of an exploration
right of coal mine
REREHTE

* REBEHEEVIEMRINEEEDE

& RIEFBEDEDIFEM SRR

K& R A RE SR E BB A ERA
i - SRR A R B A AT
AT -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k &= sk <
For the year ended 31 March 2018 =
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19. INVENTORIES 19. F8
2018 2017
-5 [EEL IR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Consumables SHE @ 434 371
Coal BEK 6,787 50,552
7,221 50,923
No inventories were written down for the years ended 31 WEAHEZE-T-NFERZE—tF
March 2018 and 2017. ZA=+—RILFEMBFE -
20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EWERKHMEWIE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Trade and bills receivables (Note a) JEUR & TR e U R
(KtzEa) 1,116 10,591
Prepayments, deposits and TENFIE - e REAM
other receivables FEU T 3,093 1,926
Non-refundable deposits (Note b) A RER S (M5Eb) 2,604 -
6,813 12,517
Analysed by: DHTRAT -
2018 2017
—z- 5 [EEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FiBT
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,604 -
Current assets RENEE 4,209 12,517

6,813 12,517
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
All of the trade and other receivables that are classified as
current assets are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

The Group’s sales to coal customers are largely done on
payment in advance basis. For certain well-established
customers, the Group allows an average credit period of 90
days.

Note:

a. At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade
receivables (presented based on the invoice date) and bills
receivables (presented based on the issuance date of relevant bills),
net of allowance for doubtful debts was as follows:

20. BWERRH b EURKE (&)
MBS ERRBDEAEZ EKEHRE
ft B M K T A — 4 O D o R
RFIX -

AEBERRREP ZHEKRIDIRE
MRIEREEEL - LETHRERTZ
EFME AREAFZFHEEY
7H90K ©

=
Bl

RREMBAERE - BRER(EER
RH27)) REKER(RIEEREER
BEZ25) NGB REEFHRZRERS

o

Within 90 days
91 days to 180 days

90K
91 RE180K

As of the end of reporting period, all trade and bills receivables (2017:
HK$NIl) were neither past due nor impaired related to wide range
of customers for whom there was no recent history of default. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

b. Non-refundable deposits of approximately RMB2,099,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,604,000) were paid to two independent
third parties in accordance with respective undisputed agreements
signed during the year regarding the acquisition of areas of coal
mine held by the third parties to extend the coal mine of the Group.
Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
15 August 2017. The Group was required to go through official
procedures with the relevant land and resources departments to
obtain the exploration right and then the mining right in respect
of these extended areas. The non-refundable deposits will be
transferred to intangible assets in the consolidated statement of
financial position upon completion of acquisition.

These transactions are not yet completed at the date of approving
the consolidated financial statements.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

ran T -
2018 2017
—E2-N\fF —ELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
1,116 6,421
- 4,170
1,116 10,591

RS HEERE - BREFRRER
EEOARBHALRBRBE(ZE
—t o TET) Uk T BT EIN BB R
R EREFPER - AREALERZ
EEHFHAEAERR -

b. BERFRNEBSHEBUBEE=FFF2
WEERAEEERE, STEEFHD
FCHMEBUE - AIMNPOARE
2,099,000 (18& 7 492,604,000/ 7T )
ZAIRERS - BRE—THBIERN
ARl BHAE-_Z—+FNA+HEBZ
NE - AEBEARRBE L EIRIPIH
B IFRIR 7 ABS % SRR 2 #)
BN R 1R 2 BRUEE o IR TERE -
TARE RS HE ALRA MBI ERZ
MREE -

ZERZGRILEFAMBIMERZ B ER

=~

5T o
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BE=-T—

21.

NEZF=+—HLFE

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2018, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks (the “Banks”) in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”), to certain of its suppliers in order to
settle the trade payables due to these suppliers with a total
carrying amount in aggregate of approximately HK$21,496,000
(2017: approximately HK$6,045,000). The Derecognised
Bills will mature in one to six months after the end of the
reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the Banks default
(the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills,
because it is remote for the Banks to default the payment.
Therefore, it derecognised the full carrying amounts of the
Derecognised Bills and the associated trade payables. The
maximum exposure to loss arising from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted
cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills equal to
their carrying amounts.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss
on the date of transfer of the Derecognised Bills (2017: HK$NIl).
No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively.

21.

HESHEE

R-ZE—N\F=ZA=+—8  A£H
MERTHERESHPBRT(R
THEMZAETRKER (TR IE#ER
= DETEE  WEMEMZSHE
FERGBR T 48B4 £ 5 %)21,496,00078
T(ZZE—+HF : 46,045,000/ T)
ZrﬁﬁﬁoﬂiﬁMT#%#ﬁi
ﬁiﬁi ﬁﬁ #KHM %%i
BEREEFEATAEEHEGERE
(I BFEESEME]) - ARRESER
A BRRITIE R 2 A RE M &
K - &Kﬁlaﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂiﬁwT
Br@RBoRERRER - Eit - &
Eﬂmﬁp%¢%MTﬁ&m@%H
ERE2HEEE - AEEMATHE
BIFEREBCBEESETURE
B2 SR IEERER 2 KRB SR
EMEMBERZZRRER - HERZ
LERVIRMAE °

FR - AEEYVERERELERE
BEEEREAREEE(CE—+
F T UEBARBHERY
AEZFEHRF WS EIE
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BE-Z-

22.

NEZF=+—HLFE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$440,437,000 (2017: approximately
HK$331,606,000) comprised bank balances and cash held by
the Group and short-term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less. The bank balances and bank deposits
carried interest at market rates ranging from 0.01% to 3.85%
(2017: 0.01% to 3.50%) per annum.

22.

HEeRBREEEEH
AEB 2R ERREEBEEEY
440,437,000 (=T —+EF 4
331,606,000/870) * BIEALEEFS
ZIRTTEHREREUNRRIBPRE A=
MAKARZ EEFR - RITEH R
RITHEFIRNF0.01EE3.85E(-Z
—+%F : 0.01EE3.508) 2 Hi5FF
TEHE o

Bank balances RITHERR

Short term deposits with an REBIE A=A A=K
original maturity of three months or less LATALZ 58 BRTF 3K

Cash on hand FEES

Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEEE

Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate:

2018 2017
—B-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAT
288,095 170,265
152,107 161,210
235 131
440,437 331,606

R &E F{EEA &?ET?'JLMEFA%
WEEEH AN B FHE 2 F0R

oE K

HK$
uss$

BTT
e

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had balances amounted to
approximately RMB230,228,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$285,584,000) (2017: approximately RMB148,222,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$167,572,000) that were
placed with banks in the PRC. Remittance of funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange controls imposed by the PRC
government.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

2017

—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
153,554 163,851
67 67

RZE-—N\F=ZA=+—8 " &&E
BEERTEERNRITZELR ALY
A R #230,228,000 7t (4B & R 4
285,584,000/ L) (Z T — 1 F : 49

AR #148222000 7T © #HE R L
167,572,000 7T) ° (&R BRI 2

B ARTBEBNET ZSNEE B
MR ©
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BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23
At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the
trade payables (presented based on the invoice date) were as

BAERRE AR RIE
IR AR« R RRE
AH25)) 2 BRI ATIT -

follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Within 90 days COFNA) 9,478 8,649
91-180 days 91 RE180K 2,032 4,057
181-365 days 181K E365K 2,609 1,243
Over 1 year HBiE1F 13 27
Trade payables ERER 14,132 13,976
Receipt in advance TERGRIE 1,534 2,261
Other taxes payable H A e IR 6,877 1,357

Government levies payable FER BT EE

— Economic development fees in coal — Bk BRI T AR

resources areas BRE 29,241 26,651
— Others —Hh 4,117 4177
Accrued expenses BT & 2,325 2,162
Non-refundable deposits received (Note &) B AT:R 8144 (Mitta) 6,075 -
Other payables HAbFETFRIR 5,497 5,940
69,798 56,524

The average credit period of purchases of goods is 180 days.
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Note:

a. Non-refundable deposits received of approximately RMB4,897,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,075,000) were received from two
independent third parties in accordance with respective undisputed
agreements signed during the year regarding the disposal of
areas of coal mine held by the Group. Further details are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 15 August 2017. These
transactions are not yet completed at the date of approving the
consolidated financial statements.

REmmZ FHEERRIS0K - A%
EE S EMBRREEBR - BERM
BRNFRERNEEMRABE -

GEE

a. RENFARSEHRHEAKERAZ

BEzSEEFZHZE  ERMEEL
F = HWEH AR 4,897,0007T (1HE
7496,075,00078 70 ) Z TALRER & o
BHEE—FSHBEINARRBHAT
—tFENATRAZRAE - ZERXHR
RS VSRR, Z B M AR e
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated

a)

a)

24, BRAK #E

BENSEE

AEEZGEER S @D 2F
REREHE RN A
HE}RK - ARBERIEREDZ

statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in FERERSEESFHSHIWOT -
the Company’s individual components of equity between
the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
The Company b A=
Exchange
Share  translation  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
REE EiGE BB ZitER o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TAT TAL TAT TAL
(Note ) (Note iv) (Note vi)
(Bizi) (PizEv) (FitzEvi)
As at 1 Apri 2016 RZE-"FEMA-H 191,534 12,510 128,013 (398,015) (65,958)
Profit for the year EREF - - - 46,499 46,499
Total other comprehensive loss: A2 EEBAS
[tem that maybe reclassified ERREN 2Rl
Subsequently to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences on translation of MBI ERRZYIER Y
functional currency to presentation ERER
currency - (1,750) - - (1,750)
Total comprehensive income for the year  FRZERALTE - (1,750) - 46,499 44,749
Asat 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R-E—+F=A=1-H
RZZ-+EmA—A 191,534 10,760 128,013 (351,516) (21,209)
Loss for the year FREE - - - (1) (71)
Total other comprehensive income: A2 ERALE
Item that maybe reclassffied ERUEEN B R
Subsequently to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences on translation of BENHERAZIIEE
functional currency to presentation EHE
currency - 5374 - - 5,374
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FA2EARALE = 5,374 - (71) 5,308
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=A=+-H 191,534 16,134 128,013 (351,587) (15,906)
Notes: Pi%E
i) Share premium i) B =E

The application of share premium is governed by Section 40
of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

a) Movements in components of equity (continued)

The Company (continued)

Notes: (continued)

ii)) Capital reserve
Capital reserve arose from the acquisition of the additional
equity interest of subsidiaries in prior years. It represents the
difference between the carrying amount of the net assets of
the subsidiaries attributable to the additional interest at the
dates of acquisition and the fair value of consideration paid
by the Group.

iiii) Statutory reserves

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations, all of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to transfer part of their
profit after tax to the statutory surplus reserve, which are
non-distributable, before profit distributions are made. The
amounts of the transfers are subject to the approval of the
boards of directors of these companies in accordance with
their articles of association.

Specific reserve for maintenance and production funds
Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is
required to transfer maintenance and production funds at
fixed rates based on relevant bases to a specific reserve
account. The maintenance and production funds can be
utilised when expenses or capital expenditures on production
maintenance and safety measures are incurred. The amount
of maintenance and production funds utilised would be
transferred from the specific reserve account to retained
earnings.

iv) Exchange translation reserve
Exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of functional currency
to presentation currency. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(n) to
the consolidated financial statements.

V) Special reserve
The amount in special reserve represents the difference
between the consideration paid for acquiring a further
49% equity interest in Star Fortune and the decrease in
the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests of Star
Fortune.

vi) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange for the issued shares of the
companies being acquired and the value of net assets of the
underlying companies acquired at the time of the Group’s
reorganisation in preparation for its listing in 1995. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company may make
distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus in
certain circumstances.

24. RAKf#HE (&)

a)

RS (4E)

AT (&)

PisE : (88)

ii) &N
R 7 5 R 0 38 1 4F 1 R B BT
BARIRINR AR - &iEE
IR A B E AR IMER IE
MZEMNBRAREEFEZE
HEEASEMNREATFE
2z =R -

i)y EEME
EERRFE
RIEFBAM - AEBAEE
R E 2 KB A BB 2R % F
A E D RB &S M ERE
EERBEHE  ZEEBTA
DR FEE B S EALH
ZERRZEFSRBHAR
ERRMAHLE -

HBEREEE D EIHFRE
RIBFHBEABER - AEEA
12 FR AR B A E DA B TE b R
HEREEASEEAEMRE
-l EEESAEES
EEABREZEHEEIMAXR
EXAMXESHE -  CHAAG
rEEEeEBERFHRRE
BERBE -

iv) ERRE
EHFEHERELRENEEES
2HEBBEL ZDIHINES
o ZEHBBREAUBRE
M2 Tl 25T BUR R ©

V) BRI
FRRESERENE—SIK
BENESIO%BRAERSZE
RREEENEHFTRES
REE AR =58 -

vi)  BAR&
RARZBABBRIERAR A
R AT B EITRAM
BT Z2ARBRM EE - H
TR AR R A EEE
—NANEFAEHLTETE
HRZEEFEZET - BE
BRE-NAN—FRAFE K
ARAEETERTEHAR
BRAE R L IR ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

24, RAKf#E(E)

b)  Authorised and issued share capital b) ZEERBEITERA
Number of
ordinary shares
of HK$0.10 each Amount
SREE %0}
01087t 2 HK$'000
ZEREE FHL
Authorised: EE
Balance as at 1 April 2016, RZZ—~"EMA—HB
31 March 2017, 1 April 2017 —E—+tF=A=1+—H"
and 31 March 2018 —E—tFOA-BE
—Z-)\FZA=t+—HzZ&H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
Balance as at 1 April 20186, RZE— R FMNA—A -
31 March 2017, 1 April 2017 —T—+®=A=+—H"
and 31 March 2018 “E+tHENA-HR
—Z-)\FZA=t+—HZ&H 765,373,584 76,537
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TEREAE AT TRER
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled ZHRE - WA AAR®EEE
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. B—RAIE—R 2R - BT
All ordinary shares rank equally with regards to the BREDEARRB 2 FHREET
Company’s residual assets. A ZEEREEZE -
c) Capital management c) BAER

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, and to generate sufficient profit to
maintain growth and provide a satisfactory return to its

shareholders.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

c)

Capital management (continued)

The directors of the Company actively and regularly
review and manage its capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholders’ returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic condition. In view of this,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividend or the issue of new debt. No
changes were made in the objectives or policies during
the year.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, total debt
represented convertible bond designated as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Equity
comprises all components of equity.

The debt-to-equity ratio as at 31 March 2018 and 2017
are as follows:

24. RAKf#HE (&)

c)

Non-current liability FREEE
Convertible bond designated as
financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss

Total debt waE
Total equity g
Debt-to-equity ratio EEAELE

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

B RIERFEDR
WHBRENREE 2
TRAETRRES

AAEHE(E)

RRARMEEERTE Rigat R EE
HEARRE  UEESBRREHR
BT Az RS EEKF
BRRS A2 B AR 2 4 BE B AR
IE 2 RS T - WRERA RN
MBECHENEBIELRAE - A
ERNt - ARESEBIKTERE
BT EB FEEERENE
B RFEALEY BIRLERE
A= -

REE AR B AL IR
HERREZERE - gLt s
BB B E AR A THESBRE
ERSENEEZERAEZ R

BES - i BiEERZTE4A
E 5 o
RZE—-\FR_ZFT—LF=A

=t—HzESEABLENT

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
247,242 261,616
247,242 261,616
165,716 115,367
1.49 2.27

AARREE B ARG ERT
ZISNERRE N BANARIE Z PR ©
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25. CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 14 March 2008, the Company issued zero-coupon
convertible bond with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 to Ascent Goal simultaneously upon
completion of the issue and allotment of 400,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each. The bond is denominated in HK$
and entitles the holders to convert them into ordinary shares
of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the
bond and its settlement date on 13 March 2011 in multiples
of HK$1,000,000 at a conversion price HK$0.20 (subject to
adjustments) per share. The shares to be issued and allotted
upon conversions shall rank pari passu in all respects among
themselves and with all other ordinary shares in issue by
the Company on the date of such allotment and issue. If the
convertible bond has not been converted, the Company shall
repay the principal amount of the outstanding convertible bond
to Ascent Goal at 13 March 2011.

On 11 February 2011, the Company entered into a deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“1st extended Convertible
Bond”), to extend the maturity date of the convertible bond
for 36 months and the conversion period will accordingly
be extended for 36 months from 14 March 2011 (date of
extension) to 13 March 2014. Apart from the extension of
the maturity date and the conversion period, all terms of the
convertible bond remain unchanged from the original terms.

Following the change of functional currency from HK$ to
RMB, the directors of the Company are of the view that the
convertible bond upon extension of maturity date (“Convertible
Bond”) was no longer convertible at a fixed for fixed
relationship. Accordingly, the Convertible Bond was designated
as a financial liability at FVTPL in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

On 21 January 2014, the Company entered into a second
deed of amendment with Ascent Goal (“2" extended
Convertible Bond”), to extend the maturity date of the
Convertible Bond for 36 months and the conversion period
will accordingly be extended for 36 months from 14 March
2014 (date of extension) to 13 March 2017 (“2n extended
Maturity Date”). Apart from the extension of maturity date and
the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond remain
unchanged from the original terms.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

25.

GIE: )3
RZZENFEZA+MAE  ARFR
SERK 31T I Bt 400,000,000 & B @
BOEBTTZ T@mikr Bl - MEIZE%
177K 4 4858 /200,000,000 T 2 Z B
ABRES - ZEFUETTHE - B
FHRHAEARANZESZITHBEELE
HHH-_T——FZA+=HHRH
BERF I B (EEAR0.20/8 T (7] T3
Bz B AR N RS R - B
78/41,000,00078 70 2 & 81 o SRR
T BT M Be B 2 AR 188 L 2 ] R ER RS
MR RETAPARRMAHME
TERBBRRS TAYZERSEL -
WA R EHF R EER - ARFER
—ET——F=ZAt+=ZHEBEEZRE
AR EH 2 NS H -

RZZE——F-_A+—H ARQRHE
BIRFIMAERT B ([ 5 — KT H AT i
fEEZH]) - AT &S 2 B 2 E
EHACRE A R EEE =
——F=A+HB(GEHAHR)LEH36
HAZE-ZE—ME=A+=0H - RiL
REHA B RSB - Fra A BRE
FAEIRRENERMERFTE -

DREEBEEETEASARKR  AQ
AEER R A EHE 2 TmRE
(AR Es ) T A B EE R
@i o [t - ATRRESFRERMH
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For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE=-T—

25.

NEZF=+—HLFE

CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

The 2nd extended Maturity Date is considered to be a
substantial modification of terms of the Convertible Bond
as the discounted present value of the cash flows of the 2nd
extended Convertible Bond is more than 10% different from the
discounted present value of the cash flows of the outstanding
Convertible Bond prior to the extension of maturity date. As
such, the 1st extended Convertible Bond was derecognised
and the 2nd extended Convertible Bond was recognised.
The fair value of the 2 extended Convertible Bond as at 14
March 2014 amounting to approximately HK$200,000,000. An
extinguishment loss of approximately HK$211,000 has been
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March
2014,

On 25 January 2017, the Company entered into a third deed
of amendment with Ascent Goal (“3 extended Convertible
Bond”), to further extend the maturity date of the 2nd extended
Convertible Bond for 36 months and the conversion period
will accordingly be extended for 36 months from 13 March
2017 (date of extension) to 13 March 2020 (“3 extended
Maturity Date”). Apart from the extension of maturity date and
the conversion period, all terms of the convertible bond remain
unchanged from the original terms.

The 3rd extended Maturity Date is considered to be a
substantial modification of terms of the 2nd extended
Convertible Bond as the discounted present value of the cash
flows of the 3 extended Convertible Bond is more than 10%
different from the discounted present value of the outstanding
2nd extended Convertible Bond prior to the extension of
maturity date. As such, the 2nd extended Convertible Bond
was derecognised and the 34 extended Convertible Bond
was recognised. The fair value of the 3 extended Convertible
Bond as at 14 March 2017 amounting to approximately
HK$264,904,000. An extinguishment loss of approximately
HK$5,941,000 has been recognised in profit and loss during
the year ended 31 March 2017.

The 3rd extended Convertible Bond were valued by the
directors of the Company with reference to valuation reports
issued by independent qualified valuers not connected to the
Group.

25.

AR E S (E)
HRE R EREZ ZRER

ECMIBRERBE AL 2
AITFEABRESZE SRS
WRE10%A L - E R E A
WA A RIRESFKRZERER -
Eit - BEARIEHERE — IR EE R AR
BELERE R A B ES -
FoREHABMBESN T —NF
= A+ Az AFE# A200,000,000
BT BE_Z-—NE=A=+—H
IEFE - #)211,0008 0B EEEE R
B R -

R-F—tF—A-+HAB " K
HERITUFE=EIRZE(E
L%TW&E%D u%%—ut%

TR E % 2 B B & — T 8361
B MRS RE Y - T~ F=
A+=AGEHE ) EHEAE=
To24=A+=A(F=REHE
H9E 1) o RIEREI 8 B BRI -
i AT SR O AR U R 55
T o

AREZREHARBRESRSRE
ERNRRERBN AT 2 E =
/ALH:@TE@HXffﬁIEiMLEE HEIEIE
BE10% A b 85 = X HARIHA B 4%
BRAENBBRESERCERBR - B
I BRIEERE XTI R E
HUWHERE = INEH T RRES - &
SREHABRBRESFR T —tF =
B+ A 2 AFEH 5264,904,00078
TeHE—_TE—+FZAZ+—HIt
FE - 45,941,000 0B EBEER
BEPHER -

E=REMTRBESEADAEE
SERARBLEBE L BIAER
AR AT L 2 (SR AT -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

25. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

25. AARES (1E)

The movements of the 3 extended Convertible Bond for the

year are set out below:

FZIREHA MR ESRN T A2 EF)
]HAT

3rd extended Convertible Bond
FEZREHTRRES

2018 2017
A ==
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHT
As at 1 April 2017/14 March 2017 RZZT—tFMA—AR//
—E—+F=A+WmA 261,616 264,904
Fair value change credited to the REZFTAZ A TFHEZES)
profit or loss (14,374) (8,288)
(Gain)/Loss on translation of BRELINEEHEZ
31 extended Convertible Bond = IREE AT AR
denominated in a foreign currency BEHFRBNEEE
into the functional currency (Yezs) 518 (23,569) 6,209
Exchange adjustment arising on translation & INHaE EE 52 7]
of functional currency to presentation EEREATE
currency and recognised in other E b2 AFER
comprehensive income i Bk 23,569 (6,209)
As at 31 March R=RA=+—H 247,242 261,616
Analysed for reporting as: WENTRE -
Non-current liabilities IEREEE 247,242 261,616
Difference between carrying amount and IREEEDIE SR
maturity amount: ZER
31 extended Convertible Bond BEAFEAEZEZR
at fair value JEEART AR B 247,242 261,616
Amount payable on maturity BB FE(S £ 58 (200,000) (200,000)
47,242 61,616

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

25. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

26.

The movements of the 2nd extended Convertible Bond for the

year ended 31 March 2017 are set out below:

25. ARKRES (F)
FoRERTRBESRBRE T
— = A=+— AL FEZ EDH
ST :

2nd extended
Convertible Bond

As at 1 April 2016

Fair value change credited to the profit or loss

Loss on translation of 2nd extended Convertible
Bond denominated in a foreign currency
into the functional currency

Exchange adjustment arising on translation of
functional currency to presentation currency
and recognised in other comprehensive income

Derecognition on maturity on 13 March 2017

As at 13 March 2017 and 31 March 2017

None of the 2nd extended Convertible Bond or 34 extended
Convertible Bond had been converted into ordinary shares
of the Company during the years ended 31 March 2018 and

2017.

PROVISION FOR CLOSE DOWN, RESTORATION  26.

AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

5 RER
R ES
HK$’000
FAET
RZE—XRFMNA—A 317,650
RIBRFt AZ A FEE (58,687)
BMEAINESEZE IR
AR E S BIREE
ki 13,109
HMEREEB A2 BB
ELXTAEHEMZERATER
2 B AR (13,109
R_E—+tF=A+=H
EIERRF AR ETER (258,963)

R-ZE—+F=ZA+=BK
—E—+F=ZA=1+—H -

BE_ZTZ-)\Fh_ZE—tF=H
=t HIEFEAEE —RIEH AR
RBEFHHE =R R R E S &
B RARNN R E B o

B - BRRBRERAEE

HK$’000

FAET

As at 1 April 2016 RZZE—RFEMA—H 2,808

Accretion expense IEIGF 176

Exchange difference N =% (182)
As at 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R-ZE—+F=A=+—8EFK

—E—+FPHA—H 2,802

Exchange difference MEH =R 272

As at 31 March 2018 RZE—N\F=A=+—H 3,074
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

26. PROVISION FOR CLOSE DOWN, RESTORATION
AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS (continued)
Mining activities may result in land subsidence or damage,
which could lead to losses to the residents of the mining areas.
Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is required
to make compensation payments to the residents for their
losses resulting from land subsidence or damage, or to restore
the mining areas back to certain acceptable conditions.

Under existing legislation, the directors of the Company believe
that there are no probable liabilities that will have a material
adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations
of the Group. The PRC government, however, has moved
and may move further towards the adoption of more stringent
environmental standards. Environmental liabilities are subject
to considerable uncertainties which affect the Group’s ability
to estimate the ultimate cost of remediation efforts. These
uncertainties include: (i) the exact nature and extent of the
contamination at various sites including, but not limited to,
coal mines and land development areas, whether operating,
closed or sold, (ii) the extent of required cleanup efforts, (iii)
varying costs of alternative remediation strategies, (iv) changes
in environmental remediation requirements, and (v) the
identification of new remediation sites.

The provision for close down, restoration and environmental
clean up costs has been determined by the directors of the
Company based on their past experience and best estimate of
future expenditure by discounting the expected expenditures
to their net present value. However, in so far as the effect on
the land and the environment from current mining activities
becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the
associated costs may be subject to revision in the future. The
amounts provided in relation to close down, restoration and
environmental clean up costs are reviewed at least annually
based upon the facts and circumstances available at the time
and the provisions are updated accordingly.

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE

26. B EBRRERERAEE
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BT EERESR  AEEARE
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

27. DEFERRED TAX 27. ELERIE
The movement for the year in the Group’s deferred tax (assets)/ REFBNEERRIERB(EE) A
liabilities was as follows: SEEIT :
Intangible Accrued
assets Inventories  expenses Total
BEEE EE EER ko]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHIL FEL FAL FHEL
As at 1 April 2016 R-ZE— X "ENA—H 10,794 2,875 (7,114) 6,555
Exchange realignment bEE 5 FA (670) (240) 451 (459)
Charge/(Credit) to profit or loss R ERERNG, (G A)
for the year ©677) 2,498 - 1,821
As at 31 March 2017 and RZE—tF=A=1+—H
1 April 2017 M—Z—+&FMA—H 9,447 5,133 (6,663) 7,917
Exchange realignment PE 5% 704 216 (647) 273
Credit to profit or loss for the year 5t AFREZ (4,377) (5,753) - (10,130)
As at 31 March 2018 R-E-—N\E=A=+-H 5,774 (404) (7,310) (1,940)
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial ERE BN FRENR
position:
2018 2017
—2-N\F —TtF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised W& B EER Y
in the consolidated statement of EERIBEE,(AF)
financial position HRE 1,940 (7,917)

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is payable
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to the accumulated taxable profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$167,764,000
(2017: approximately HK$131,951,000) as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

RIBEFEPEMEHE  BZFEN
F—A—HRE #BRPBEMNBAFM
HEABRE 2 &M mE IR 2R S8UKTE
NH - WM P BB AR R ER
i T FE (L 2 BT B 2= RA4V167,764,000
BIL(ZF—+F : 49131,951,000%
T0) RS W IS R VR IR AT AR 18 B
& TYAARNE B AL HI B Bl B R =5
ZBH - BBEERERERARFR
TARATREREE] ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81§33k i s

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

28. OTHER CASHFLOW INFORMATION

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing

28. HitREREFEL
MAFDELNAKRESD

AEERAREEDOE ER B

activities are as follows: N
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z-N\F=ZA=+—HLFE
Convertible
bond
AgRESH
HK$’000
FBT
At beginning of the year REH] 261,616
Net cash flows ReEmEFHE -
Changes in fair value N EE (14,374)
Translation of convertible bond denominated BE INESHEZ AT R ES
in a foreign currency into functional currency BIgEE (23,569)
Exchange difference on translation of BRENREEREFNE, 2
functional currency to presentation currency ME W ERE 23,569
At end of the year RER 247,242
Convertible
Year ended 31 March 2017 bond
HE-_T—+F=-A=+—HILFE A[ARES
HK$’000
FiBT
At beginning of the year REH] 317,650
Net cash flows HEemEFHA -
Changes in fair value NEEEE) (61,975)
Loss arising from modification of convertible bond  {&5] AT AR (& H 2 4 2 518 5,941
Translation of convertible bond denominated ina & LASMNEEHE 2 Al AR E A
foreign currency into functional currency BINREEEE 19,318
Exchange difference on translation of functional BRENGEEE REFNEE 2
currency to presentation currency i AR (19,318)
At end of the year RER 261,616

NAN NAN RESOURCES ENTERPRISE LIMITED R & RS£ARAE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf i3k &R Mzt
For the year ended 31 March 2018
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BEALRS
a) Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated a) KBEASMBEHmEREMTOMIER
financial statements, the significant related party EHN ERBEALTRSNAT ¢
transactions are as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFEIT FAT

China Sonangol International Limited ZH R ARAR AR

(“China Sonangol”) (Note i) ([ZeHr R ) (B 5ED
- rental expenses (Note ii) — & (M) 840 795

i) China Sonangol is an intermediate holding company of the
Company.

ii) Operating lease commitment for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating lease with China
Sonangol was amounted to approximately HK$630,000
(2017: approximately HK$630,000).

b) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management personnel during the year was as follows:

) ZHEBRRERE 2PN ER

G

ii RIFEZ R BT 2 A
HCEHEE  RREMNRKRE
EREREHEREEY
630,000 T(ZZF—+F : 4
630,00087T) ©

b) IEEEAEHME

Basic salaries, allowances and other HAFH € 2K
short-term employee benefits HabroHiR B2 F|
Contributions to defined contribution plan  E 28 Z s 2|3

The remuneration of directors was determined by
the remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

FREENEMEIBEEERKE
ZHMm

2018 2017

—E—N\E —+F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FExT FHBT

4,527 3,912

56 69

4,583 3,981

EEHTNEFNEZES2RES

ZEARBRENGBERETE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

30. COMMITMENTS
(@) Capital expenditure commitment

30. 7&iE
(@) HEARMZRIE

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Contracted but not provided net of EEEEES T
deposit paid for acquisition of property, (FOBR UL EE M2
plant and equipment B REHEER 2
%2e) 1,389 -

(b) Commitment under operating lease
The Group as lessee
The Group leases certain of its offices, warehouse and
staff quarters under operating lease arrangements. Lease
for properties are negotiated for a term ranging from one
to two years and rental are fixed.

At the end of reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as

(b) SEEEXRE
AEBEAREA
S8 AR AT 4P 22 R
TETHAE ABREIR
& BEWE 2 ABEER RN
F—EEWMETES - AEEE -

R EEM SR - AEEIRIE
NAIEEE S S E MR AR K S
Z AR EFRAGER AT B

follows: EIE -
2018 2017
—E-NF S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —&FR 1,181 1,076
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EFERF
(BREERMF) 40 -
1,221 1,076
The Group as lessor AEEEAHBEAN

The Group leases out certain of its offices under
operating lease arrangements. Lease for properties are
negotiated for a term of one year and rental are fixed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

30. COMMITMENTS (continued)

31.

(b) Commitment under operating lease (continued)
The Group as lessor (continued)
At the end of reporting period, the Group had future
aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of its properties as follows:

30. &IE(E)

(b) REHEEREE)
AEEEAHBA G
RIS AR - AEBEE
MERBTAIRBELEHEENR
RIRWEZ SIEEELERMT

—FA

Within one year

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000 in total. Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The retirement scheme
contributions, which are based on a certain percentage of
the salaries of the PRC subsidiaries’ employees, are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year to which they are related
and represented the amount of contributions payable by these
subsidiaries to this scheme.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$1,006,000 (2017: approximately HK$995,000) represents
contributions payable to the schemes by the Group in respect
of the current financial year.

31.

2018 2017

SEsd = ¢

HK$’000 HK$'000

Tt T

130 -
ERHRETE

AEERERHEAESHENEN A
XEBERBEEEZXEEEE N
—IAFEREITCREIEATESTE ([958
TEestdl]) - afEestEl A —T8HmB
UZTEABRZ EREEFURKETE -
BiERELE  BEEREEESH
AL E SR AS%EEIERR - &
=& ARBWA S HA30,0008 7T °
STEIERRENRS RS o

RRABERBEKZZHBRRRTE
BT & 2 B &R RE R T &l 2
A8 o ARG B FUR B+ BIKTE 2
AEEZHEE TANLE IR
HRBERFEAERABEaEtE®E
Was R AR - BRI EHE QR
& T RAIRRT &) 2 R EHE -

RerEiBes M HE M2 mE WS RN
2 HERR AN #91,006,00008 0 (Z T —+
F 1 #9995,000/% 7T ) ¥5 A 5 B BL A B
BREERZETEIEN 2K -
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

32. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 32. ATEBE BB RE

POSITION
2018 2017
—B-N\F —TtF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BsE FEx FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME R MR E 105 173
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZILE 18 = -
105 173
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries e NG e 18 153,870 153,816
Other receivables H el sia 424 240
Cash and cash equivalents BeME+EEEE 154,620 163,918
308,914 317,974
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals Hit T IBE R EAER | 1,146 | | 1,203 |
(1,146) (1,208)
Net current assets REEEFE 307,768 316,771
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERRBEE 307,873 316,944
Capital and reserves NN
Share capital [N 24 76,537 76,537
Reserves ffEtE 24 (15,906) (21,209)
Total Equity R 60,631 55,328
Non-current liabilities FREBERE
Convertible bond designated as BEREATESR
financial liabilities at fair value WHBRARE
through profit or loss TRABEZAMRES 25 247,242 261,616
307,873 316,944

Approved and authorised for issue by board of directors on 20

June 2018 and signed on its behalf by

R-E—NEXNA-t+HBEEEeH
ERRERZ  WHATATRERE
E

Kwan Man Fai Wang Xiangfei
B AR
Director Director

EE EE
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33. POSSIBLE IMPACTS OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following amendments
and new standards which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2018 and relevant to the Group and which
have not been adopted in these consolidated financial

33. RBEZE-FT-—N\FE=A=+—

HIEFECEAEMRERZ
5] - M B RRRZBE
Ta
HERSHEAUBRENEZR - &
BEHMAGERGETIRBE=-Z
—NEFZA=+—BLFEHRER
R EAEBBE R 25 R] R TER -
3% 5 B M A % SR 6 BB R E

statements:

Annual Improvements

2014-2016 Cycle: HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

to HKFRSs

Amendments to Classification and Measurement of Share-based
HKFRS 2 Payment Transactions’

Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments?

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers!

HK(FRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance

Annual Improvements

Consideration’

2015-2017 Cycle?

to HKFRSs

HKFRS 16 |eases?

HK(FRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Amendments to Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures?
HKAS 28

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative
HKFRS 9 Compensation?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
HKFRS 10 and Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?
HKAS 28

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

i3S

ERPEHELER —T-NEE-T-RF
2 EENH B BRUMBRE
AR RBAG
2RI 285
ERPEHREER  ROAERINRZZ
FORZIERTR HERGE
BRMBRERED AR REEMEIR
B4 BRI PRI AEREEEK
WEERFARRBA
H—HER
BRUEMELS  SFTA
Fo%
BRIBEHRELS  REAOME
F155%
EE(BBRUERE IMNEXZFRBEARE
REBLEE)
—REE2R
BRUEHRELER —T-RFE-T—LF
ZEENE pEEE
ARMBREED S
£16%
B5(BBRRBRE SRR
2EZEY) RIge
—REF235%
SRR REENRARAEEY
F28ZIBFIA K&
BRMBREED  ABERMBEZENTE
XA HF e
ARMBREED  KBEEABEAFSA
F10RRBABEH SOoECZHCEEH

ERIFBRZIEFIA EHEAS

! R_Z—N\F—-A—BHZRRAIRZF

EEBRI AR

2 WoZB—NF-A—RBsz&MBzF

EHIRAER

3 The effective date to be determined

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general
hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial
assets.

S ERBEHRE

FREMBREENRIREMTR
BRPBWMELRNEORASREE -
TRAEIELAE  —RETEF

TEREREERMEZKSIAFRE °

Annual Report 2018 £

201



202

4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B/ % 3 7= Bff &

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

33. POSSIBLE IMPACTS OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group
are:

° All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and
that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that
are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) and contingent consideration in business
combination in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income recognised in profit or loss.

° With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS
9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of
the financial liability designated as fair value through profit
or loss is presented in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018
BZ-Z—-\F=A=1+—HILEE

33. POSSIBLE IMPACTS OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

o In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39.
The expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.

° The new general hedge accounting requirements retain
the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms
currently available in HKAS 39. Under HKFRS 9, greater
flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions
eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the
types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments
and the types of risk components of non-financial items
that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the
retrospective quantitative effectiveness test has been
removed. Enhanced disclosure requirements about
an entity’s risk management activities have also been
introduced.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of HKFRS 9 in the future may have an impact on amounts
reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets in relation to
the impairment assessment on receivables, with the potential
early recognition of credit losses based on the expected loss
model in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at
amortised costs. Other than that, the directors of the Company
do not anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future
will have any other significant impact on amounts reported in
respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
based on an analysis of the Group’s financial instruments as at
31 March 2018.
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33. POSSIBLE IMPACTS OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15
in relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.
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33. POSSIBLE IMPACTS OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures,
however, the directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on the
timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective
reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 Leases

As disclosed in Note 2(0) to the consolidated financial
statements, currently the Group classifies leases into finance
leases and operating leases and accounts for the lease
arrangements differently, depending on the classification of the
lease. The Group enters into some leases as the lessor and
others as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way
that lessors account for their rights and obligations under
a lease. However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will
no longer distinguish between finance leases and operating
leases. Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees will
account for all leases in a similar way to current finance lease
accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease
the lessee will recognise and measure a lease liability at the
present value of the minimum future lease payments and will
recognise a corresponding “right-of-use” asset. After initial
recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee will recognise
interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the
lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset,
instead of the current policy of recognising rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis over the
lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can elect not
to apply this accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where
the lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-value
assets, in which case the rental expenses would continue to
be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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33.

34.

POSSIBLE IMPACTS OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a
lessee of leases for properties, plant and equipment which are
currently classified as operating leases. The application of the
new accounting model is expected to lead to an increase in
both assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the
expense recognition in the statement of profit or loss over the
period of the lease. As disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 March 2018 the Group’s future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases amount to approximately HK$1,221,000 (2017:
approximately HK$1,076,000), the majority of which is payable
either between 1 to 2 years after the reporting date. Some of
these amounts may therefore need to be recognised as lease
liabilities, with corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS
16 is adopted. The Group will need to perform a more detailed
analysis to determine the amounts of new assets and liabilities
arising from operating lease commitments on adoption of
HKFRS 16, after taking into account the applicability of the
practical expedient and adjusting for any leases entered into or
terminated between now and the adoption of HKFRS 16 and
the effects of discounting.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In addition to the events disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
subsequent events:

The mining right of Kaiyuan Company was expired on 26
December 2017. Kaiyuan Company had commenced the
renewal application of the mining right in September 2017
at the Zhundong Economic and Technological Development
Zone Division of the Ministry of Land and Resources* (#7328 /&
HER T ZE 5 B) and in turn the Ministry of Land and
Resources of Changji Hui Autonomous Prefecture* (27 (Bl ik
JANE L EIRE).

On 28 May 2018, Kaiyuan Company has successfully
renewed the mining right and is granted a new mining permit
by the Department of Land and Resources of Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region* (¥sa#E & /R B /A& B - & JREE). The new
mining permit is valid for 1 year from 26 December 2017 to 31
December 2018 to conduct mining activities at the Kaiyuan
Mine.

*

English translation for identification purpose only.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY <
EFEHEEE

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z-—N\F=ZA=+—HLFE

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the ZANEBERBERFEAVREED AMLEE - &
Group for the last five financial years is set out below. ERABZHBEHINAT -

RESULTS E 3

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—-HILEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
=PI T+ F T F —T-hF —TNF
GLEOION  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TER FET THET TET FET

REVENUE Wi 182,445 73,024 59,841 124,463 123,100
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS A 35,509 13,053 19,209 44,709 1,599
Exchange gain/(1oss), net B e (B51E)F8 8,866 (11,490) (7,101) 741 (197)
Finance costs BE XA = (176) (187) - -
Change in fair value and BT ABZATEYIR

loss arising from modification WHEBRANEEZ

of convertible bond designated SR A E 2 TR
as financial liabilities at fair value &% AT EEEH K

through profit or loss BRI RESES
EEZ R 14,374 56,034 (73,449) (38,970) (15,373)
Change in fair value of structured ~ ## 1 FE2
deposit NFEZE) - - - 656 -
Impairment loss on property, ME  BEK
plant and equipment HEREEE (3,511) - (3,105) - -
Impairment loss on intangible SR EERERE
asset (12,618) - (8,907) - -
Profit/(Loss) before tax BRIANEF (BE) 42,620 57,421 (73,540) 7,136 (13,971)
Income tax expense/(credit) FieBiAs/ (Ee) (5,942) (9,154) (6,068) (12,655) 515
Profit/(Loss) for the year FREH, (EE) 36,678 48,267 (79,608) (5,519) (13,456)
Attributable to: AR AT RELG
Owners of the Company ERFHEAA 50,349 42,480 (85,924) (5,342) (10,221)
50,349 42480  (85924) (5,342)  (10,221)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY L FHEHE

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BE-Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENREE
As at 31 March
W=RA=+-R
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
mt G T+ F —TRF —FT-0F —T-NOF
LGOI HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FHET FHET T FET FHET
Total assets MEE 493,720 448504 456,185 475242 433,948
Total liabilities BaE (328,004) (333,137) (383,298)  (316,431)  (269,795)
Net assets BEFE 165,716 115,367 72,887 158,811 164,153
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